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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Financial Highlights
MG HEE

Year 2022 Year 2021 Changes
-k -5 ZEZ-F BALLEH
RMB’000 RMB’000
NEEFT ANEEFT
Contracted sales amount BNHER 14,267,700 27,925,100 -48.9%
Revenue WA 9,250,499 4,968,682 86.2%
Profit for the Year FRFE 21,418 38,526 -44.4%
Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company ARE R mHE AEGET 186,734 73,132 155.3%
The basic earnings per share (RMB Cents) SREAERHN (ARESD) 3.3 13
Total Cash’ wEg 6,633,387 7,895,697 -16.0%
Total Assets BEE 59,096,852 57,240,309 3.2%
Total Equity (Net Assets) arEm (FEE) 12,333,164 11,930,084 3.4%
Debt to Asset Ratio BELE 79.1% 79.2%
Net Gearing Ratio? FREX 65.8% 76.3%
Cash to Short-term Debt Ratio? by kv 1.20 2.18
Debt to Asset Ratio after Advance Receivables’ IR FEITME & & ER 65.2% 66.9%
Current Ratio (Times) TRENLE (18) 1.25 1.41

i Total Cash = cash and cash equivalents + restricted cash

4 Net Gearing Ratio = (interest-bearing liabilities — total cash)/total equity
= Cash to short-term debt ratio = total cash/short-term borrowings

& Debt to Asset Ratio after Advance Receivables = (total liabilities —

advance receivables)/(total assets — advance receivables)

! BRE=-[eRRTFEY+ZRFERE

2 FEEX=- AREAEERRS) BT
s REWEL=ERE EHPER
4 FRBRRENEERER=- BEE-E

AR (EE E-TAWART)
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Chairman’s Statement

EFEHRS

Shi Zhongan, Chairman
FFE MAL

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of Zhong An Group Limited (‘Zhong An” or the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”), | am pleased to present the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 (“2022").

REVIEW OF RESULTS

The audited consolidated revenue in 2022 was about RMB9,250.5 million,
representing an increase of approximately 86.2% from that of 2021. The
gross profit in 2022 was about RMB2,470.9 million, representing an
increase of approximately 67.4% from that of 2021. The profit attributable
to owners of the parent company in 2022 was about RMB186.7 million,
representing an increase of approximately 155.4% from that of 2021. The
basic earnings per share was RMB3.3 cents (2021: RMB1.3 cents). The
board (the “Board”) of directors of the Company did not propose to declare
a final dividend for the year 2022 (2021: Nil).

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

MARKET AND BUSINESS REVIEW

In the past year, China’s economy remained generally stable and achieved
positive economic growth when facing the challenge of an increasingly
complex and severe international situation, the resurgence of domestic
epidemics and other multiple unexpected factors. With the gradual
relaxation of pandemic-control measures, household consumption
demand was gradually released, investment demand grew steadily and the
economy continued to recover steadily. Under the guidance of the general
keynote of “housing is for accommodation, not for speculation”, the macro-
control policies of the real estate market continued to be adjusted and
optimised, and the city-specific policies and procedures were enhanced.
A number of important policies have been implemented, providing varying
degrees of support from the demand side to the supply side. The “three
arrows” landed one after another on the real estate sector, supporting
private enterprises to broaden their financing channels from the three main
financing channels of bonds issuance, bank credit, and equity financing,
which significantly boosted market confidence.

In the face of changing market conditions, the Group has worked together
to overcome difficulties. While maintaining economies of scale, the Group
has been making every effort to ensure the delivery of housing projects. The
timely and high quality delivery of a number of projects, including Nan Hu
Ming Yue and Lotus Mansion, has been well received by consumers and
won high praise. In the past year, the Group had a total of 62 projects on
sale in several cities and regions within the Yangtze River Delta, maintaining
a steady growth in contracted sales while fulfilling the goal of cash
collection ahead the schedule. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group recorded contracted sales of approximately RMB14,267.7 million,
the contracted sales area was approximately 750,710 sg.m., and the
contracted average selling price was approximately RMB19,006 per sg.m..

EFRHRE (@)

T 4% Fz 5 %5 [0l B
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RSN B RG> 2 HEA
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fBie
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

EFFEHS (@)

In addition to steady development, the Group has been striving to improve
the quality of its services on all fronts, striving for quality development. A
number of series of products, including the Garden Series and the Mansion
Series, won a number of architectural awards during the Year. While
continuously polishing and improving the quality of our products, the Group
has been actively building a “Full-lifecycle Service System”, insisting on
market demand as the guide and customer satisfaction as the focus, and
striving to fully listen to the voices of our customers. From “building houses”
to “building lifestyles”, communities such as the Boudoir Family, the Season
of Enjoyment and the Creation Camp have been established, allowing
more customers to experience the value of Zhong An’s services. According
to an authoritative release by the CMI Institute, Zhong An Group’s overall
satisfaction rating and overall loyalty rating in 2022 are well above the
industry average.

In terms of finance, the Group continued to maintain the three red lines in
“green” level and to keep financing cost at a low level, with stable overall
operation. With solid financial data, the Company continued to rank as one
of the “Top 10 Financial Stability for Listed Real Estate Companies in Hong
Kong” and has been awarded the “Top 10 Investment Value for Listed Real
Estate Companies in Hong Kong” for its strong development potential.

Under the brand philosophy of “Enjoying a Better Life”, the Group is
committed to sustainable development and socially beneficial businesses.
On the one hand, we are leading the development of ecological buildings,
and involved in commercial and service industries to create a healthy
and beautiful life. On the other hand, we contribute to society by actively
engaging in public welfare projects such as education, helping the disabled,
recreation and disaster relief. At the 2022 ESG Sustainability Summit
(EHJ), the Group was awarded a “BB” rating for its environmental, social
and governance value creation. The award underscores the industry’s
recognition of Zhong An’s growing overall corporate strength, growing
brand influence and deep commitment to the ESG sector.

In addition to its commitment to residential development, China New
City Commercial Development Limited (“China New City”), a subsidiary
of the Company which listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, together with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as “China
New City Group’, uses its professional team to drive the development of
its commercial, investment property and hospitality businesses to create
value-creating urban complexes in the city. In the past year, China New
City actively integrated internal and external resources, expanded and
developed various industry sectors, and initiated strategic cooperation with
a number of well-known enterprises to accelerate urban regeneration and
empower high-quality regional economic and social development.

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

In respect of commercial operation, the normal operation and patronage
of merchants have been affected to varying degrees due to unfavourable
factors such as the recurrence of the epidemic. The management of the
commercial group actively adopted measures such as “reducing costs and
increasing efficiency” to adjust the operating structure and optimise the
business model. At the same time, we are building up our strength and
cultivating our internal strength to enhance the branding of our merchants,
and are actively making our voices heard in the industry to increase our
brand influence. Xiaoshan Zhong An Plaza is set to debut before the end of
the year, establishing its market positioning as the first trendy cultural and
entertainment centre. The new opening of Zhong'anli Jiarun Mansion (3% %
E 5= H/ARE) has been recognised by the industry for a series of initiatives
and has won a series of accolades such as the “Top 10 Enterprises in
Commercial Property Operation in China 2022”.

In respect of hotel operations, although it was affected by unfavourable
factors such as epidemic control and reduced consumer desire to travel
during the Year, the management of the hotel group changed its mindset
and proactively developed an “One Core and Two Wings” strategic
plan. Through the creation of themed restaurant brands, we focused on
improving our restaurant operations and exceeded our revenue and other
targets. It has been highly recognised by the industry and has received
a series of high honours in the industry, including the “Jinding-level
characteristic cultural theme hotel” award for special cultural theme hotels.

FEHRS (B)
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRSE ()

In terms of property management, Zhong An Intelligent Living Service
Limited (“Zhong An Intelligent Living”) adheres to the tenet of “pursuing
excellent quality and creating a happy life”, and further improves its
comprehensive capabilities in various aspects to become bigger and
stronger. More than 30 new projects were signed during the Year, mainly
from independent third parties and covering a wide range of sectors
including residential, government buildings, flats, hospitals and museums.
The number of expansion, area and revenue have all increased significantly.
The scale of community value-added business maintained steady growth,
and continued to be honored as one of the “Top 100 Property Service
Enterprises in China”.

REVIEWING THE MARKET CONDITIONS AND
ACTIVELY REPLENISHING THE HIGH QUALITY
LAND BANK

In terms of land bank, the Group has continued the market cultivation
strategy in the Yangtze River Delta region with a precise deployment and
insisted on a land acquisition strategy with urban development value as
the core, which ensures the stable development of the Company. In the
past year, the Group successfully bid for seven plots of land in Xihu District,
Yuhang District and Xiaoshan District of Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province and
Lishui, Zhejiang Province by way of tender and auction, with a total gross
floor area of approximately 524,000 sq.m. and an estimated development
value of RMB10.5 billion. The acquisition of the new land parcels
demonstrates the Group’s determination and confidence in deepening its
roots in the Yangtze River Delta, and also strengthens the foundation for the
Group’s deep strategic deployment and performance enhancement in its
home base in Hangzhou.

In the future, the Group will continue to extensively develop in the delta
economic region and pursue a prudent strategy of land acquisition.
While maintaining a sound financial position, the Group will make timely
purchases of quality and lower-cost land that meet market demand and
optimise its reserve structure. With the business philosophy of “steady
management and accumulation of resources”, the Group will take practical
actions to participate in the urban development process with an investment
rhythm that suits our policies and ourselves. We will be a promoter of urban
evolution and live in harmony with urban development and construction.

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

As of 31 December 2022, the total gross floor area of the land bank of
the Group was approximately 10.11 million sg.m., mainly located in many
different cities and regions in the Yangtze River Delta, which is expected to
support the development for the next 5 years at an average cost of land
premium of approximately RMB3,116 per sg.m. only.

OUTLOOK AND DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

Looking forward to the year 2023, with the gradual optimisation of the
Chinese government’s anti-epidemic policies and the introduction of
favourable economic policies, China’s economic growth will gradually
accelerate. The relatively high savings rate of the population will support
the growth of consumption in the post-epidemic era. The real estate sector
is a pillar industry of the national economy. Under the general keynote
of “housing is for accommodation, not for speculation”, the policy is
expected to be further strengthened and the financing channels for real
estate enterprises are expected to be further opened up. Under the loose
monetary and fiscal policies, the real estate market will further stabilise
and recover. Although the external environment has become tougher
and more uncertain, China’s economy is resilient and has great potential,
and “the trend of sustained economic recovery will not change” and the
fundamentals of long-term improvement will also be unchanged.

As one of the most economically active, open and innovative regions
in China, the Yangtze River Delta region’s market resilience is expected
to be further highlighted. The Yangtze River Delta market is expected
to be the first to stabilise and recover following policy optimisation and
an improvement in the epidemic situation, and the hosting of the 2023
Asian Games will further boost Hangzhou's overall economic and social
development, as well as the common progress of other cities in Zhejiang
Province. The Group will continue to adhere to the strategic layout of
“rooting in Zhejiang and deeply cultivating in the Yangtze River Delta”,
and make full use of innovative ideas and its brand advantages to seize
opportunities and develop steadily.

EFRHRE (@)
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

EFFEHS (@)

Shaoxing ¢ Tong Song He Ming
A e RIFFNS

The Group will adhere to the brand concept of “Enjoying a Better Life”,
combine with Zhong An’s brand strengths and build a full-scale layout
around “real estate +”. On the one hand, it adheres to the workmanship
standard of “excellent quality of Hangzhou workmanship” to create high-
quality living quarters; on the other hand, it deepens the layout of multiple
industries such as commerce, service, hotel, flm and television, education,
cultural tourism, and finance. We are committed to becoming an integrated
service provider that mests people’s needs for a better life by gradually
turning their ideas of a better life into real life scenarios. We also focus on
the “Healthy China” strategy, continue to pay attention to the ageing of
society, and continue to promote medical care and health management for
the elderly. We are committed to improving people’s well-being and quality
of life.

The year 2023 will not only be a year of inheritance, but also an inaugural
year for the full implementation of the spirit of the 20th National Congress,
as well as a year of recovery and hope. Based on its unique business
structure, the Group will, under the premise of sound operation, adopt a
diversified development orientation and actively adopt a business model
of industry integration and joint enhancement to form an upstream and
downstream industrial chain among various industries to jointly mitigate
market risks. In this era of high winds and perilous waves, we will grasp the
pulse of the times, follow the trend, ride on the momentum, and strive to
create another great success for Zhong An!

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year (Dividend for 2021: Nil).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to the
support and trust of our shareholders and business partners as well as the
dedicated efforts of all our employees.

Shi Zhongan
Chairman

The People’s Republic of China, 24 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B REDSR

RESULTS

The consolidated revenue of the Group for 2022 was RMB9,250.5 million,
representing an increase of about 86.2% from that of 2021. The gross
profit for 2022 was RMB2,470.9 million, representing an increase of about
67.4% from that of 2021. The profit attributable to owners of the parent
for 2022 was about RMB186.7 million, representing an increase of about
155.4% from that of 2021. The basic earnings per share was RMB3.3
cents (2021: RMB1.3 cents).

INDUSTRY REVIEW

According to the National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC, in 2022, the
gross domestic product (“GDP”) of China amounted to RMB121,020.7
billion, representing an increase of 3.0% as compared with that of previous
year, based on constant prices. In the face of the stormy international
environment and the arduous and arduous task of domestic reform,
development and stability, China has effectively coordinated epidemic
prevention and control and economic and social development, effectively
responded to the impact of unexpected factors, made new achievements
in high-quality development, and the overall economic and social situation
maintained stable.

In 2022, the nationwide investment in property development amounted
to RMB13,289.5 billion, representing a decline of 10.0% as compared
with that of last year. Among which, residential investment amounted to
RMB10,064.6 billion, representing a decline of 9.5%. In 2022, the gross
floor area (“GFA”) of commodity properties sold was 1,358.37 million
sg.m., representing a decline of 24.3% as compared with that of last year.
Among which, the decline of GFA of residential properties sold was 26.8%,
while the decline of GFA of office buildings sold was 3.3%, and the decline
of GFA of commercial business properties sold was 8.9%. The sales of
commodity properties amounted to RMB13,3330.8 billion, representing
a decline of 26.7%. Among which, the decline of sales of residential
properties was 28.3%, while the decline of sales of office buildings and
commercial business properties were 3.7% and 16.1% respectively.

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In 2022, the land area purchased by property development enterprises
was 100.52 million sg.m., representing a decline of 53.4% as compared
with that of last year; the premium of the land transaction amounted to
RMB916.6 billion, representing a decline of 48.4% as compared with
that of last year. The area under construction by property development
enterprises was 9,049.99 million sg.m., representing a decline of 7.2% as
compared with that of last year. Among which, the area under construction
for residential properties was 6,396.96 million sg.m., representing a decline
of 7.3%. The area of newly commenced properties was 1,205.87 million
sg.m., representing a decline of 39.4%. Among which, the area of newly
commenced residential properties was 881.35 million sg.m., representing
a decline of 39.8%. The completed construction area of properties was
862.22 million sg.m., representing a decline of 15.0%. Among which,
the completed construction area of residential properties was 625.39
million sqg.m., representing a decline of 14.3%. At the end of 2022, the
area of commodity properties pending for sale was 563.66 million sg.m.,
representing an increase of 10.5% as compared with that of last year.
Among which, the area of residential properties pending for sale increased
by 18.4%, the area of office buildings pending for sale increased by 7.3%
and the area of commercial business properties pending for sale decreased
by 1.6%.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The recognised revenue of properties delivered by the Group in 2022
was about RMB8,519.3 million (2021: RMB4,278.0 million), representing
an increase of about 99.1% as compared to that of 2021, which
was mainly due to the GFA of properties sold and delivered by the
Group in 2022, being about 365,773 sqg.m. (2021: 227,597 sqg.m.),
representing an increase of about 60.7% as compared to that of 2021,
and a corresponding increase in the amount that can be included in the
recognized revenue of 2022.

The recognised average selling price per sq.m. achieved by the Group in
2022 was about RMB23,291.2, representing an increase of about 23.9%
from RMB18,796.4 in the previous year. It is due to the increase in the
portion of sales of properties with higher selling prices in the year under
review.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEESWED R (8)

During the year under review, the total recognised GFA sold for the major REBEFE AEEFZEENCHERHE
projects of the Group and the respective recognised revenue are as follows: HRNMEERIHEEWAWT

% of interest
attributable

Recognised Recognised to the Group

GFA sold amount ERE G

Projects City B 28 ZIEB RS

HE & HEER HEWA MBS
sq.m. RMB million

FAEKRK  AREEET

Zhejiang

AL
Hidden Dragon Bay Hangzhou 5,299 56.5 61.1%
[y b LN
International Office Centre (IOC)A3 Hangzhou 327 7.3 66.0%
B B3 A HRDAS FUM
White Horse Manor Hangzhou 540 14.5 90.0%
B &L LN
|deal Bay Hangzhou S 2.8 45.9%
IEA8 & LN
Xixi Manhattan Hangzhou 5,503 58.0 59.4%
FAREMIR LN
College Square Hangzhou 129 6.8 90.0%
S2EE LN
Xixi Future Square Hangzhou Y45 18.6 90.0%
FRRERKE LN
Nan Hu Ming Yue Hangzhou 225,350 5,372.9 59.9%
2Rl Eb=! LN
Xiaoshan Lotus Mansion Hangzhou 76,108 2,386.3 90.0%
LR LN
Jade Mansion Yuyao 433 17.5 93.0%
SR EE BN
Zhong An Times Square Phase |I Yuyao 1,034 7.4 61.4%
ReRAES BN
Cixi Landscape Garden Cixi 262 2.4 90.0%
R LIKEE BEZ
Cixi New City Cixi 1,277 8.2 59.4%
FESis ) BEZ
Typha Lotus Garden Yiwu 3,173 52.0 58.5%
ST E50 5
Comphor Tree Bay Lishui 358 15.6 90.0%
ERE BBk
Ruyi Mansion Zhoushsan 29,857 355.0 90.0%
WMEF A
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEmESHT (B)

% of interest
attributable

Recognised Recognised to the Group
GFA sold amount EEEL
Projects City B 2 ZIBE#Em
]S & HEER HEWA HBE 2L
sqg.m. RMB million
FrR  AEREEET
Anhui
Z8
Vancouver City Huaibei 5,963 60.7 100.0%
B ETEE D
Shandong
TS
Qingdao New City Qingdao 9,585 76.8 100.0%
=L 55
365,773 8,519.3

The average cost of properties sold per sq.m. of the Group was about
RMB17,156.8 in 2022, representing an increase of about 30.6% from
RMB13,138.1 in the previous year. It was due to the higher development

cost of relevant projects recognised for sale during the year.

Progress of development on the major projects
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
Lotus Mansion (Xiaoshan)

It is located in comprehensive transportation hub of South Railway Station,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou. It consists of high-rise, small high-rise and
multi-storey buildings with a total floor area of approximately 45,333 sg.m.,
and a total GFA of approximately 99,732 sg.m., and is for residential use.
The project commenced construction in the third quarter of 2020 and
started the pre-sale in the fourth quarter of 2020. It was completed in

20228  AEBFHEFHRKYEHEER
B ARIE17156.8T B EEEZ AR
#13,138.170 L5k 4930.6% » JSEER A EE

SR ERERITE R R ARSI

TEREERER
AT ETME
TIRRF (1LY

2022. The volume of sales of the project during the year under review was FE

within expectation. So far, it is sold out apart from some car parking lots
and a few housings.

ALATUN T L@ N E 4R & R B R4l
HEE -/ \BBKRZEBHAMN  RhEEL
#45,333F 5 K 0 4B IR EE AL 599,732
FAR EEERGE ZBENR20200E5=F
BRI > Wi2020FENEEMETAE &
2022F ERIB T - ROIEFE  ZEBEBHE
- BEBA FBLBEURLVER
BN BEEARER

UEA=T [ — e
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEESWED R (8)

Shunyuan Mansion

It is located in the Yinhu plot of Fuyang District, Hangzhou, It consists of
high-rise, small high-rise and shops with a total floor area of approximately
54,493 sg.m. and a total GFA of approximately 130,783 sg.m., and is for
residential use. The project commenced construction in the third quarter
of 2020 and started the pre-sale in the third quarter of 2020. It is expected
to be completed in 20283. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the
year under review was within expectation.

Fashion Color City

It is located in Xinjie Village, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, It consists
of hardcover loft apartments, large flat floor apartments and shops,
with a total floor area of approximately 26,087 sg.m. and a total GFA
of approximately 78,261 sg.m., and is for commercial use. The project
commenced construction in the third quarter of 2020 and started the pre-
sale in the fourth quarter of 2020. It is expected to be completed in 2023.
The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review was
within expectation.

Cloud Land

It is located in Yuhang District, Hangzhou City of Future Science and
Technology, It consists of multi-storey buildings, with a total floor area
of approximately 46,737 sg.m. and a total GFA of approximately 74,779
sg.m., and is for residential use. The project was commenced construction
in the first quarter of 2021 and started the pre-sale in the third quarter of
2021. It is expected to be completed in 2023. The volume of pre-sales of
the project during the year under review was within expectation. So far, it is
sold out apart from some car parking lots and a few housings.

Hangzhou e Cloud Land
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

International Office Centre (I0C)

IOC is a large-scale integrated commercial complex located in Qianjiang
Century City (8T tH423), Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, comprising
serviced apartments, shopping malls and offices. The total site area of
Plot A is 92,610 sg.m. and planned total GFA is 798,795 sg.m. The
project is constructed in three phases, consists of Plots A1, A2 and A3.
Among which, Plot A3 was completed in 2015, comprising serviced
apartments, shops and underground car parking spaces with a total GFA
of approximately 327,996 sq.m. So far, Plot A3 is sold out apart from
some car parking lots and a few housings. The construction of Plot A2 has
commenced in 2019 with a total GFA of approximately 263,555 sg.m. The
project started the pre-sales in the third quarter of 2020, and is expected to
be completed in 2023. The volume of pre-sales of Plot A2 during the year
under review was within expectation.

\Nan Hu Ming Yue

It is located in Yuhang District, Hangzhou and consists of high-rise blocks,
courtyard and commercial areas with a total GFA of approximately 406,664
sg.m. The project commenced construction in April 2019 and started the
pre-sale in the third quarter of 2019. The part of courtyard of the project
was completed by the end of 2021, and the part of high-rise blocks was
completed in 2022. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year
under review was within expectation.

Ruiyuan Mansion

It is located in Yinhu Street, Fuyang District, Hangzhou, and consists of
high-rise buildings, large flat floors and shops, with a total floor area of
approximately 39,480 sg.m., and a total GFA of approximately 94,752
sg.m., and is for residential use. The project commenced construction in
the third quarter of 2021 and started the pre-sale in the fourth quarter of
2021. It is expected to be completed in 2023. The volume of pre-sales of
the project during the year under review was within expectation.

Lotus Mansion (Chun’an)

It is located in the Pearl Peninsula plot, Chun ‘an County, Hangzhou,
and consists of high-rise buildings, and villas, with a total floor area of
approximately 22,417 sg.m., and a total GFA of approximately 48,870
sg.m., and is for residential use. The project commenced construction in
the third quarter of 2021 and started the pre-sale in the fourth quarter of
2021. It is expected to be completed in 2023. The volume of pre-sales of
the project during the year under review was within expectation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEESWED R (8)

Long Ying Hui Jin Zuo (Bin He Yin)

It is located in Beigan Technology Innovation Park, Xiaoshan District,
Hangzhou, and consists of large flat floors and shops, with a total floor area
of approximately 12,819 sg.m., and a total GFA of approximately 44,867
sg.m., and is for commercial use. The project commenced construction in
the fourth quarter of 2021 and started the pre-sale in the third quarter of
2022 and is expected to be completed in 2024. The volume of pre-sales of
the project during the year under review was within expectation.

Chuyue Mansion

It is located in Shushan Unit, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, and consists of
high-rise buildings, with a total floor area of approximately 18,641 sg.m.,
and a total GFA of approximately 41,010 sg.m., and is for residential use.
The project commenced construction in the second quarter of 2022 and
started the pre-sale in the fourth quarter of 2022 and is expected to be
completed in 2024. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year
under review was within expectation.

Zecui Ju

It is located in Daicun Unit, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, and consists of
high-rise buildings, with a total floor area of approximately 39,973 sqg.m.,
and a total GFA of approximately 71,951 sg.m., and is for residential use.
The project commenced construction in the second quarter of 2022 and
started the pre-sale in the fourth quarter of 2022 and is expected to be
completed in 2024. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year
under review was within expectation.

Lan Lotus Mansion

It is located in Shandun Unit, Xihu District, Hangzhou, and consists of high-
rise buildings, with a total floor area of approximately 19,802 sg.m., and
a total GFA of approximately 43,564 sq.m., and is for residential use. The
project commenced construction in the third quarter of 2022 and started
the pre-sale in the fourth quarter of 2022 and is expected to be completed
in 2024. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under
review was within expectation.

Zhangyuan Mansion

It is located in Dangwan Unit, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, and consists
of high-rise buildings and shops, with a total floor area of approximately
24,270 sqg.m., and a total GFA of approximately 60,675 sg.m., and is for
residential use. The project commenced construction in the third quarter of
2022 and started the pre-sale in the fourth quarter of 2022 and is expected
to be completed in 2024. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the
year under review was within expectation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Ningbo, Zhejiang Province
Cixi Zhong An Landscape Gard\Cixi New City

This is a residential property project in Cixi, Zhejiang Province. The total
site area is about 197,655 sg.m. The residential project includes the
commercial portion for providing supporting services to local residents, with
a total GFA of about 510,125 sg.m., consisting of multi-storey apartments
which is constructed in six phases. So far, the residential part is sold out
apart from some car parking lots and a few housings. Commercial Phase
1, with a total GFA of about 28,158 sg.m., commenced construction in
July 2019, started the pre-sale in the third quarter of 2020, and completed
in 2021. Commercial Phase Il, with a total GFA of about 72,000 sg.m.,
commenced construction in the second quarter of 2021, and is expected
to be completed in 20283. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the
year under review was within expectation.

Chaoyue Mansion

It is located at the south site of Dagi Songhuajiang Road station in Beilun
District, Ningbo, and consists of small high-rise buildings, with a total floor
area of approximately 17,393 sg.m., and a total GFA of approximately
31,307 sg.m., and is for residential use. The project commenced
construction in the third quarter of 2021 and started the pre-sale in the
fourth quarter of 2021. It is expected to be completed in 2023. The
volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review was within
expectation.
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Yiwu, Zhejiang Province
Xiuhu Lotus Garden

It is located in the West Plot of Hutang, Yiwu, Zhejiang Province. It is mainly
composed of courtyards, with a total floor area of approximately 49,428
sg.m., and a total GFA of approximately 52,214 sg.m., and is for residential
use. The project commenced construction in the first quarter of 2021
and started the pre-sale in the third quarter of 2021. It is expected to be
completed in 2023. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year
under review was within expectation.

Lakeside Mansion

It is located in Beiyuan Street, Yiwu, Zhejiang Province. It is mainly
composed of houses, villas, flat floors and shops, with a total floor area
of approximately 20,411 sg.m., and a total GFA of approximately 32,658
sg.m., and is for residential use. The project commenced construction in
the fourth quarter of 2021 and started the pre-sale in the second quarter of
2022, and is expected to be completed in 2023. The volume of pre-sales of
the project during the year under review was within expectation.

Wenzhou, Zhejiang Province
Shunyuan Mansion

It is located in the core area of Wenzhou. It consists of finely decorated
high-rise buildings, with a total floor area of approximately 30,236 sqg.m.
and a total GFA of approximately 84,963 sqg.m., and is for residential use.
The project commenced construction in the second quarter of 2020,
and started the pre-sale in the third quarter of 2020. It is expected to be
completed in 2023. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year
under review was within expectation.

Future Center (Da Guan Ming Zhu)

It is located in Longgang Future Community, Wenzhou. It consists of
high-rise buildings and shops, with a total floor area of approximately
69,369 sg.m. and a total GFA of approximately 168,141 sg.m., and is
for residential use. The project commenced construction in the fourth
quarter of 2021, and started the pre-sale in the fourth quarter of 2021. It is
expected to be completed in 2024. The volume of pre-sales of the project
during the year under review was within expectation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Shaoxing, Zhejiang Province
Guyue Mansion

It is located in the west of the main urban area of Shaoxing, and is
composed of courtyards and shops, with a total floor area of approximately
43,412 sg.m. and a total GFA of approximately 52,528 sq.m., and is for
residential use. The project commenced construction in the third quarter
of 2020, and started the pre-sale in the first quarter of 2021. It is expected
to be completed in 20283. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the
year under review was within expectation.

Future City (Fuyuan Mansion)

It is located in Fuquan Future Community, Kegiao District, Shaoxing, and is
composed of talent housings, offices and shops. The project also includes
the construction of repurchase housings. The project covers a total floor
area of approximately 78,484 sg.m. and a total GFA of approximately
211,907 sqg.m., and is for residential use. The project commenced
construction in the fourth quarter of 2021, started the pre-sale in the
third quarter of 2023, and is expected to be completed in 2025. The
volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review was within
expectation.
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Zhoushan, Zhejiang Province
Ruyi Mansion

It is located in Putuo District, Zhoushan, and is composed of small high-
rise buildings and shops, with a total floor area of approximately 22,484
sg.m. and a total GFA of approximately 44,968 sg.m., and is for residential
use. The project commenced construction in the third quarter of 2020,
and started the pre-sale in the fourth quarter of 2020. It was completed in
2022. The volume of sales of the project during the year under review was
within expectation. So far, it is sold out apart from some car parking lots
and a few housings.

Taizhou, Zhejiang Province
Heyuan Mansion

It is located in the Evergrande East Plot of Hongjia Street, Jiaojiang District,
Taizhou, and is composed of high-rise and small high-rise buildings,
with a total floor area of approximately 39,742 sgq.m. and a total GFA
of approximately 86,838 sg.m., and is for residential use. The project
commenced construction in the fourth quarter of 2020, and started the
pre-sale in the fourth quarter of 2020. It is expected to be completed in
20283. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review
was within expectation.

Future City (Spring Breeze)

It is located in Taizhou High-tech Zone, and is composed of high-rise
buildings, with a total floor area of approximately 122,354 sgq.m. and a total
GFA of approximately 283,088 sg.m., and is for residential use. The project
commenced construction in the fourth quarter of 2020, and started the
pre-sale in the second quarter of 2021. It is expected to be completed in
20283. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review
was within expectation.

Quzhou, Zhejiang Province
Cloud Chen Square

It is located in the Quzhou High-speed railway station area, and is
composed of high-rise buildings, floor stores and supermarkets, with a total
floor area of approximately 72,774 sq.m. and a total GFA of approximately
106,250 sqg.m., and is for residential use. The project commenced
construction in the second quarter of 2021, and started the pre-sale in
the third quarter of 2021. It is expected to be completed in 2023. The
volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review was within
expectation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Huaibei, Anhui Province
Vancouver City

This is a low-density residential project in Huaibei, Anhui Province, which
includes townhouses, multi-storey apartments and shopping units. The
project is developed in phases, and its sale and pre-sale during the year
under review were within expectation. The Huaibei Bright Hotel G518
H4%58E) , with a GFA of about 67,061 sg.m., was put into business in
September 2017. The GFA of Phase V south project Jinyuan Mansion is
approximately 100,000 sg.m., and the project commenced construction in
the third quarter of 2021, started the pre-sale in the third quarter of 2021,
and is expected to be completed in 2023. The GFA of project Xiangyuan
Mansion is approximately 90,000 sg.m., and the project commenced
construction in the fourth quarter of 2022, and is expected to be
completed in 2024. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year
under review was within expectation.

Nanjing, Jiangsu Province
Future Mansion

It is located in Gaochun District Development Zone, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, and is composed of high-rise and small high-rise buildings,
with a total floor area of approximately 67,085 sgq.m. and a total GFA
of approximately 154,297 sg.m., and is for residential use. The project
commenced construction in the third quarter of 2020, and started the pre-
sale in the third quarter of 2021. It is expected to be completed in 2023.
The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review was
within expectation.

Wuxi, Jiangsu Province
Future Mansion (Shun Yuan Graceland)

It is located in Yangjia Village, Jiangyin, Wuxi, Jiangsu Province, and
is composed of high-rise, small high-rise and multi-storey buildings,
with a total floor area of approximately 29,952 sgq.m. and a total GFA
of approximately 47,923 sg.m., and is for residential use. The project
commenced construction in the fourth quarter of 2020, and started the
pre-sale in the fourth quarter of 2021. It is expected to be completed in
2023. So far, it is sold out apart from some car parking lots.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Qingdao, Shandong Province
Qingaao New City

It is located in Hetao District, Hongdao Economic Zone, Qingdao City,
mainly consists of high- rise residential buildings, apartments, offices and
stores with a total floor area of 51,376 sg.m. and a GFA of approximately
111,483 sg.m. Among which, the building plan area of the residential plot is
53,254 sg.m.. The pre-sales started in the fourth quarter of 2019, and was
completed in 2021.

Future City (Residential)

It is located in Huangdao District, Qingdao, mainly consists of high-rise,
small high-rise, multi-storey buildings and talent apartments, with a total
floor area of approximately 58,596 sg.m. and a total GFA of approximately
158,209 sqg.m., and is for residential use. The project commenced
construction in the second quarter of 2021 and started the pre-sale in
the second quarter of 2021. It is expected to be completed in 2023. The
volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review was within
expectation.

Future City (Commercial)

It is located in Huangdao District, Qingdao, mainly consists of shops,
apartments, supermarkets, hotels and villas, with a total floor area of
approximately 26,486 sg.m. and a total GFA of approximately 39,729
sg.m., and is for commercial use. The project commenced construction in
the fourth quarter of 2021, and is expected to be completed in 2024.

Kunming, Yunnan Province
Yunxing Imperial Palace

It is located in the plot of Yongshan Street Office, Xishan District, Kunming,
and mainly consists of high-rise residential buildings, apartments and stores
with a total floor area of 37,024 sq.m. and a total GFA of approximately
283,932 sg.m. The project commenced construction in the second quarter
of 2020, and is expected to be completed in 2024. The volume of pre-
sales of the project during the year under review was within expectation.

Overseas
Amber Rise

This project is in Vancouver, Province of British Columbia, Canada with a
total GFA of about 7,719 sg.m. The site is located in a wealthy district with
about 20 minutes drive to the downtown of Vancouver City. A total of 12
townhouses with individual swimming pools and deluxe design will be built
in 3 phases. The construction commenced in 2016, and the construction
of 3 independent houses has been completed.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Contracted sales in 2022

As at 31 December 2022, the contracted GFA sold by the Group was
about 750,710 sg.m. (2021: 1,175,362 sqg.m.) with the amount of about
RMB14,267.7 million (2021: RMB27,925.1 million), representing a year-to-
year decrease of approximately 48.9%. Set out below are the details of the
contracted sales from the major projects:
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2022 F SEIEHE
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% of interest
attributable

Contracted Contracted to the Group
GFA sold amount KEES
Projects City &R =1 ZIEBRD
EHE & HEER HEWA MBS
sg.m. RMB million
FroRk AREHBT
Zhejiang
L
Others (Residential) Hangzhou 960 104.9 90.0%
Hih (E%) LN
Hidden Dragon Bay Hangzhou 11,204 133.5 61.1%
I3 LN
International Office Centre (I0OC)A3 Hangzhou 2,355 56.0 66.0%
B B3R HDAS U
International Office Centre (I0C)A2 Hangzhou 9,083 428.4 66.0%
B B3 A HRDA2 U
Others (Commercial) Hangzhou 14,519 139.9 59.4%
HAth (7 25) LN
Xixi New City Hangzhou 444 13.3 59.4%
[iEpESist ) LN
Nan Hu Ming Yue Hangzhou 2,322 41.7 59.9%
m IR A LN
Shunyuan Mansion Hangzhou 432 10.1 90.0%
JIE IR T LN
Xiaoshan Lotus Mansion Hangzhou 584 26.7 90.0%
LR LN
Fashion Color City Hangzhou 13,072 210.7 59.4%
BR¥Z 15 LN
Chun’an Lotus Mansion Hangzhou 24,195 237.5 100.0%
TE R IR LN
Long Ying Hui Jin Zuo (Bin He Yin) Hangzhou 4,246 112.0 59.4%
PR bE £ CBFIED) LN
Chuyue Mansion Hangzhou 11,567 354.6 90.0%
IR LN
Lan Lotus Mansion Hangzhou 31,013 1,203.6 58.5%
AE =N LN
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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% of interest
attributable

Contracted Contracted to the Group
GFA sold amount EEEL
Projects City =G =1G] ZIEE#ER
EHH & HEmRA HEWA HESL
sqg.m. RMB million
FHAK  ANREHET
Zecui Ju Hangzhou 4,990 91.3 90.0%
ERE LN
Zhangyuan Mansion Hangzhou 4,904 69.5 57.9%
15 TR T LN
Lin Qi Yun Fu Hangzhou 13,419 226.4 22.5%
ERE R B
Yungiqiling Hangzhou 10,295 185.3 36.0%
B B
Weikechenming Mansion Hangzhou 22,987 569.9 45.0%
ES a0 B
Ruiyuan Mansion Hangzhou 21,961 449.5 90.0%
I IR BB LN
Xinnongdu Hangzhou 33,259 389.5 25.3%
AL LN
Zhong An Times Square Phase Il Yuyao 1,200 11.1 61.4%
RLERES Rk
Cixi New City Cixi 2,971 23.0 59.4%
BRI BE
Chaoyue Mansion Ningbo 23,132 580.4 90.0%
BRI B
Chenyue Land Lishui 26,967 402.2 30.6%
=g &f Bk
Xiuhu Lotus Gardon Yiwu 30,672 1,351.7 58.5%
75t 11 Bt =5
Chaoming Yiwu 4,485 97.1 31.5%
S =5
Lakeside Mansion Yiwu 5,350 225.2 90.0%
R BB =5
Shunyuan Mansion Wenzhou 12,221 342.3 441%
JIE iR 2 Rl
Wenzhou Future City Wenzhou 35,460 542.9 45.0%
AMNKELE Rl
Sky Tree (Residential) Wenzhou 40,914 654.1 22.5%
RZER (EE) E N
Guyue Mansion Shaoxing 4,794 239.0 90.0%
Ey2zie] R
Tang Song He Ming Shaoxing 24,048 1,046.5 44.1%
EAEH S R
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEmESHT (B)

% of interest
attributable

Contracted Contracted to the Group

GFA sold amount EEEL

Projects City =G =1G] ZIEE#ER

]S & HEER HEWA HBE 2L
sqg.m. RMB million

FrEARK  AREHET

Shaoxing Future City Shaoxing 79,409 971.4 51.3%
BERRLE R
Cloud Chen Square Quzhou 43,082 648.2 45.9%
ErxRE &
Ruyi Mansion Zhouhsan 23,414 282.7 90.0%
MEMF A
Heyuan Mansion Taizhou 11,368 191.6 90.0%
R IF =
Taizhou Future City Taizhou 33,039 633.0 90.0%
aINRRLE am

Jiangsu

L&k
Nanjing Future City Nanjing 10,061 62.5 90.0%
I RARKRE AR
Jiangyin Future City Wuxi 21,839 187.4 90.0%
TLkaRARE mi5

Anhui

Z8
Vancouver City Huaibei 59,790 496.0 100.0%
B ETEE 7L

Shandong

1T
Qingdao New City Qingdao 2,872 23.9 100.0%
El=tisinE 55
Zhong An Future City Qingdao 8,177 73.6 90.0%
RERRE 55

Yunnan

Em
Yunxing Imperial Palace Kunming 7,634 127.6 90.0%
EEEA ERH

750,710 14,267.7
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEESWED R (8)

LAND BANK

In 2022, the Group acquired a total of 7 new projects with a total GFA
of approximately 0.524 million sg.m.. The total land cost amounted to
approximately RMB4.9 billion. The average land cost of the new land
parcels was approximately RMB9,323 per sg.m..

T fEE

20225 s AEEMIBIBE HE7E BRE
ERENASAB TS K ; LAY AR
M49fE 7T I LTI EBAE T 5K
AR 19,3237 ©

% of interest

attributable
to the Group
No. Projects City Land cost Site Area Total GFA REMER
R B i AR R E R BREER REZMNBE DL
(RMB million) (sq.m.) (5g.m.)
NREEET (FrK) (FHR)
Zhejiang
L
1 Large Harbor bridge Project Hangzhou 425 21,336 74,676 21.6%
AEBEE LBl
2 Chenyue Land Lishui 550 52,293 104,583 30.6%
RiR R Bk
3 Chuyue Mansion Hangzhou 689 18,641 41,010 90.0%
RIAR LBl
4 Zecui Ju Hangzhou 468 39,973 71,951 90.0%
ERERE LBl
5 Weikechenming Mansion Hangzhou 1,470 70,802 127,444 45.0%
RI R LBl
6 Lan Lotus Mansion Hangzhou 1,005 19,802 43,564 58.5%
BAEM Hm
7 Zhangyuan Mansion Hangzhou 278 24,270 60,675 57.9%
BRI LBl
4,885 247,117 523,903
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the total GFA of the Group’s land bank was
about 10.11 million sg.m., out of which the total unsold or undelivered GFA
of the completed properties projects was about 1.52 million sq.m. As at 31
December 2022, the average acquisition cost of the Group’s overall land
bank was about RMB3,116 per sq.m.

During the year under review, the GFA of the properties of which the
construction was newly commenced by the Group was about 1.47 million
sg.m.

OTHER BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The businesses of the Group are diversifying which provide the basis for
securing more stable income in the future and diversification of investment
risks. The Group will steadily promote an asset-light business model
and gradually broaden the scope of property services and business
operation which includes hotel operation, commercial leasing, office
building management and property services, and will continue to adopt
new business models and types such as the promotion of development
of new agricultural and healthcare industries at the same time, so as to
enhance the upstream and downstream business linkage and synergetic
development of our property business and to maintain a trend of
sustainable development.

HOTEL OPERATION

There are four hotels currently under operation, Holiday Inn Hangzhou
Xiaoshan, Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Bright Resort Hotel, Huaibei Bright
Hotel and the Ningbo Bright Hotel. Among them, Ningbo Bright Hotel
officially commenced business in October 2019, and its operation
performance was good. The hotel operation of the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately RMB221.7 million (2021: approximately
RMB173.2 million), representing an increase of approximately 28.0%,
during the year under review and the overall hotel occupancy rate was
approximately 56% (2021: approximately 40%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEESWED R (8)

COMMERCIAL LEASING

The leasing revenue for 2022 was about RMB101.5 million, representing a
decrease of about 17.0% as compared to RMB122.3 million in 2021.

Currently, Highlong Plaza, International Office Centre (IOC), Zhong An
Square and the shopping units of Hidden Dragon Bay provide the main
source of leasing income of the Group. Highlong Plaza consists of
office buildings, a shopping centre, a hotel, serviced apartments and
underground car parking lots. The serviced apartments at Highlong Plaza
were sublet to and managed by independent operators, namely Ningbo
Sanbi Hotel and Hangzhou Youbang Hotel. The performance of the
operation was satisfactory. The overall leasing rate was 86% (2021: 87%).

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AND OTHER SERVICES

The revenue generated from property management and other services for
2022 was about RMB408.0 million, representing an increase of about 3.2%
as compared to RMB395.2 million in 2021. The Group provides quality
property management services and other services to the communities
located in properties developed by the Group and other developers. The
services are further enhanced by the provision of travel tours, housekeeping
and nanny services, etc. The provision of customer-oriented services
and the wide variety of services offered have strengthened the Group’s
corporate brand management.

The businesses of the Group are diversifying which provide the basis for
securing more stable income in the future and diversification of investment
risks. The Group will steadily promote an asset-light business model
and gradually broaden the scope of property services and business
operation which includes hotel operation, commercial leasing, office
building management and property services, and will continue to adopt
new business models and types such as the promotion of development
of modern agriculture, education and culture, film and television
entertainment, leisure tourism, and health care industries, at the same time,
so as to enhance the upstream and downstream business linkage and
synergetic development of our property business and to maintain a trend of
sustainable development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS

BEEmESHT (B)

RIARRE

The Group had received the following awards and accolades from the PRC AEBRCESEERRBUSHR A #E

government and recognised authorities during the year under review:

BB TIRIER S

Awards

8215

Awarded parties/projects

RS EE

2022 Top 100 China Real Estate Developers
2022 B Eit E R A

2022 Top 10 Hong Kong Listed Domestic Property Companies with
Financial Stability
2022 KPEE A L B E AT MR EMETOP10

2022 Top 10 Hong Kong Listed Domestic Property Companies with
Investment Value

2022 7TEA LT E M EABKREEETOP10

2022 Top 100 China Real Estate Enterprise Brand Value
20227 Bl 5 b FE(E(ETOP100

2022 Top 10 China Real Estate Enterprise for Social responsibility
20227 Bl B b B HIE1058

2022 China’s Top 100 Property Management Service Providers
2022 YR B R (B2

Zhong An Group Limited
REZEEBFRAF

Zhong An Group Limited
REZEEBFRAF
Zhong An Group Limited
REZEEBFRAF

Zhong An Group Limited
REZEEBRAE

Zhong An Group Limited
REZEEBRAE

Zhejiang Zhong An Property Management Co., Ltd.
HIRZMERBERAT
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEESWED R (8)

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of 5,506 staff (2021:
4,911 staff). In 2022, the staff cost of the Group was about RMB447.2
million (2021: about RMB541.1 million), representing a decrease of
about 17.4%. The decrease was mainly due to the Group has adopted
a number of measures to reduce costs and increase efficiency. The
employees’ remuneration policy was determined by reference to factors
such as remuneration information in respect of the local market, the overall
remuneration standard in the industry, inflation level, corporate operating
efficiency and performance of the employees. The Group conducts
performance appraisal on a yearly basis for its employees, the results of
which are taken into account of the annual salary review and promotion
assessment. The Group’s employees are considered for the entitlement of
annual discretionary bonus according to certain performance conditions
and appraisal results. To attract high calibre people and solidify the
management of the Group, eligible participants (including employee of the
Group) may be granted options to subscribe for shares in the Company
pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the Company. The Group
also provides continuous learning and training programs to its employees
to enhance their skills and knowledge, so as to maintain the attraction of
the Company for talents and their competitiveness in the market.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may distribute dividends by way of cash or by other
means that the Board considers appropriate. Any proposed distribution of
dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board and, where applicable,
the approval of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).
The Board will consider various factors before declaring or recommending
any payment of dividends. These factors include the results of operation of
the business of the Group, the retained earnings and distributable reserves
of the Company and each of the members of the Group, the Group’s
actual and expected financial performance, the general business conditions
and strategies, the Group’s expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans, the general economic conditions and business
cycle of the Group’s business, the future prospects of the business of the
Group, Shareholders’ interests, statutory and regulatory restrictions on the
payment of dividend and other internal or external factors that the Board
deems appropriate.

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

ABER

2022F12831H » A&EE R B & 15,506
A (20214 : 4,911.N) 2202245 » B TR A
WAREE447 2B 8T (2021F : AR
541188 7) » TR&17.4% TRERFEER
MRAECIBEEAREBIRMNT ZLERKAEN
B AEBNWE THMBR RSB EM™
BEBETE SehmBERITENERFENR
T BRKENPELENEURB THE
NEZHFEREMEE AEFBHEENE
HEFFH—XRBE SRANSEHEHE
BEREATFH - AEBNETHEEEZEIR
BETRREBGGRTIZERMEZEEDN
IBIE4L - BN ESH AT MIBEAE
BENEBEEE aBER2HEE (BEF&EEE
T) el IRIEASA BJ IR A R IR 5T B IR 8
LR AN - AEB IR E B TR
HIFEHBE MBI S RERA B TR
BEFIAI S RIFABH AT RS IR AL
HHEREIT°

iz SBUER

KRB URENEFTERXRBEENEM
HNRER S - EARFREREDARE
EFNERE LESERTRR (MIRER))
#HE (HER) - EEIRNEZETEARE
A EFEREBZTERNR -ZFRECE
FEBEBNEEXR FRAKRFERER
MERBNBFWRE R DR#ES &
B2 ERRBAVBRR  —REFKRK
R AEERAEEESSRBRERKER
8 AEEEFINEREER R RERE
H-AEREBHRRIR IRRERD X
MTRENZERGEERMNUKEMESS
RBABEEHANEHIIMNBEE -



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded total
revenue of approximately RMB9,250.5 million, representing an increase
of approximately 86.2% compared with that of RMB4,968.7 million in
2021. Among which, the revenue arising from the sale of properties had
constituted and is expected to constitute continually the vast majority of
the Group’s total revenue, accounting for approximately 92.1% of the total
income amount for the year. The increase of the revenue was mainly due to
the increase in the total GFA of the properties delivered in 2022 compared
with that of 2021, and a corresponding increase in the amount that can be
included in the recognized revenue of 2022.

Cost of sales

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s cost of sales
was approximately RMB6,779.6 million, representing an increase of
approximately 94.1% as compared with that of RMB3,492.5 million in
2021.

Gross profit and Gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded gross profit
of about RMB2,470.9 million, representing an increase of about 67.4% as
compared to that of about RMB1,476.1 million in the previous year, the
gross profit margin was approximately 26.7%, decreased by approximately
3.0 percentage points as compared to those of 2021.

Other income and gains

The other income and gains of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB313.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, representing an
increase of 1.2% as compared with that of RMB310.1 million in 2021.

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses decreased by about 26.9% to about
RMB315.6 million in 2022 from about RMB431.9 million in 2021. This is
mainly due to the decrease in sales commission with the decline of the
contracted sales amount in 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEESWED R (8)

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by about 20.0% to about RMB611.7
million in 2022 from about RMB764.5 million in 2021. This is primarily
attributable to the Group has adopted a number of measures to reduce
costs and increase efficiency.

Other expenses

Other expenses decreased by about 17.0% to about RMB174.9 million in
2022 from about RMB210.7 million in 2021.

Finance costs

Finance costs decreased by about 34.6% to about RMB147.3 million in
2022 from about RMB225.1 million in 2021. This decrease is mainly due to
the increase of capitalized interest in 2022.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses increased by about 591.7% to about RMB1,297.0
million in 2022 from about RMB187.5 million in 2021. This is primarily due
to the increase of profit before tax and provision of LAT in 2022.

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2022, 5,635,809,800 shares in the Company were in
issue (31 December 2021: 5,635,809,800 shares).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had total assets of approximately
RMB59,096.9 million (2021: approximately RMB57,240.3 million) which
were financed by current liabilities of approximately RMB36,497.7 million
(2021: approximately RMB30,848.8 million), non-current liabilities of
approximately RMB10,266.0 million (2021: approximately RMB14,461.4
million) and shareholders’ equity of approximately RMB12,333.2 million
(2021: approximately RMB11,930.1 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had aggregate cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash of about RMB6,633.4 million (2021:
RMB7,895.7 million).

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

TEEBH0021IFHNARKT64.55E T
TE#920.0%ZE2022F W AR 611.78E
Too T BB AREEP2022F EiHMN T 218K
AN FE B ©

HEH

HMMBRAH2021EHNARE210.7TEET
FE4917.0%ZE2022F Y NR 17498 & T o

MBHER

A ERRH2021EHARE225 158 T
TRR4IB4.6%E2022FE M AR IE147.35 &
oo EBTIHMR2022FE EEAEF B NFT

e
FRSHiFIs

FTi8 MR H2021 EHN AR 187 5B & T
1 N49591.7 % E 2022 49 A R #1,297.08
BT o NM EER A A20224F E R A1 A
TR IR E R BB NPT ER o

BARGE

R2022F12831H > AR B B #ETRD
#35,635,809,8008% (2021%F12831H :
5,635,809,8008%) ©

R2022F12B831H  AEBNE ELRE
AR 59,006,988 7T (20214 1 &4
AR57,240.38 &) 'HABBELN
ANRM36,497.7TEE T (2021F YA
K 1£30,848.8B &8 7T) “FERBEBELIA
K110,266.0B& T (2021F : IAE
14,461 48 8T KBREEZOAR
#%12,333.2B 87T (2021F : YARE
11,930. 1B &) R Ex-

RERMN2022F12H31HmMIRES RIEESE
BYMZRAIREE XA ANREE6,633.4
BEsT (20214F 1 ARM7,895.7887T) ©



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEmESHT (B)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's interest-bearing bank and other R2022F12831H  AE BN ERIT
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB14,747.7 million (2021: ERRHEMERNARE14747 788 T
approximately RMB16,993.9 million). (20214 : Y AR ¥516,993.98 & 7T) ©

The maturity profile of the borrowings was as follows: BREAGBZREIERE RO T

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

{20224 20214

12831H 128310

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT NEBETFT

Within 1 year or on demand —FERIYBRER 5,512,718 3,618,903
Over 1 year but within 2 years ZR—FBLRME 1,789,703 7,608,194
Over 2 years but within 5 years SRMERLRASE 7,000,659 4,715,491
Over 5 years EEME 444,600 1,051,273
14,747,680 16,993,861

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings bear interest at fixed rates and M ERIT R EMBERIZEEF X R TZEH
floating rates. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s interest-bearing bank MEFHE 2022 EBNTERIT R
and other borrowings bore average effective interest rate of 5.47% (2021: HMERFEEENERDL.47% (20214 :
6.20%). 6.20%) °

The denominated amounts of the borrowings were as follows: BREAEBRNENEKEEBNOT

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

#20224F Fr20214F

12A31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AEEFr

RMB loans and borrowings AR 14,728,793 16,990,633
GBP loans and borrowings g 18,887 3,228
14,747,680 16,993,861
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEESWED R (8)

For the year under review, the total cost of borrowings of the Group was
approximately RMB868.2 million (2021: approximately RMB793.4 million),
and, among which, interests with an amount of approximately RMB729.6
million (2021: approximately RMB578.9 million) were capitalized.

The Group maintained a healthy liquidity position. The current ratio, being
a ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities, was approximately
1.25 (2021: approximately 1.41). The ratio of interest— bearing bank
and other borrowings to total assets was approximately 0.25 (2021:
approximately 0.30). The net gearing ratio of the Group (defined as net debt
divided by total equity) was approximately 0.66 (2021: approximately 0.76)
(net debt is defined as total interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
less cash and cash equivalent and total restricted cash). The Group
always adopts a prudent financial policy in its operation and business
development.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had capital commitments of about
RMB6,936.0 million (2021: approximately RMB6,984.0 million) in respect
of property and project development expenditure. It is expected that the
Group will finance such commitments from its own funds, cash proceeds
from sales and external financing (such as bank loans).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the contingent liabilities of the Group were about
RMB11,107.8 million (2021: approximately RMB7,438.2 million), which
were guarantees provided by the Group in favour of certain banks for the
grant of mortgage loans to buyers of the Group’s properties.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2022, investment properties of the Group with
a carrying value of about RMB213.3 million (2021: approximately
RMB2,681.6 million), properties under development of about RMB29,021.6
million (2021: approximately RMB24,189.0 million), completed properties
held for sale of about RMB628.7 million (2021: approximately RMB823.7
million), property and equipment of about RMB1,177.6 million (2021:
approximately RMB1,185.5 million), restricted cash of about RMB4.0
million (2021: approximately RMB64.1 million), 100% equity interest in
subsidiaries of the Group of about RMB60.0 million (2021: RMB40.0
million) were pledged to secure the banking facilities and other borrowings
for the Group.

Foreign exchange risk

As the sales, purchase and external financing of the Group in 2022 and
2021 were made mainly in Renminbi, the foreign exchange risk exposed
to the Group was relatively minor. The Group did not use foreign exchange
hedging instruments to hedge foreign exchange risks in 2022 and 2021.

Interest rate risk

The interest rates of a certain portion of the Group’s loans were floating.
Upward fluctuations in interest rates will increase the interest cost of new
loans and existing loans. Given that a certain portion of loans are RMB
loans and the stable domestic economic situation of the PRC, the Group
currently does not use derivative instruments to hedge its interest rate risks.

BEEmESHT (B)

BERH

R2022%F 128318 AEEEBEAIAR
#213.3E &t (20214 : Y AR 1E2,681.6
B8t WREYME N ARM29,021.68
BT (20216 : Y AR KE24,180.0HE 7T) AY
B AR E28.78 & 7t (2021
FEIHNARIES23.7TEE T FIELENEE
BN ARE1,177.6 887 (20214
HWARKE1,185. 688 T WEEBREZHE A
AREA0EBE T (202145 | NARMECANE
Bt MRFIMEIRSUREEZNA AR
60.08 87t (20214 : Y AR ¥£40.05 & 7T)
NEAEBNBASINEHRECIEEIFL
ERAEBNIRITRE REMER -

PE =R R

HRAEBER20225F 52021 F R HB B9 5
E - RERcREEREOUARES L
R ItE 7 = [ Fr 7K 52 B9 S MG L B AR /L o A
EE 720224 F22021 £ 3 {55 FR S E
T E LU e & B o

AIESE

ZIK%“B%ETAE’J%'JTE—J“@JE’J DIESE
&EJJH%"?JD%? SRR IRE BRI B AL
ZIK ZE3 ’ﬁ%ﬂﬁj)\%ﬁ%‘%ﬂﬂqﬂl
”“/ﬁﬂ/z e Bt EE B ATl EE
ﬁﬁT/IiﬁnEIEL{ﬁFFE%'JﬁJ_LBW C

RLEMBRAE —TZEEFR

43



44

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEESWED R (8)

Events after the reporting period

A subsidiary of the Company proposes to apply for registration of
the medium-term notes in an aggregate principal amount of up to
RMB1,900,000,000 (“Medium-term Notes”), which will be a company
bond with a term of no more than three years. The Medium-term Notes
are proposed to be guaranteed by an independent third party guarantor
of the Group, with unconditional and irrevocably joint and several liability.
On 27 February 2023, the Company and China New City Commercial
Development Limited (“China New City”) entered into an agreement,
pursuant to which two subsidiaries of China New City will make available
and pledge certain properties to the independent third party guarantor of
the Medium-term Notes as a counter guarantee (the “Agreement”). The
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute a
non-exempted connected transaction for China New City under Chapter
14A of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
and are subject to independent shareholders’ approval in its upcoming
extraordinary general meeting.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
ASPECTS

The Group is always committed to maintaining the highest environmental
and social standards to ensure sustainable development of its business.
A report on the environmental, social and governance aspects is being
prepared with reference to Appendix 27 (Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide) to the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange
and will be published respectively on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange in due course.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

PROSPECTS

Looking forward to the year 2023, as the pandemic is gradually brought
under control, the economy will gradually recover and grow steadily. Under
the stimulation of a series of comprehensive measures and favorable
policies, the financing environment of the real estate industry has gradually
improved and will develop smoothly and healthily in the future. The strong
economic strength of the Yangtze River Delta region, with its strong
purchasing power and rapid economic recovery after the pandemic, is still
in the lead in the development of the industry. The hosting of the 2023
Asian Games will further boost the economic development of the Yangtze
River Delta.

The Group will maintain a prudent view in the short term and an optimistic
view in the long term. The Group will make full use of its brand advantages
in the Yangtze River Delta region to actively seize market opportunities,
and carry out deep regional cultivation and hard work. Under the premise
of financial soundness, the Group will maintain an appropriate debt size
and appropriately broaden its financing channels. At the same time,
the Group will actively promote product standardization and innovation,
establish a full-cycle quality control system, and realize the double-curve
drive and comprehensive upgrade of product power and marketing power.
The Group will actively build “Quality Zhong An” and maintain high quality
development. We will also accelerate the capitalization process of individual
segments to drive diversified development and enhance the Group’s overall
strength.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEELARS

The Board is committed to maintaining good corporate governance
in safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders and enhancing
Shareholders’ value.

(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted, in so far as they are applicable, the code
provisions (the “code provisions”) of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board had applied
the principles of the code provisions contained in, and complied with,
the CG Code.

The Board will review the management structure of the Group
from time to time and will adopt appropriate measures as may
be desirable for future development of the operating activities or
business of the Group.

(B) DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code”).

Following specific enquiries by the Company, all Directors confirmed
with the Company that they had complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions during 2022.

(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors during 2022 were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr Shi Zhongan (Chairman)

Mr Zhang Jiangang (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms Shen Tiaojuan

Ms Jin Ni

Ms Shi Jinfan

Independent non-executive Directors
Professor Pei Ker Wei

Mr Zhang Huagiao

Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Save as disclosed herein, during 2022, the Board had at all times
met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors with at least one independent non-executive
Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The three independent non-executive Directors represent more than
one-third of the Board, the proportion of which is higher than what is
required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Board believes there
is sufficient independence element in the Board to safeguard the
interests of Shareholders.

The Board meets regularly throughout 2022 to discuss the overall
strategy, the operational and financial performance of the Group.
The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
electronic means of communication in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles”).

A total of 8 Board meetings were held during 2022. The individual
attendance of each Director was as follows:
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Number of attendance

HERH
Mr Shi Zhongan Aok 8
Mr Zhang Jiangang RERHH ST 6
Ms Shen Tiaojuan higIEZ 8
Ms Jin Ni EBIERZ T 6
Ms Shi Jinfan &N+ 6
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHE 8
Mr Zhang Huagiao R A E 8
Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony BERKE 8

All Directors at that time had attended the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 9 June 2022.

The Board operates and exercises its power in accordance with the
Articles. In addition, the Board has also specifically resolved that all
transactions/contracts/other matters of the Group that are subject
to the disclosure requirement in accordance with the Listing Rules
should be approved by the Board in advance.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TtEELSRSE (8)

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers
that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skKills.
During 2022, each of Mr Shi Zhongan, Mr Zhang Jiangang, Ms Shen
Tiaojuan, Ms Jin Ni, Ms Shi Jinfan, Professor Pei Ker Wei, Mr Zhang
Huagiao and Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony had attended seminars and/
or training sessions, and had read materials and updates relating
to the latest development of the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements. The Board considered the continuous
professional development participated and undertaken by the
Directors are sufficient to discharge their duties.

The Company had arranged liability insurance for Directors and
senior management of the Company with appropriate coverage
in respect of legal action against them arising from their duties
performed.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report, there are no
relationships (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) among members of the Board.

Functions of the Board and the Senior Management

The Board is responsible for providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Group. The Board is responsible for formulating the
Group’s overall objectives and strategies, monitoring and evaluating
its operating and financial performance and reviewing the corporate
governance standard of the Group. It also decides on matters
such as annual and interim results, accounting policies, proposal
of declaration of dividends, major transactions, appointment or re-
appointment of Directors after considering, when necessary and
appropriate, the recommendations from the committees established
by the Board.

Senior management is delegated by the Board with the responsibility
for the execution of the business plans and strategies adopted by
the Board, assisting the Board in the preparation of the financial
statements for approval by the Board, the establishment of adequate
procedures put forward by the Board and/or the committees
established by the Board and reporting regularly to and seeking
approval from the Board on important matters from time to time.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy in the Board or as an additional member of the Board
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
members of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at
such meeting.

In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one
third of the Directors for the time being, shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed for a
specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
The Shareholders may, at any general meetings convened and
held in accordance with the Articles, remove a Director by ordinary
resolution at any time before the expiration of his/her period of office
notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or in any agreement
between the Company and such Director and may by ordinary
resolution elect another person in his/her stead.

Board Committees

The Board has established four committees and has delegated
various responsibilities to the committees, including the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”) and the governance committee (the
“Governance Committee”). All the Board committees perform their
distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms of reference
which are available for inspection by Shareholders on the Company’s
website. The Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request,
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive should be clearly
established and set out in writing.

As at the date of this annual report, the positions of chairman
and chief executive officer are held by Mr Shi Zhongan and Mr
Zhang Jiangang respectively. Mr Shi Zhongan, is our chairman and
executive Director. He is primarily responsible for the strategic and
development planning of the Group. He also supervises project
planning and the overall business operation. Mr Zhang Jiangang
is our chief executive officer and executive Director. He focuses
on the Company’s business development and daily management
and operations generally. The respective responsibilities of Mr Shi
Zhongan and Mr Zhang Jiangang are clearly defined and set out in
writing.

The Company has established a general division of responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive officer in writing. Further,
the roles of chairman and chief executive officer are separated and
performed by different individuals. In this connection, the Board is of
the opinion that the Company has complied with the code provision
A.2.1 sets out in the CG Code as at 31 December 2022.

The Board believes that the balance of power and authority is
sufficiently maintained by the operation of the Board, comprising the
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors.

The chairman had held a meeting with all independent non-executive
Directors in the absence of executive Directors. No specific or other
issues had been raised or discussed as it had been concluded that
all issues which would be discussed had been properly dealt with in
the meetings of the Board.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for a
specific term of office of two years.

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive
academic, professional and industry expertise and management
experience and have provided their professional advice to the Board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Professor Pei Ker
Wei (an independent non-executive Director) and the members are
Ms Shen Tiaojuan (an executive Director), Ms Jin Ni (an executive
Director), Mr Zhang Huagiao (an independent non-executive Director)
and Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony (an independent non-executive
Director).

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for the
Remuneration Committee. The role and function of the Remuneration
Committee include the following:

(@ to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b)  to have the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and make
recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;

(c) to review and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;

(d)  to review and approve the compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management in connection with any loss
or termination of their office or appointment to ensure that
such compensation is determined in accordance with relevant
contractual terms and that such compensation is otherwise fair
and not excessive for the Company;
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(e) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and that any compensation payment
is otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

! to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

(9) to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”);

(h)  to review and approve the remuneration report of the Group, if
any.

The basis of the emolument payable to the Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is determined with reference to
the range of prevailing directors’ fee for director of listed companies
in Hong Kong and is subject to the approval of the Remuneration
Committee. The Remuneration Committee will consider factors
such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment,
experience and responsibilities of the Directors, employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-
based remuneration.

1 meeting of the Remuneration Committee were held during 2022.
The Remuneration Committee had reviewed the remuneration policy
of the Group, assessed the performance of all Directors and their
terms of employment under their respective service contracts and
(if applicable) their renewal. In fulfiling its roles and functions, the
Remuneration Committee had ensured that no Director or any of his/
her associates was involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.
No material matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules were required to be reviewed or approved by the
Remuneration Committee. The individual attendance of each member
was as follows:
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Number of attendance

HERH
Professor Pei Ker Wei BrEHE 1
Ms Shen Tiaojuan LB 1
Ms Jin Ni XL 1
Mr Zhang Huagiao RIEBAE 1
Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony BERKE 1
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(G) NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr Shi Zhongan
(an executive Director and the chairman of the Company) and the
members are Professor Pei Ker Wei (an independent non-executive
Director), Mr Zhang Huagiao (an independent non-executive Director)
and Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony (an independent non-executive
Director).

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for the
Nomination Committee. The role and function of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:

(@)

to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and may select individuals nominated for
directorship;

to review the board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Diversity Policy”) and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the Diversity Policy, and
to make disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report of the Company’s annual report;

to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to, among others, the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors (in particular,
the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company);

to give full consideration to, among others, the skills and
expertise required from members of the Board and the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules with regard to Directors and
such like in the discharge of the Nomination Committee’s
duties;
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(99 inrespect of any proposed service contracts to be entered into
by any members of the Group with its director or proposed
director, which require the prior approval of the Shareholders
at general meeting under Rule 13.68 of the Listing Rules, to
review and provide recommendations to the Shareholders
(other than Shareholders who are Directors with a material
interest in the relevant service contracts and their respective
associates) as to whether the terms of the service contracts
are fair and reasonable and whether such service contracts
are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole, and to advise Shareholders on how to vote;

(h)  to ensure that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
receive a formal letter of appointment setting out what is
expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee
service and involvement outside meetings of the Board;

(i) to conduct exit interviews with any Director upon his/her
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his/her
departure; and

1) to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the Board
from time to time.

The determination and review by the Board during 2022 of the
Diversity Policy involved the consideration of various elements
including gender, age, culture, qualification, ability, work experience,
leadership and professional ethics of the candidates and against
the objective criteria set out by the Board. The Board recognizes
the importance of having a diverse Board and considers the above
essential elements (which have been taken into account when
determining the existing composition of the Board) in maintaining
a competitive advantage and achieving sustainable growth for the
Group.

To ensure the composition of the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business, the Company has, with
the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, adopted a
formal, considered and transparent procedures for the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of Directors.
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The nomination procedures are as follows: candidates for
directorship are selected by the Nomination Committee subject
to the review and approval of the Board in accordance with the
Articles. The criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee in
selecting and approving candidates for directorship are based on
the Diversity Policy including whether the candidates are appropriate
in terms of experience and the potential contribution to the Group
and with reference to the candidates’ professional knowledge,
industry experience, personal ethics, integrity and skills, as well as
the ability of the candidates to devote sufficient time to the Board
and/or various committees established by the Board on which
they serve so as to allow them to benefit from the skills, expertise,
and varied backgrounds and diversity of the candidates through
their participation in the meetings of the Board and/or committees
established by the Board.

If a candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-
executive Director (INED), his or her independence shall be assessed
in accordance with, among other things, the factors (including
independence criteria) as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange
from time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s
education, qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated
to consider whether he/she has the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise for filling the office of an INED with such qualifications or
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

If a candidate is a member of the Nomination Committee, he/she
will abstain from voting at the meeting of the Nomination Committee
when his/her own nomination is being considered.

2 meetings of the Nomination Committee were held during 2022.
The Nomination Committee nominated and the Board recommended
the re-election of Directors at the 2022 annual general meeting, and
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board.
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EEXERRS ()

The individual attendance of each member of the Nomination

Committee was as follows:

HRLEEGTHNEMNER HE R
T

Number of attendance

HERH
Mr Shi Zhongan Aok 2
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHE 2
Mr Zhang Huagiao R AL 2
Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony BERKE 2

(H) AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group was charged
RMB5,040,000 for the audit services provided by the Company’s
independent auditor, Ernst & Young. Details of the audit services and

their relevant fees are as follows:

For audit of annual results for
the year ended
31 December 2022

For review of interim results for
the six months ended
30 June 2022
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Audit Committee is Professor Pei Ker Wei and
the members are Mr Zhang Huagiao and Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony.
All members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive
Directors.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@)

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and other
terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions
of resignation or dismissal of the external auditor;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

to discuss before the audit commences, with the external
auditor the nature and scope of the audit and reporting
obligations and ensure co-ordination where more than one
audit firm is involved;

to develop and implement policy on engaging an
external auditor to supply non-audit services. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identify and make
recommendations any matters where action or improvement is
needed. The Audit Committee should also review the non-audit
services provided by the external auditor on an annual basis, to
ensure that the independence of such external auditor will not
be affected;

to monitor integrity, accuracy and fairness of the Company’s
financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-year
report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and
to review significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them;
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(] to review, in draft form and before submission to the Board, the
Company’s annual report and accounts, half-year report and, if
prepared for publication, quarterly report, focus particularly on:

Vi.

Vil

Vii.

X.

any changes in accounting policies and practices;

major judgmental areas;
significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

compliance with accounting standards;

compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

the fairness and reasonableness of any connected
transaction and the impact of such transaction on the
profitability of the Group and whether such connected
transactions (if any) have been carried out in accordance
with the terms of the agreement governing such
transactions;

whether all relevant items have been adequately
disclosed in the Group’s financial statements and
whether the disclosures give a fair view of the Group’s
financial conditions;

any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to
be, reflected in such reports and accounts; and

the cash flow position of the Group;

and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Board;
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in regard to (e) and (f) above:

(i) members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and the senior management of the Group and the
Audit Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with
the Company’s auditors; and

(i) the Audit Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in such reports and accounts. It should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting,
the financial reporting and internal audit functions,
compliance officer or auditors;

to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim
and final audits, and any matters the auditors may wish to
discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);

to review the Company’s financial controls and, unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk committee, or by
the Board itself, to review the Company'’s internal control and
risk management systems;

to discuss the internal control and risk management systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems. This discussion should
include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function;

to review the Company’s statement on internal control
systems (where one is included in the annual report) prior to
endorsement by the Board;

to consider major investigations findings on internal control
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these findings;
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EFE

AmE (@)

where an internal audit function exists, to review the internal
audit programmes, to ensure co-ordination between the
internal and external auditors, and to ensure that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate
standing within the Company and to review and monitor the
effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to conduct exit interviews with any Director, general manager,
financial controller or internal audit manager upon his/
her resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his/her
departure;

to prepare work reports for presentation to the Board and to
prepare summary of work reports for inclusion in the Group’s
interim and annual reports;

to consider the appointment of any person to be an Audit
Committee member, a secretary, auditors and accounting
staff either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Audit
Committee member, secretary, auditors and accounting staff or
dismissal of any of them;

to consider the major findings of internal investigations and
management’s response;

to review the external auditor’s management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to management about the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor's management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters in the code provisions
contained in the CG Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules (as amended from time to time) and/or any of the matters
set out above as well as the Audit Committee’s decisions
or recommendations, unless there are legal or regulatory
restrictions on their abilities to do so (such as restriction on
disclosure due to regulatory requirements);
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to review arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Audit Committee should ensure that proper arrangements are
in place for fair and independent investigation of these matters
and for appropriate follow-up action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the Board
from time to time.

A total of 6 meetings of the Audit Committee were held during 2022.
The work performed by the Audit Committee during 2022 included
the following:

reviewed the annual report and results announcement of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2021;

reviewed the interim report and interim results announcement
of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2022;

reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and other financial reporting matters;

reviewed the results of external audit and had discussion with
external auditors on any significant findings and audit issues;

reviewed the results of internal audit and had discussion with
internal auditors on any significant findings and internal control
issues;

discussed with the external auditors before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
respective relevant issues; and

considered and approved the service contract of the external
auditors for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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TEERRSE (@)

)

The individual attendance of each member of the Audit Committee
was as follows:

BEREEEEMENER HERN
=

Number of attendance

HERH
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHE 6
Mr Zhang Huagiao R AL 6
Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony BERKE 6

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Company has set up the Governance Committee and the terms
of reference adopted complied with the requirement of the Listing

Rules.

The chairman of the Governance Committee is Mr Shi Zhongan (an
executive Director). The remaining members are Mr Zhang Jiangang
(an executive Director), Ms Shen Tiaojuan (an executive Director),
Professor Pei Ker Wei (an independent non-executive Director) and
Mr Zhang Huagiao (an independent non-executive Director).

The role and functions of the Governance Committee include the
following:

@)

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements of the
Company;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the code provisions
under the CG Code and the disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

1 meeting of the Governance Committee was held during 2022.
The Governance Committee had reviewed the effectiveness of the
policies and practices on corporate governance for the Group,
discussed and reviewed the Board’s and the Group’s compliance
with the code provisions under the CG Code and the prevailing
Listing Rules during 2022.

The individual attendance of each member of the Governance
Committee was as follows:

EXERRS ()

R2022FEREEERITINEH -
E./uéE@E%éﬂK%lm%éIé
RERBENANE SmkERES
B RAERN2022FNETE AT
NZ TR R EATRAIBYIETR

E

S AEBEERME

BYME Bt E 90

Number of attendance

HERH
Mr Shi Zhongan Aok 1
Mr Zhang Jiangang RERHH ST 1
Ms Shen Tiaojuan LigIE 1
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHE 1
Mr Zhang Huagiao R AL 1

The terms of reference of the Governance Committee are available
on the Company’s website.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company recognizes
the importance of having a diverse Board and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to maintain a competitive advantage and
achieve sustainable growth for the Group.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection of candidates
for directorship will be based on a range of diversity perspectives
based on the Diversity Policy, including but not limited to gender,
age, culture, qualification, ability, work experience, leadership and
professional ethics and against the objective criteria set out by the
Board.

The Nomination Committee of the Board will disclose the
composition of the Board in the corporate governance report of
the Company every year and supervise the implementation of the
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee will review the progress
on achieving the objectives set for implementing the Diversity Policy
annually to ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board, and will
make disclosure of its review results in the corporate governance
report of the Company.
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EEXERRS ()

(L)

(M)

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of five male
members and three female members with one Director of age 21 to
30 years old, one Director of age 41 to 50 years old, five Directors
of age 51 to 60 years old and one Director of over 60 years old.
The Company has reviewed the composition, membership and
structure of the Board, and is of the opinion that the Board has an
appropriate mix of skills, experience and diversity that are relevant to
the Company'’s strategy, business and governance and to enable the
Company to maintain high standard of operation. As at 31 December
2022, the Group had a balanced gender ratio of 43:57 (female:male).

The Company will implement comprehensive programmes aimed at
identifying and training on female employees who display leadership
and potential, with the goal of promoting them to the senior
management of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN PREPARING
THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the
preparation of accounts which give a true and fair view of the
Company and the Group.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the accounts of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems over the Group’s
asset and Shareholders’ interests, as well as for reviewing such
systems’ effectiveness on an annual basis. Such systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against misstatement or loss, and to manage risks of failure in the
Group’s operational systems. The systems include a well-established
organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility
and authority, which is designed to safeguard assets from
inappropriate use, maintain proper accounts and ensure compliance
with applicable laws and regulations. Regular reviews and internal
audits are carried out to monitor compliance with internal control
procedures focusing on those areas of the Group’s activities with the
greatest perceived risk.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board along with the
Audit Committee have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control and risk management systems and was of the view
that the Group’s internal control and risk management systems were
effective and adequate. Such review had covered all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

The Board and the Audit Committee have also reviewed the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of its accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions for 2022 and are satisfied with the results.

The Group also adopts procedures to manage the handling and
dissemination of inside information, so as to ensure that inside
information remains confidential until the disclosure of such
information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such
information is efficiently and consistently made.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Pang Heung Fai is the company secretary and chief financial
officer of the Company. The Company Secretary of the Company
supports the Board by ensuring good and fluent information
communication and that the board policies and procedures are
strictly followed. The Company Secretary is also responsible for
advising the Board on governance matters and facilitating the
induction and professional development of Directors.

Mr. Pang has around 15 years of experience in holding senior
financial management positions in a couple of Hong Kong and
overseas listed companies of different industries, and is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
(FCCA). During the year, Mr. Pang has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening extraordinary general meeting and putting
forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, an extraordinary general
meeting shall be convened on the written requisition of one or more
Shareholders made to Directors or the company secretary specifying
the objects of the meeting, provided that such requisitionists held as
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. Such meeting shall be held within
2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If the Board does not
within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene the meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves may
convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same manner and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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TtEELSRSE (8)

(P)

Pursuant to article 113 of the Articles, if a Shareholder, who is
entitled to attend and vote at the relevant general meeting, wishes to
nominate a person (not being the nominating Shareholder) to stand
for election as a Director, he or she should lodge to the company
secretary notice in writing of the intention to propose a person for
election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his/her
willingness to be so elected at least 7 clear days before the date of
such general meeting and the period for lodgement of such notices
shall commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of such general meeting appointed for such election and shall
be at least 7 clear days in length.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available on the Company’s website.

The Company welcomes enquiries from its Shareholders. The Board
or designated senior management or the company secretary will
review Shareholders’ enquiries on a regular basis. Specific enquiries
and suggestions by Shareholders can be sent in writing to the
Board or the company secretary by e-mail at ir@zafc.com or at the
address of the Company’s head office in the PRC or principal place
of business in Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Board persistently reviews and updates the policies and
constitutional documents of the Company. During the year under
review, the Board obtained the approval of the Shareholders at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 9 June 2022
to amend and restate the articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles”) in order to bring it up to date and in line with the
amendments made to the Listing Rules and the applicable laws of
the Cayman Islands. The up to date version of the Articles is available
for viewing on the website of the Company (www.zhongangrouphk.
com) and the website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

Save as disclosed above, there was no other amendment made to
the constitutional documents of the Company during the year under
review.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

(Q) INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company attaches great importance to communication
with the Shareholders. A number of means are used to promote
greater understanding and dialogue with the Shareholders.
The means of access includes the release by the Company of
the various corporate communication of the Company via the
website of the Stock Exchange and the website of the Company
(http://www.zhongangrouphk.com). Shareholders are encouraged
by the Company to attend general meetings of the Company where
the chairman of the Company and other members of the Board and
(if appropriate) the auditors of the Company are available to answer
questions. Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the
Company for any enquiries in relation to the affairs of the Group.
Shareholders may contact the Company in writing to the Company’s
head office in the PRC or principal place of business in Hong Kong or
by e-mail at ir@zafc.com.

(@) General meetings

It is important that the Shareholders have access to clear and
meaningful data which enables them to have a constructive
dialogue with the Company. Shareholders can raise any
questions and comments on the performance or future
business directions of the Company and on any resolutions to
be considered at the annual general meeting and extraordinary
general meeting. The Audit Committee’s chairman was present
and available to answer questions raised at the annual general
meeting during the year.

(b) Results Presentation

The Company held the annual results presentation and
conducted an online live broadcast at the same time after
the results announcements. The chairman and the senior
management of the Company participated in and answered
questions about the Group’s operation and financial
performance.

(c) Investor conferences

The Company treasures every opportunity to communicate
with and explain its strategies to investors and Shareholders
through active participation in investors’ conferences hosted
by reputable investment banks, securities houses and research
institutes.
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EEXERRS ()

(d) Ongoing communication with the investor
community

Face-to-face meetings on irregular basis and an ongoing
schedule of teleconferencing calls with institutional investors
and research analysts were held throughout the year.
Questions and comments on the Company raised at the
meetings were summarized and reported to the senior
management team after the meetings. Regular meetings with
research analysts were organized which provided a different
channel for the analysts to communicate with the members of
the Board. All these serve the multi-purposes of maintaining
market surveillance and close contact with investors as well as
gathering constructive suggestions from the capital market.

(e) Arrange site visits and reverse roadshows

The Group from time to time arranged site visits to the Group’s
major property buildings for investors and analysts during
the year, which provided them not only the opportunities to
better understand the Group’s businesses, but also the daily
operations, and independent market surveillance.

() Electronic communication through the
Company’s website and professional investor
relations webpage

The Company’s website is www.zhongangrouphk.com
which contains important corporate data, Directors’ resume,
organizational structure, company news and other information.
The website contains a professional investor relations page,
which publishes information on interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars, so that the Shareholders and
investment communities of the Company can obtain the latest
information about the Company in a timely manner.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy of the Company. The Board is of
the view that the shareholders’ communication policy was adequate
and effective during the year under review, having considered the
communication channels in place to provide the Shareholders and the
investor community with information about the latest development of
the Group in a timely manner, and the various communication channels
established by the Company between itself and its Shareholders, investors
and other stakeholders to allow the Company to receive feedback
effectively.

For and on behalf of the Board
Zhong An Group Limited

Shi Zhongan
Chairman

The People’s Republic of China, 24 March 2023
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Biographical Details of Directors and

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr Shi Zhongan, aged 60, is the chairman of the Company and an
executive Director. He also serves as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and the Governance Committee. Mr Shi is also the chairman
and the non-executive director of CNC, a subsidiary of the Company,
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr Shi also holds
directorships in certain of the Company’s subsidiaries. Mr Shi is primarily
responsible for the strategic and development planning of the Group.
He also supervises project planning and the overall business operation.
Mr Shi joined the Group since the establishment of the first member of the
Group, Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Zhejiang Zhong‘an
Property Development Co., Ltd.) (“Zhong An Group”). Mr Shi served
as a tax officer in the finance and revenue bureau of Xiaoshan District of
Hangzhou (formerly known as Xiaoshan City) and the general manager
of Hangzhou Xiaoshan Milkyway Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
(“Milkyway Real Estate”). Mr Shi graduated from an Executive Master
of Business Administration program co-organized by the State University
of Arizona and Shanghai National Accounting College in June 2007. From
2005 to 2006, Mr Shi completed a program for executive officers, focusing
on globalization and real estate developers, co-organized by Harvard
University, Tsinghua University, The University of Hong Kong and the United
States Military Academy. In the same period, Mr Shi completed a program
for presidents of real estate companies organized by Zhejiang University.
Mr Shi obtained a doctorate degree in business administration jointly
offered by Shanghai Advanced Institute of Finance (SAIF) and the W. P.
Carey School of Business of Arizona State University (ASU), United States
of America in May 2017. Mr Shi has over 30 years of experience in property
development and property investment. Mr Shi is the sole director and the
sole shareholder of Whole Good Management Limited (“Whole Good”),
which is the controlling shareholder of the Group. Mr Shi is the father of
Ms Shi Jinfan, an executive Director.

Senior Management
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EFREREEAERE (B)

Mr Zhang Jiangang, aged 53, an executive Director, was appointed as
the chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 23 August 2018,
and is a member of the Governance Committee. He also holds directorship
in a subsidiary of the Company. He is primarily in charge of strategy
implementation and operation management. Mr Zhang joined the Group
in March 2003. He served as the general manager and vice president of
Zhong An Group and the general manager and assistant to the chairman of
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the Company). From
1995 to 2003, Mr Zhang served as the office manager, assistant to general
manager and vice general manager of Milkyway Real Estate. Mr Zhang has
28 years of experience in construction and property development.

Ms Shen Tiaojuan, aged 60, is an executive Director and the vice
president of the Company and also holds directorships in certain of its
subsidiaries. Ms Shen also serves as members of the Remuneration
Committee and the Governance Committee. She is primarily responsible
for the financial operation and fund management of the Group. She joined
the Group in December 1997. Prior to joining the Group, Ms Shen was the
chief accountant of White Swan Industry Co., Ltd. from 1995 to 1997, the
chief accountant of Hangzhou Hualing Electrics Co., Ltd. in 1994, and the
chief accountant and finance manager of Hangzhou Guanghua Chemical
Fibres Factory from 1980 to 1993. Ms Shen has 41 years of experience in
the financial operation of property development.

Ms Jin Ni, aged 47, has been appointed as an executive Director
responsible for human resources management, administrative management
and marketing operation with effect from 3 April 2020, and is a member
of the Remuneration Committee. She has over 22 years of experience in
sales, operations and management of commercial projects. She was the
deputy general manager, office manager and deputy sales manager from
August 1999 to October 2010 of Zhong An Group (an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company), the general manager of Hangzhou
Zhong An Highlong Commercial Buildings Co., Ltd. (an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company), from March 2006 to January 2010, the
assistant to the president of the Company from January 2010 to November
2010, the vice president of the Company from July 2011 to May 2014,
and the executive director and vice chairlady of the board of directors
of CNC from 9 July 2014 to 2 April 2020. Ms Jin graduated from the
Zhejiang University of Technology with a bachelor’s degree in administrative
management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EFREREEAERE (B)

Ms Shi Jinfan, aged 30, joined the Company since 2015 and has
been appointed as an executive Director responsible for capital market
operation with effect from 3 April 2020. She has been the assistant to
the president of the Company since March 2018 and the vice president
of Zhong An Capital (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) since
December 2018, responsible for equity investment business and assisting
in the management of asset management business of Zhong An Capital.
Ms Shi served as the assistant to the president of CNC and the assistant
to the president and general manager of Zhong An Movie and TV Culture
Development Co., Ltd. (an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company) successively. Ms Shi graduated from Queen Mary University
of London with a bachelor’s degree in engineering. Mr Shi Zhongan, an
executive Director, is the father of Ms Shi.

Independent non-executive Directors

Professor Pei Ker Wei (“Professor Pei”) (PhD), aged 66, has been
an independent non-executive Director since 17 October 2007. He
also serves as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and the
Audit Committee and members of the Nomination Committee and the
Governance Committee. Professor Pei worked as assistant professor,
associate professor and professor at Arizona State University, chairman of
North America Chinese Accounting Professors Academy and chairman of
the global commission of American Accounting Academy. He is currently a
member of the American Accounting Academy, he was the Executive Dean
of Chinese Programmes at the W.P. Carey School of Business of Arizona
State University, U.S. (2012-2018) and Associate Dean of the same school
between 2003-2012. Professor Pei is also serving as an independent
non-executive director of Want Want China Holdings Limited and Zhejiang
Expressway Co., Ltd., both companies shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange, and he had served as an independent non-executive director
of MMG Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange) between
2016-2019 and an independent director of Baoshan Iron & Steel Co., Ltd.,
(a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, between 2006-2019).
Professor Pei received his MBA from the Southern lllinois University, the
U.S. in 1981 and PhD from the University of North Texas, the U.S. in 1986.
Professor Pei has served as a consultant for a number of multi-national
companies, including Motorola Inc., Intel Corporation, Bank of America
Corporation, Dial Corporation, Raytheon Company, Cisco Systems Inc. and
Honeywell International Inc. Professor Pei is also an external director of
China Merchants Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EFREREEAERE (B)

Mr Zhang Huagiao, aged 60, was appointed an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 1 January 2013. He also serves as
a member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Governance Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr Zhang
graduated from the Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China with
a master’s degree in economics in 1986 and from the Australian National
University with a master’s degree in economics in January 1991. Mr Zhang
has about 30 years of experience in the financial sector. He is currently
an independent non-executive director of Fosun International Limited,
Logan Property Holdings Company Limited, Luye Pharma Group Ltd.
and Radiance Holdings (Group) Company Limited, the shares of these
companies are all listed on the Stock Exchange. On 20 January 2020, he
resigned as chairman and non-executive director of China Smartpay Group
Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. On 28
May 2021, he resigned as an independent non-executive director of China
Huirong Financial Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, and has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Haitong International Securities Group Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, on the same
day.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EFREREEAERE (B)

Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony (“Mr Fung’), aged 54, was appointed an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 26 November 2021.
He also serves as a member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr Fung has over 30
years of experience in accounting and corporate finance. He obtained his
bachelor’s degree in accountancy from Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in October 1992. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (ACCA) and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (HKICPA). From 1992 to 1999, Mr Fung successively
served as a staff accountant, semi senior accountant, senior accountant
and manager in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, primarily focused on audit
planning and control. From 1999 to 2007, he was a director of Winsmart
Consultants Limited, where he mainly advised the clients on corporate
finance and investor relations related matters. From 2008 to 2010,
Mr Fung served as the vice president of NagaCorp Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3918),
where he assisted in developing investor relations procedures, policies and
strategies for the company and in liaising with investors and analysts. From
2011 to 2014, Mr Fung was the chief financial officer and the company
secretary of Zall Development (Cayman) Holding Co., Ltd., now known as
Zall Smart Commence Group Ltd., a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2098), where he was responsible for
financial and compliance matters. From 2014 to 2017, Mr Fung was the
chief financial officer and the company secretary of Kong Sun Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 0295), where he was responsible for the overall financial operation,
company secretarial matters and investor relations. Mr Fung served as an
independent non-executive director of S&P International Holding Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1695) from July 2017 to October 2021. He currently serves as an
independent non-executive director of each of FY Financial (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd., a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8452), and KWG Living Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3913). On 30 December
2022, he resigned as the chief financial officer and the company secretary
of Beijing Enterprises Urban Resources Group Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3718).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EFREREEAERE (B)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Dong Shuixiao, aged 59, is the vice president of the Company
and also holds directorships in certain of its subsidiaries. He assists
the chairman in day-to-day operations. He joined the Group since
1997. He has served as deputy finance manager, general manager of
certain subsidiaries of the Group, vice president of the Company, and
executive director and chief executive officer of CNC. Prior to joining
the Group, he was the accountant and deputy finance manager of
Xiaoshan Material Bureau from 1985 to 1993. From 1994 to 1996, he
was the manager of Hangzhou Xiaoshan Hongsen Material Co., Ltd. and
responsible for operational management. Mr Dong received his college
diploma in industrial and civil construction from the China University of
Geosciences. He has over 27 years of experience in property operation and
management.

Mr Shi Haibin, aged 49, is the vice president of the Company, and
responsible for Investment expansion, product research and development
of the company. Mr Shi joined the Group in September 2019. Prior to this,
he served as the deputy general manager of east China region and the
deputy general manager of Shanghai business division of C&D Real Estate
Corporation Limited from October 2015 to March 2019. Mr Shi obtained a
master’s degree in MBA from Xiamen university in 2003. He has 27 years of
experience in real estate management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EFREREEAERE (B)

Mr Shi Nanlu, aged 40, has been appointed as an executive director
and chief executive officer of CNC with effect from 3 April 2020. He is
responsible for the daily operation and management, strategic investments
and new business exploration of CNC. He joined the Group in June 2010.
He has served as the manager of the capital management department,
manager of the fund management department and deputy director of the
Group. He has been a vice president of CNC since June 2015. He has
many years of experience in financial management. Mr Shi received his
undergraduate degree in finance and accounting from The University of
Manitoba in Canada in June 2007.

Mr Liu Bo, aged 35, has been appointed as the executive director and
vice president of CNC with effect from 3 April 2020. He is responsible
for overall daily operations and management of CNC. He joined CNC
in July 2016. Prior to this, he worked in the investment department of
He Jun Capital from December 2012 to July 2013, and in the business
development department of Wan Xiang Trust from August 2013 to June
2016. He has many years of experience in financial investment and fund
management. Mr Liu holds a Master’s Degree in Actuarial Science from the
Boston University in December 2012.
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Directors’ Report
SEEHRE

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report to Shareholders
and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding. The principal
activities of the Group are property development, leasing and hotel
operation. The nature of the principal activities has not changed during the
year under review.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year under review and the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group at that date are set out in the financial statements
on pages 112 to 119.

The Board proposed not to declare a final dividend for the year 2022 (2021:
Nil).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as
appropriate, is set out on page 308. This summary does not form part of
the audited financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW, FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

A discussion on the business review of the Group and an analysis of the
performance of the Group based on certain financial key performance
indicators for the year under review are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment and investment
properties of the Group and the Company during the year under review are
set out in notes 12 and 13 to the financial statements respectively. Further
details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on pages 206 to
220.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the ordinary Shares and share options of the
Company during the year under review are set out respectively in notes 33
and 34 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and note 35 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s accumulated losses amounted
to RMB319,271,000 and the Company’s share premium amounted to
RMB2,989,383,000. By passing an ordinary resolution of the Company,
dividends may also be declared and paid out of share premium account
or any other fund or account which can be authorized for this purpose in
accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may distribute dividends by way of cash or by other
means that the Board considers appropriate. Any proposed distribution of
dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board and, where applicable,
the approval of the Shareholders. The Board will consider various factors
before declaring or recommending any payment of dividends. These
factors include the results of operation of the business of the Group, the
retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each
of the members of the Group, the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance, the general business conditions and strategies, the Group’s
expected working capital requirements and future expansion plans, the
general economic conditions and business cycle of the Group’s business,
the future prospects of the business of the Group, Shareholders’ interests,
statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividend and other
internal or external factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Directors’ Report (Continued)

ERgHRS (@)

BEERRERIREME

REBKRAABREIBEBERNNE R KRB
BB ENESEHFBE D NN M BTRE
MisE12RK 13 AEBMBEY XN E— T B
N EB206FE 2208 ©

R A T f B

RAB R OIEENEER A ERERNZE)
SEIB D BB B R R MIFE33 /B4 ©

i

AEBRARBDNEIBEEANBEEEEFT
BENEHEEEH RV BEI|RRMFESS5-

Ak

20225128318 A AR EREIEXRS
AR %319,271,0007% » & A B BRI BB
A AR #2,989,383,0007T © &8 AN B E @R
EEER REIFIERDEERIIZIRME
SEEBNBAMILERENTNEMNES
FERP BRI o

fg BER

KA URENEFTERXRBEENEM
HNRER S - EARFRREREDARE
EFWERE WESKRERIE (HER) -
AERNEZZERAREA EFGRKE
BEZERFZ -ZERRCEFEREBNE
BEE ARBRAEEZNERTNER
W kA NR#ESR NERZER KRR
MBERR —REBRAREE KEER
HEEESHBRRARERNE  FEEFHE
BRERCERIREBBR - AEBES
BIRRATR RRED R EMNEER
EERVUREMEST TR RESHAR
FIMEBAZR o

RLEMBRAE —TZEEFR

79



Directors’ Report (Continued)

ERGHRS (@)

80

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES RERe st 2
(A) Zhong An Group Limited — the Scheme A RLZEEBRAE]—stE

On 15 May 2009, the Shareholders approved the adoption of a share
option scheme (the “Scheme”) of the Company pursuant to and in
compliance with the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
The salient terms of the rules of the Scheme are set out below:

1.

Purpose of the Scheme:

As incentives or rewards to the eligible participants under the
Scheme for their contribution to the Group.

200958150 IRIER KB LM
FRAF1I7ERT  BRERAERAETR
Bl 2 (TEHE)) ~stEFRAIN
FEFEREFDOT -

1. FEIER:

FrmstBl G ERSHEY
REBPTEFERBI R HER

2. Participants of the Scheme: 2. ErEINZEE
(@ any employee (whether full time or part time, including @ ARAE NHEMKEBLQE
any executive Director but excluding any non-executive RAEBEBTARERE
Director) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or FEREEZNEMAE
any equity entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which any B (REEERR]) NTE
members of the Group holds an equity interest; fAEE (FwmATHIFR
B OEERARITES
ERBIEIFERITES) ;
(b) any non-executive Directors (including independent ) ERAB NHEMKEBRE
non-executive Directors) of the Company or any of its LM EBENEM
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; FHMITES (BEBIF
BITESR) ;
()  any supplier of goods or services to any member of the () FEBEMEKERBWE
Group or any Invested Entity; fAfMEEER 2 EMEm
WARFSHAER ;
(d) any customer of any member of the Group or any ) FEBEMEKERBIWE
Invested Entity; AFMEESRENEAR
B
(e)  any person or entity that provides research, development ) MAEEFXAKREARR

or other technological support to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;
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f any Shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(@ any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(h)  any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares available for subscription:

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes adopted by the Group shall not exceed 30 per cent.
of the share capital of the Company in issue from time to time.

Subject to the rules of the Scheme, the Company may seek
approval of its Shareholders in general meeting to refresh the
General Scheme Limit (as referred to in paragraph 4 below)
provided that the total number of Shares which may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Group
must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of
approval of the refreshed limit. For the purpose of calculating
the refreshed limit, such options (including those outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with the Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Group) previously
granted under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Group will not be counted.
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EEERE (B

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme:

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of all options (excluding such options
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Group)
to be granted under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue on the date of approval of the Scheme
(the “General Scheme Limit") or upon the date of approval
of the refreshment of the General Scheme Limit (and, in the
case of the Company, not exceeding 236,763,540 Shares
(the “Refreshed General Scheme Limit”), representing 10%
of the total issued share capital of the Company as at 23
September 2013).

As disclosed in the announcement dated 12 October 2017, the
Bonus Issue (details of which are contained in the Company’s
circular dated 8 September 2017) was made on the basis
of one Bonus Share for every one existing Share held by
qualifying Shareholders whose names are on the register
of members of the Company on the record date (that is, 4
October 2017). As at the record date, the Company had
2,918,298,400 Shares in issue and, accordingly, an aggregate
of 2,918,298,400 bonus Shares were issued under the bonus
issue on 12 October 2017 on the above basis. As a result of
the bonus issue, the exercise price of such outstanding options
and the number of Shares to be allotted and issued upon
full exercise of the subscription rights attaching thereto were
adjusted pursuant to the terms of the Scheme. On 12 October
2017, the adjusted number of Shares that can be subscribed
for upon exercise of the outstanding options in full immediately
after the bonus issue was 360,933,322 Shares.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Scheme:

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to
be issued upon the exercise of the options granted under
the Scheme and other share option scheme(s) of the Group
(if any) (including both exercised or outstanding options) to
each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1 per cent of the issued share capital of the Company for
the time being (the “Individual Limit"). Any further grant
of options, which would result in the Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be
granted to such participant (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) under the Scheme and other share option
scheme(s) of the Group (if any), in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of such further grant in excess of the
Individual Limit shall be subject to Shareholders’ approval in
general meeting of the Company with such participant and his
associates abstaining from voting.

Amount payable on acceptance of option:

A nominal amount of HK$1 is payable upon acceptance of the
grant of an option.

Minimum period for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised and the exercise period of the option:

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in
the offer to a grantee, there is no minimum period under the
Scheme for the holding of an option before it can be exercised.
An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and
notified by the Directors to the relevant grantee, which period
may commence on a day after the date upon which the offer
for the grant of options is made but shall end in any event not
later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option subject
to the provisions of early termination thereof.
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8. Basis of determining the exercise price of an option:

The exercise price shall be determined by the Directors but
shall not be less than the highest of the nominal value of the
Shares; the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant; and the average closing price of the
Shares on the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant.

9. Performance targets:
Unless the Directors otherwise determined and stated in the
offer for the grant of the options to a grantee, a grantee is not
required to achieve any performance targets before any options
granted under the Scheme can be exercised.

10. Life of the Scheme:

The Scheme was expired on 14 May 2019.

OUTSTANDING OPTIONS UNDER THE SCHEME

Details of options (the “Options”) granted under the Scheme and
outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year under review are as

8. EEBRETEENEE:
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RUT= BN REE RO
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follows:
Outstanding at
Outstanding at Number of Number of 31 December Exercise price
1 January 2022 Options Options lapsed/ 2022 of Option
120228 exercised cancelled R20225 Date of HKS$ per Share
Name of participants 1818 BT BEM/ 5 128318 Options granted  Exercise period BRETEE
SHERR HRATHE FEREHE e A B RTE i =hC] Eoxid il SRET
Category 4: Others 51,000,000 - - 51,000,000 10 July 2013 10 July 2013 to 0.73
S48 Hth 2013575108 9 July 2023
2013E7B10HE
2023%7H9R
(Note 1)
(Haz1)
Total 51,000,000 - - 51,000,000
st
Notes: st -

1 On 10 July 2013, the Company had granted 78,000,000 Options which
may be exercisable between 10 July 2013 and 9 July 2023. The closing
price of the Share immediately before the date of granting the Options
was HK$1.43 per Share.
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Other details of the Scheme are set out in the section headed “Directors’
and Chief Executives’ interests in securities of the Company” and note 34
to the financial statements.

(B) Zhong An Group Limited — the New Share Option
Scheme

On 6 June 2019, the Shareholders approved the adoption of a
new share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) of
the Company pursuant to and in compliance with the requirements
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. No share option was granted,
lapsed, exercised or cancelled by the Company under the New Share
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The salient terms of the rules of the New Share Option Scheme are
set out below:

1.  Purpose of the New Share Option Scheme:

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant options to the Eligible Participants referred
to in paragraph (2) below to recognize and reward their
contributions and as incentives for retaining them for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group for the long-
term growth and development of the Group.

2. Participants of the New Share Option Scheme:

The Directors may, at their absolute discretion, invite any
person belonging to any of the following classes of participants
(the “Eligible Participants”) to take up options to subscribe
for Shares:

(@ any employee (whether full time or part time, including
any executive director but excluding any non-executive
director) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries, or any
entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which any member of
the Group holds any equity interest;
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any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

any person or entity who has contributed or may
contribute as a party to any joint venture, business
alliance or other business arrangement with the Group to
the overall development and growth of the Group.
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Maximum number of Shares available for subscription:

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the New Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes adopted by the Group shall not
exceed 30 per cent. of the relevant class of securities of the
Company in issue from time to time.

Subject to the rules of the New Share Option Scheme, the
Company may seek approval of its Shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the New General Scheme Limit (as referred
to in paragraph 4 below) provided that the total number of
Shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Group must not
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval
of the refreshed limit. For the purpose of calculating the
refreshed limit, such options (including those outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s)
of the Group) previously granted under the New Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Group
will not be counted.

Total number of Shares available for issue under the
New Share Option Scheme:

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of all options (excluding such options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Group) to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Group must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue on the date
of approval of the New Share Option Scheme (the “New
General Scheme Limit”) or upon the date of approval of the
refreshment of the New General Scheme Limit (and, in the
case of the Company, not exceeding 581,039,080 Shares (the
“Refreshed New General Scheme Limit”"), representing
10% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at 6
June 2019). As at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022, the
number of share option that remained available for grant under
the New Share Option Scheme was 581,039,080.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
New Share Option Scheme:

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon the exercise of the options granted under the
New Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Group (including both exercised or outstanding Options) to
each grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
the relevant class of securities of the Company in issue (the
“Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options in excess of
the Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of such further grant must be separately approved
by the Shareholders in general meeting of the Company with
such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if such
grantee is a connected person of the Company) abstaining
from voting.

Amount payable on acceptance of option:

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
the grant of an option.

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised and the exercise period of
the option:

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days
from the date of the offer for grant of the option.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the New Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence from the date of acceptance of
the offer for the grant of options but shall end in any event not
later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option subject
to the provisions for early termination thereof. Unless otherwise
determined by the Directors and stated in the offer for the grant
of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period required
under the New Share Option Scheme for the holding of an
option before it can be exercised.
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8. Basis of determining the exercise price of an option:

The subscription price for Shares under the New Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the Directors but shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of the offer for grant, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant; and
(i) the nominal value of a Share.

9. Performance targets:

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and stated in
the offer of the grant of options to a grantee, a grantee is
not required to achieve any performance targets before any
options granted under the New Share Option Scheme can be
exercised. No performance targets are specifically stipulated
under the New Share Option Scheme.

10. Life of the New Share Option Scheme:

The New Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on the date on which the New Share
Option Scheme is adopted and will therefore expire on 5 June
2029.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of Shares
available for issue under the New Share Option Scheme was
581,039,080 Shares, representing approximately 10.31% of
the total number of issued Shares.

The number of Shares that may be issues in respect of options
granted under the Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme
during the year under review represents 0.90% of the issued
Shares.

China New City Commercial Development Limited —
the CNC Scheme

On 20 May 2015, the shareholders of the Company approved the
adoption of a share option scheme (the “CNC Scheme”) of CNC,
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands whose issued shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1321). The adoption of the CNC Scheme was
also approved by the shareholders of CNC on 20 May 2015. The
salient terms of the rules of the CNC Scheme are set out below:
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1.  Purpose of the CNC Scheme

As incentives or rewards to the eligible participants under the
CNC Scheme for their contribution to the CNC Group.

2.  Participants of the CNC Scheme

(@ any employee (whether full-time or part-time, including
any executive director but excluding any non-executive
director) of CNC, any of CNC'’s subsidiaries or any entity
(the “CNC Invested Entity”) in which any member of the
CNC Group holds an equity interest (the “CNC Eligible
Employees’);

(b) any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of CNC, any of the CNC'’s
subsidiaries or any CNC Invested Entity;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
CNC Group or any CNC Invested Entity;

(d) any customer of any member of the CNC Group or any
CNC Invested Entity;

(e) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the
CNC Group or any CNC Invested Entity;

f any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the CNC Group or any CNC Invested Entity;
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(@ any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the CNC Group;

and, for the purposes of the CNC Scheme, the offer for the
grant of CNC option may be made to any company wholly
owned by one or more persons belonging to any of the above
classes of participants.

Maximum number of shares of CNC (the “CNC
Shares”) available for subscription

The maximum number of CNC Shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all outstanding CNC options granted and
yet to be exercised under the CNC Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) adopted by the CNC Group must not
in aggregate exceed 30% of the share capital of CNC in issue
from time to time.

Subject to the rules of the CNC Scheme, CNC may seek
approval of its shareholders in general meeting to refresh
the Refreshed CNC General Scheme Limit (as referred to in
paragraph 4 below) provided that the total number of CNC
Shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of
all CNC options to be granted under the CNC Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the CNC Group must
not exceed 10% of the CNC Shares in issue as at the date of
approval of the refreshed limit. For the purpose of calculating
the refreshed limit, such CNC options (including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with
the CNC Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
CNC Group) previously granted under the CNC Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the CNC Group will not be
counted.
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Total number of CNC Shares available for issue under
the CNC Scheme

The total number of CNC Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all CNC options (excluding such
CNC options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the CNC Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the CNC Group) to be granted under the CNC Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the CNC Group must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the CNC Shares in issue on the
date of approval of the CNC Scheme on 20 May 2015 (the
“CNC General Scheme Limit") or upon the date of approval
of the refreshment of the CNC General Scheme Limit on 11
June 2020 (that is, not exceeding 201,076,800 CNC Shares,
representing 10% of the total issued share capital of CNC as
at that date) (the “Refreshed CNC General Scheme Limit”).
As at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022, the number of
CNC options that remained available for grant under the CNC
Scheme were 27,276,800 and 201,076,800, respectively.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
CNC Scheme

The total number of CNC Shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon the exercise of the options granted under
the CNC Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
CNC Group (including both exercised or outstanding options)
to each grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
the issued share capital of CNC for the time being (the “CNC
Individual Limit”). Any further grant of CNC options in excess
of the CNC Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of such further grant must be separately
approved by the CNC shareholders in general meeting with
such grantee and his associates abstaining from voting.

Amount payable on acceptance of CNC option

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
the grant of a CNC option.
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7.  Minimum period for which a CNC option must be held 7. REBRETETEAISERSE
before it can be exercised and the exercise period of a A [ 7 3k v B AR E Y IR (G HA PR
CNC option BB AR 1T
PR
Unless otherwise determined by the CNC directors and stated PRIFEFEMBTESRITE
in the offer to a grantee, there is no minimum period under the FWRETFEEANENRSH
CNC Scheme for the holding of a CNC option before it can B BRIPEF SRR &S
be exercised. A CNC option may be exercised in accordance R EITEI AR
with the terms of the CNC Scheme at any time during a period i B A R RIS HAIR © P E
to be determined and notified by the CNC directors to the ST IR T B AR RE Tk 3k P B T 4L
relevant grantee, which period may commence on a day after MErEMER AP RIS E
the date upon which the offer for the grant of CNC options is EETRASHERARE AN
made but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from B BERF 1T o SZEARB A I EH
the date of grant of the CNC option subject to the provisions of HIEPEMIETERERZE
early termination thereof. HEH 7RG EEmOAA
BBARBEEPEIETRER
BEHEs 5 S HIER K
LEESZFT IR ©
8. Performance targets 8. EWIEE
Unless the CNC directors otherwise determined and stated in BRIEFEFIBmEEETERM
the offer for the grant of CNC options to a grantee, a grantee AR IR W A R I T A A
is not required to achieve any performance targets before B SITRE LR SRR
any CNC options granted under the CNC Scheme can be F {n] AR 3% £ B0 7 39 T 5T B IR
exercised. MR EFHEHmEREN FTE
2 AR ABBEREAER
$51Z o
9. Basis of determining the exercise price of a CNC 9. EEHEIMTERETES
option HEE
The exercise price shall be a price determined by the CNC TEBREATENEHESE
directors but shall not be less than the highest of the nominal T ERMFERUT=EFNE
value of a CNC Share; the closing price of the CNC Shares on =% . PEMBEmROEEF
the Stock Exchange; and the average closing price of CNC B8 37 30, 71 P 10 7 Bt S PR RO U 7T
Shares on the Stock Exchange for the five business days B -ERORBREEEEHBEH
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant. A 8 & 2 H R PT F19
W&o
10. Life of the CNC Scheme 10. HPEIFRET IR A RER

The CNC Scheme will expire on 19 May 2025.

PR ER #7380 T 5T B 12202555 8
19H @ ©

PEA ¥ B B 0 AR 3% o B R 4 T 5t

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of CNC Shares
available for issue under the CNC Scheme was 201,076,800 CNC
Shares, representing 10% of the total number of issued CNC Shares.

B> ol 1T AP BT I TR AR 15 AR B
#201,076,8008% A B #r i 3 AR 15 » 1
B 81T A0 BT I T AR 1D A2 #010% ©
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11. Share options granted under the CNC Scheme 11. FEfHEHEA2ZERHNE
P HE
During the year under review, details of the movements of the REIBFE BREZEHHE
share options are summarised as follows: BN -
Number of  Outstanding Exercise
Outstanding Number of share options at  Date of price of
at 1 January share options lapsed/ 31 December  share options Exercise share option
Name of Grantees 2022 exercised cancelled 2022 granted period HKS$ per share
#20226 #20226
1A1E  EBfEERE BXRY/EH 128316  FERR#E B HETEE
ERARTE R ATE 8 R EHE WATE EHBEH fTHEHAR SRET
Employees 154,682,000 - (154,682,000) - 13 February 2020
BE8 13 February to 12 February
Suppliers 13,904,000 - (13,904,000) - 2020 2022 0.998
AR 202028130 202052813 Z
Advisors 5,214,000 - (5,214,000) - 202252F 128
|
Total: 173,800,000 - (173,800,000) -
it
Save as disclosed above, no other share options were granted, PR EIEEEN  REBEFERN
exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the Year under review. BmEMBEREERE 176
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS BhiBERE

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the MBS EEHERENELRELEEEN
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company &> AR EIA BER LA RIRA REE
to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders. SREMRMG -

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS FTEEZRRILER

Aggregate sales attributable to the five largest customers of the Group AEBAAEFPEENEHEERE (KR
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue for the year under REIBEFRNUALEEE D F30% °
review.

Aggregate purchases from to the five largest suppliers of the Group RNEE R ABEEEIGBRER (G4 %E

accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for the year E ROl F AR EEAREE D FL30% ©
under review.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this report
were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr Shi Zhongan

Mr Zhang Jiangang
Ms Shen Tiaojuan
Ms Jin Ni

Ms Shi Jinfan

Independent non-executive Directors
Professor Pei Ker Wei

Mr Zhang Huagiao

Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony

In accordance with article 108(A) and 108(B) of the Articles, Mr Shi
Zhongan, Mr Zhang Jiangang and Ms Shen Tiaojuan will retire by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”), and being eligible
will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

No Director (including the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the AGM)
has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company still considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
subsisting during or at the end of the year under review in which a Director
(or an entity connected with a Director) either directly or indirectly, is or was
materially interested.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ emoluments on a named basis are set out in note 8
to the financial statements.

Remuneration for each of the Directors are determined based on, among
others, emoluments paid by comparable companies, his/her time of
commitment and responsibilities towards the Company and whether
the remuneration package is competitively attractive to retain him/her as
director.

The Company and CNC has each maintained a share option scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the eligible participants
for their contributions to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to any of the Directors or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for
the period ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

EERH M

RAREERBEZERHFMNFE SNMH
HRRMIFES

REFZHFWERE HTPEHE) JELER
REFZMHME BREERERB M
EHREURESRRBFAAEZEE MU
REMFETRERSIHEBHEESES
BEERSERENMETE-

ARBRPEMET S B ER —BERE
B LA ERSBERRSHAERZ
B R SRR K 2R o

B E2022F12831 0 » AN E B I # B {E (A
BEFNRERSHFMA TGS EFAK
A0 ZS 5= B o 0 A 2 £ [ 12 BY B2 B o B B
HE-

SEEEEINSET

HZE2022F 12831 HILAEIEHREER AR
ZEBNARRII T

Number

of persons

N

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 752 1,000,00078 7T 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,0017 75 22,000,000 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 75 E2,500,0007 7T 1
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS = $7§’§§ THAEBREAEE
IN SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY FHHE =

As at 31 December 2022, to the best knowledge of the Company, the R2022F 12831 H A RBIMMFA EE R
interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the RABFETHRAERARE REMBKE

Company in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company B (REAFRBAER (TES RS
or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the EXVEBFTIEZ HE) 2D HERERN RE
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register HEER AL ARER S RIS KRG $H352
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified BEEZELME MR A kiR
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for J:FE%E A+ ETETAESETES

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix RGZIEEFHBBTHNERRNT R
10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows: Frz R EBIMT !
(1) Long positions in Shares of the Company 1) RERBERGHBEE
Number of Shares held and nature of interest in the Company: RAEARBFENRMDHEE kR4
=

Approximate
percentage of

Capacity and Number and interest (Note 2) Long/Short
Name of Director  nature of interest class of securities held BRI position
EEHA B kEEEE FR¥s8 5 88 KR Bt #z2) %/ KB
Mr Shi Zhongan Interest of controlled 3,262,411,200 Shares of HK$0.1 57.89% Long
corporation (Note 1) each in the share capital of the
Company
il TESEEER 1) ARBRAFGREBEARTZ o=
3,262,411,2008% f& 15
Notes: (1)  These Shares are held by Whole Good, the entire issued Kz (1) RS EWhole Good ﬁ
share capital of which is solely and beneficially owned by B H2PEETRAEAR
Mr Shi Zhongan. Mr Shi Zhongan is the sole director of HE R EBmER ° ﬁm
Whole Good. R 54 23Whole GoodHd
W—EEo
(2) The calculation is based on the total number of @ =B a2tk RERN
5,635,809,800 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2022. 2 022 £E1 28314
5,635,809,8008% B & 17 5%
HmstERE -
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(2) Long positions in underlying shares of the Company:

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors and chief executives
of the Company had or were deemed under the SFO to have any
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the

Model Code.

(8) Long positions in shares of the associated
corporation

Number of shares held and nature of interest in CNC, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, whose shares are listed on the

Stock Exchange:

@

RARBIHBERMS TS -

R2022F12B31H  EE R ARNE F
BITHAEMER AN REBH X
B (REH R BERASEXVEBFTIEZ
W) 2R BRI M EREEES
B ARIEE H R E KA 5E3521%
GFEZERMzEAERSRAE X
RIFIZZEFR BB TG A B Bt
R 2 AR E -

REE QBRI S
RAARFEAMBEATREHED

(R P BE PR 7)) PR IR 19 B
BriEmMtE :

Approximate

Capacity and Number and class of percentage of Long/Short

Name of Director  nature of interest securities held interest position

EEHSY BRREDEE FRFE 58 B RER AT WA

Mr Shi Zhongan Interest of controlled 31,308,594 shares of HK$0.1 1.56% Long
corporation (Note) each in the capital of CNC

MRzt REGEEER (1a) REHB TR AREREE 59,

0.17%752.31,303,594 8% f& 1%

Note: These shares are held by Whole Good, the entire issued share
capital of which is solely and beneficially owned by Mr Shi
Zhongan. Mr Shi Zhongan is the sole director of Whole Good.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business in which the
Company, any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company
was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly

or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year under review.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN THE
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, to the best knowledge of the Company, the
following parties (other than Directors or chief executives of the Company)
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company, as being
directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be interested in 5% or more of
the issued share capital of the Company:

Directors’ Report (Continued)
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/

FTERRNAQEEFHIED

AN TP » 12022128318 » (&S
FARNBEBTHABII KA IRIEES
KHBE KRB 5336 EE 2 B MATaC ik
HEFTHEARRET  BENEIZER AW
BABREARNBBETRAS%HMU LR

Z AW

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Number of issued share Long/Short
Name Capacity Shares held capital (Note 2) position
FRAFBET
AT ST
%1B 13 FrERZ#E (Hyzt2) %/ %R
Whole Good (Note 1) (Ft5%1) Beneficial owner 3,262,411,200 57.89% Long
BEEBA 0=
Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation 1,178,087,280 20.90% Long
(“Haitong Securities”) (Note 3) 591
ZEEERER (23)
Interest of controlled corporation 10,000,000 0.18% Short
(Note 4) KB
ZEGEEER (it4)
Unlisted derivations 160,000,000 2.84% Long
FLMITETIAR 0=
Notes: Wt

(1) Whole Good is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr Shi Zhongan, its sole
director. Mr Shi is the the chairman of the Company and an executive
Director. Mr Shi is deemed or taken to be interested in the 3,262,411,200
Shares held by Whole Good by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

2) The calculation is based on the total number of 5,635,809,800 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2022.

(3) 1,178,087,280 Shares (long position) are beneficially owned by Haitong
International Financial Solutions Limited and Haitong International
Securities Company Limited, which are indirect subsidiaries of Haitong
Securities.

(4) 10,000,000 Shares (short position) are beneficially owned by Haitong
International Financial Solutions Limited, which is an indirect subsidiary of
Haitong Securities.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022 and the date of this
report, no person, other than a Director or chief executive of the Company,
had interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

(1) Whole GoodH HM—EEHR2EELE

REBREB MPREEATRNTEER

HITES - RIEESF RS BF G EXVES

M E W R A EERWhole Good A
193,262,411,20082 B 17 R A #E 4 o

(2 ZEDLEHIRER2022F12831HEH
5,635,809,8008 B # 1T R M T EISH o

(3 1,178,087,2808% (¥ &) HHaitong
International Financial Solutions Limited Az
Haitong International Securities Company
Limited BEm# A > 2% A8 #AHaitong
Securitiestd & F A ©

(4)  10,000,0008% (3% 7&) HiHaitong International
Financial Solutions LimitedB&m#EA » %A
B] AHaitong SecuritiesBI 1% F A F) ©

B ECRTIREEE 4b > 20228 12831H K
RBEAL METMAL ESHEALT
FEBTHABRIN R4 A TR KRR
B& 1 R B AIRIE S 5 R HIE 15455336
BREFENS M ERTRAE

RLEMBRAE —TZEEFR
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RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the Group are set out in
note 39 to the financial statements.

None of the related party transactions constituted non-exempt connected
transactions or non-exempt continuing connected transactions in
accordance with the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2022, and the Company confirms that it has complied with the applicable
disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
the relevant transactions.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior to the
issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

The Company has arranged liability insurance for Directors and senior
management officers of the Company with appropriate coverage to
indemnify them from and against any legal actions arising from the
execution of their duties, and such insurance and indemnity was in force
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and remain effective as at the
date of this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to approximately RMB51,017,000 (2021: RMB6,608,000).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal risks and uncertainties are set out in the paragraphs
under “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Company strives to balance business growth with environmental
protection.

As the major businesses of the Group are property development, leasing
and hotel operation in China, we (i) evaluate, manage and mitigate from
time to time environmental issues within the context of the Group’s
business activities and objectives for the conservation of energy and other
natural resources; (i) devise environmental policies and measures for the
Group so as to keep them in line with the standards required under the
applicable laws, rules and regulations to the extent practicable; and (iii)
apply our philosophy on environment protection to our supply chain and
operations. These include but not limited to the scrutiny in the selection
of our business partners or services providers and award the bids of
construction and other projects of which the Group is involved to reputable
and environmentally-conscientious corporations and contractors with good
compliant and environmental records.

Several hotels as operated by the Group have been promoting
environmental protection policies for energy management, water
management and waste management to minimize the ecological footprint
of the hotel operation for years. To name a few, all lightings and appliances
will be replaced in phases by energy saving ones. Guest rooms have room
card insert energy saving switches and reduction in paper usage in the
office and promote storage of files in electronic forms instead of in paper
files. On the front of our leasing business, we are careful in the selection of
our lessees and implemented environmental policies and measures in the
operation of leasing business, including the management of the properties
leased by the Group.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in the workplace
through (i) appropriately designing, constructing, maintaining and, if
required, modifying facilities wherever applicable; (ii) using or to replacing
gradually existing appliances with more energy efficient appliances for
lighting, heating and ventilation systems to reduce energy consumption and
(iiiy raising awareness of environmental protection at workplace.

During the year under review, there had been no record of material breach
or violation by the Group of applicable environmental laws, rules or
regulations.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has kept itself abreast with the development of laws, rules and
regulations which have or may have an impact on, and has been abiding
the laws, rules and regulations applicable to, the operation of its business.

The Group has implemented procedures and policies, employed
suitable personnel and engaged professional advisers to ensure that (i)
such approvals, permits and licences necessary for the operation of its
businesses are obtained; and (i) its operations are being run in line with the
applicable laws, rules and regulations. During the year under review, there
had been no material violation of the applicable laws, rules and regulations
by the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Company is committed to maintaining, and has maintained good
relationships with, its employees, customers and suppliers with a view to
fostering better mutual understanding and/or a sense of belonging towards
the Company. This is conducive to implementing the Group’s strategies
and business objectives, as well as the Group’s business development and
sustainability in the long run.

The Group believes that our people are critical success factors to the
Group’s competitiveness in the market. To attract high calibre people
and solidify the management of the Group, eligible participants (including
employees of the Group) may be granted options to subscribe for Shares
pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the Company. The
Group also provides continuous learning and training programs to its
employees to enhance their skills and knowledge, so as to maintain their
competitiveness.

Customer satisfaction with our services and products has a profound
effects on our profitability. Our dedicated team of sales people are in
constant communication with our customers and potential customers to
uncover and create customer needs and help customers make informed
decisions. To grasp the market trend is critical for the Group to timely adjust
our operating strategies to fit the market requirement.

Collaborative and mutual beneficial business relationship with our strategic
suppliers and contractors is of important to achieve higher levels of
efficiency and competitive advantage. The Group evaluates the capabilities
of our supplier and contractors to determine if they are able to meet the
requirement and needs of the Group from time to time.
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Developing and maintaining good relationship with various commercial
banks and financial institutions always are our main tasks because our
capital-intensive projects require on-going funding to maintain continuous
growth.

ISSUE OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The Company did not carry out any fund raising activities by way of issue of
equity securities for the year ended 31 December 2022.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules, the changes in Directors’
information are set out below:

On 30 December 2022, Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony resigned as the chief
financial officer and the company secretary of Beijing Enterprises Urban
Resources Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 3718).

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Details of the matters that occurred and bore significant effect to the Group
between the year end date and the date of this report are set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
5 June 2023 to Thursday, 8 June 2023 (both days inclusive), during which
period no transfer of shares can be registered. In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the AGM, all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 2 June 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

ERGHRS (@)

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.20 OF THE LISTING
RULES

The Directors were not aware of any circumstances resulting in the

responsibility of disclosure under Rule 13.20 of the Listing Rules regarding
the provision of advances by the Company to an entity.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for its re-appointment as auditor of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Zhong An Group Limited

Shi Zhongan

Chairman

The People’s Republic of China, 24 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

EY:x

To the shareholders of Zhong An Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhong An
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 112 to 293, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BizEEmRS (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

FTEERER

EANERNARET
EBREE

Valuation of investment properties

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s investment
properties amounted to RMB5,277 million, which
represented 9% of the Group's total assets.
Investment properties were stated at fair value.
Management was required to exercise significant
judgement in determining the fair value of investment
properties as disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group engaged an external valuation expert
to perform the valuation of investment properties.
The valuation methods applied included the direct
comparison approach and income approach which
involved various assumptions, such as estimated
rental revenues, discount rates, occupancy rates,
historical transactions and market knowledge.

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3
and 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

We performed audit procedures including:

We evaluated the competence and
independence of the external valuation
expert engaged by the Group. We reviewed
rental contracts, compared the prices of the
investment properties with the unit prices
of adjacent similar properties that were
benchmarked in the valuation process,
assessed assumptions relating to future market
rents, compared the current prices in the
active market for adjacent similar properties,
and assessed the discount rates and future
maintenance costs applied based on historical
experiences with the involvement of our
internal valuation specialists, who focused on
the term vyield, reversionary yield and market
unit rent. We also assessed the adequacy of
the disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B EmRS (8)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

TEERFHE (@)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Net realisable value of completed properties held for sale and properties under development

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s properties
under development and completed properties held
for sale amounted to RMB35,599 million, which
represented 60% of the Group's total assets. These
properties were stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The net realisable value was
estimated by management based on expected selling
prices, the cost of completion of properties under
development, and the costs to be incurred in selling
the properties based on prevailing market conditions.
The estimation of the net realisable value involved
significant judgement.

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3,
14 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment assessment of non-current assets

During the year ended 31 December 2022, several
subsidiaries of the Group were loss-making, as a
result, there is a risk that the carrying amount of non-
current assets, including other intangible assets,
right-of-use assets, and property and equipment, of
these subsidiaries may not be fully recoverable. As at
31 December 2022, other intangible assets, right-of-
use assets, and property and equipment of the Group
were RMB14 million, RMB130 million and RMB2,497
million, respectively.

The Group’s management reviews the performance
of its subsidiaries at the end of each reporting period
to identify if any subsidiaries experienced operational
difficulties and suffered from prolonged negative
financial performance.

We performed audit procedures including:

We reviewed the Group’s net realisable value
estimation and checked the expected selling
prices to prices of similar properties presold
by the Group recently or adjacent properties
sold. For the cost of completion of properties
under development and the costs to be
incurred in selling the properties, we evaluated
management’s estimation methodology,
which had been updated to reflect the latest
information and the refined construction and
selling costs budget process.

We performed audit procedures including:

We have evaluated management's identification
of CGUs and allocation of non-current
assets to each CGU with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.

We have evaluated management's identification
of impairment indicators with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.

TEBEREE

EANERNARET
EBNREE

REEEBEMNERBEFYEN LT FE

R2022612831H B£E
MEZETMERBEHED
ERMEEARES35,5998 8
oo BEEBEE% I
EREMEUMERAZRF
BREETR A B FET
HEEEREROEE HE
TR AU R ERR
AHBEREENERELN
ATt e AIERFE2 MG
s RE A o

TERRBEH RS HMBREN
F2.4~3 14240

FREEEL BB

HZE2022E12831HILE
B> BEEZRMEARY
RER ERFERPEE (B
HtEVEE FRREE B
BR&E ZEWBARTAE
ERT 2 - 220225128
31 EBEEHMEREE.
FEREEREERZHDF
AANRE4EET ARME130
BEThARK2497TEE T

BEENEEERSREMR
BEEHEMBARMNES MU
ERBEERNEARBE
ERETERRBNEEYE

o

BN

ERRGTERER &
&

EMEER BEEEN
AERFEGGRER
HEBHREN S£E
REZEUYERMEA
BENZNEBFRSE-
i B 3 A TR AR
ARHENEMELEN
BA RHHERENG
SRR T MG &
EEWER URMRIE
BREMURIETH
BERHERFTRES

e

ARATHELERE
i

AMESERTEHE
ANRENLEEES
REeEEEMmELN
RFERBHEERERE
ELEANDE -

AMESRRTEE
ANRENLEEES
RERERAHA

TR EERW

107



108

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BiUHEMRS ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

TEERFHE (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit EfNERNETEEE
Key audit matter matter TEERZE EERZHE
Impairment assessment of non-current assets (continued) FREEEN R ETS (8)
The Group’s management identify cash generating ~ We involved our internal valuation specialists EEREEERNREELE HAMNBFEABGEESR

units (“CGUs") and determine the recoverable amount
of each CGU with impairment indicators based on the
higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value-
in-use. Based on the assessment of the recoverable
amounts, the Group recognized an impairment loss
of RMB48 million for the year ended 31 December
2022.

Management's assessment process was complex
and significant judgement was involved, including the
degree of subjectivity of expected future cash flow

to assist us in evaluating the models and
certain assumptions used by the Group in the
impairment testing of non-current assets and
evaluated the rationality and reasonableness
of the cash flow forecast model and
management’s key assumptions including the
discount rate and long-term average growth
rate.

We also assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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forecasts, associated growth rates and the discount
rate applied.

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4,
3, 12, 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

BiuHEmRS (B)

EFHAHMBRRNET

EAREFEERERREHENESE
7817 B9 B R B 5 3R 5 ZE R e & B R B R )
i BERERMNAHMTRE UL HY
BRRELEEMATHRER MEEHES
RUENRBEE UESHMBFRERT
FERREGFE SR ME R B AR B -

TRUEHYBREE > BERREFERES
E5Tt SEEFBEERNAES  WE U
BH) AFECEAMNEER TEARKE
KEGHEE (RIF ERARAEFHRN B
EEBBIUA LR SR Z SN E A
FI{TRYEEEE) o

ERREFERTEE BEEEMBRS
BFNHEREEZEEEHE-

ZHMBEZSHBBHRRNEME

RN EREMEHYBFZREREEEST
FEEARRERL (FREMFHERE
B BRSAERE THASSHMERDN
ZHERE - HfIER SRF2EREIR
HRMAER WA FEEMBR - HAMA
MARENASRAEMEMRALTEF K
BEMEE-

BEBREE—BEKTENRE B R RE
RIBEBZBERNETHEZEAEXIRM
FAENERKE R - K BRI r] e R HEF
EEERMAEL > BRI N S ETRHARI A
FERRPERNZEAHYBTRRFHE
BERE  RIBEK-

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER

109



110

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:
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Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

U Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Cheung Ng.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BizEEmRS (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

FTEERER

EANERNARET
EBREE

Valuation of investment properties

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s investment
properties amounted to RMB5,277 million, which
represented 9% of the Group's total assets.
Investment properties were stated at fair value.
Management was required to exercise significant
judgement in determining the fair value of investment
properties as disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group engaged an external valuation expert
to perform the valuation of investment properties.
The valuation methods applied included the direct
comparison approach and income approach which
involved various assumptions, such as estimated
rental revenues, discount rates, occupancy rates,
historical transactions and market knowledge.

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3
and 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

We performed audit procedures including:

We evaluated the competence and
independence of the external valuation
expert engaged by the Group. We reviewed
rental contracts, compared the prices of the
investment properties with the unit prices
of adjacent similar properties that were
benchmarked in the valuation process,
assessed assumptions relating to future market
rents, compared the current prices in the
active market for adjacent similar properties,
and assessed the discount rates and future
maintenance costs applied based on historical
experiences with the involvement of our
internal valuation specialists, who focused on
the term vyield, reversionary yield and market
unit rent. We also assessed the adequacy of
the disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B EmRS (8)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

TEERFHE (@)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Net realisable value of completed properties held for sale and properties under development

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s properties
under development and completed properties held
for sale amounted to RMB35,599 million, which
represented 60% of the Group's total assets. These
properties were stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The net realisable value was
estimated by management based on expected selling
prices, the cost of completion of properties under
development, and the costs to be incurred in selling
the properties based on prevailing market conditions.
The estimation of the net realisable value involved
significant judgement.

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3,
14 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment assessment of non-current assets

During the year ended 31 December 2022, several
subsidiaries of the Group were loss-making, as a
result, there is a risk that the carrying amount of non-
current assets, including other intangible assets,
right-of-use assets, and property and equipment, of
these subsidiaries may not be fully recoverable. As at
31 December 2022, other intangible assets, right-of-
use assets, and property and equipment of the Group
were RMB14 million, RMB130 million and RMB2,497
million, respectively.

The Group’s management reviews the performance
of its subsidiaries at the end of each reporting period
to identify if any subsidiaries experienced operational
difficulties and suffered from prolonged negative
financial performance.

We performed audit procedures including:

We reviewed the Group’s net realisable value
estimation and checked the expected selling
prices to prices of similar properties presold
by the Group recently or adjacent properties
sold. For the cost of completion of properties
under development and the costs to be
incurred in selling the properties, we evaluated
management’s estimation methodology,
which had been updated to reflect the latest
information and the refined construction and
selling costs budget process.

We performed audit procedures including:

We have evaluated management's identification
of CGUs and allocation of non-current
assets to each CGU with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.

We have evaluated management's identification
of impairment indicators with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BiUHEMRS ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

TEERFHE (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit EfNERNETEEE
Key audit matter matter TEERZE EERZHE
Impairment assessment of non-current assets (continued) FREEEN R ETS (8)
The Group’s management identify cash generating ~ We involved our internal valuation specialists EEREEERNREELE HAMNBFEABGEESR

units (“CGUs") and determine the recoverable amount
of each CGU with impairment indicators based on the
higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value-
in-use. Based on the assessment of the recoverable
amounts, the Group recognized an impairment loss
of RMB48 million for the year ended 31 December
2022.

Management's assessment process was complex
and significant judgement was involved, including the
degree of subjectivity of expected future cash flow

to assist us in evaluating the models and
certain assumptions used by the Group in the
impairment testing of non-current assets and
evaluated the rationality and reasonableness
of the cash flow forecast model and
management’s key assumptions including the
discount rate and long-term average growth
rate.

We also assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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forecasts, associated growth rates and the discount
rate applied.

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4,
3, 12, 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BizEEmRS (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

ZBMBZSHMBRRNEE

(&)

ERIEBEBRBEETEZN—& D
T 972 B2 M8 25 1% HA T 1F B8 28 ) i 00 (R 55
BIREE o IR

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

U Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Cheung Ng.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

BHEmR

Year ended 31 December 2022

HZE2022F12831HIEEE
2022 2021
Vg2 20225 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
AB¥FT ANEHEFIT
Revenue KA © 9,250,499 4,968,682
Cost of sales HE A (6,779,570) (3,492,546)
Gross profit EF 2,470,929 1,476,136
Other income and gains, net HEMBA W= 5 313,694 310,119
Selling and distribution expenses HE kD iHES (315,552) (431,929)
Administrative expenses THREX (611,729) (764,509)
Other expenses Hihpx 5 (174,886) (210,720)
Finance costs HEER 7 (147,265) (225,076)
Changes in fair value of investment BEMENRAAEBEES
properties 13 (115,160) (60,311)
Share of (losses)/profits of: DMEY (BB518) & AF) -
Joint ventures aEhE 19 (15,324) (22,353)
Associates e 21 (86,323) 154,654
Profit before tax B #R A0 6 1,318,384 226,011
Income tax expense FTiSfx 10 (1,296,966) (187,485)
Profit for the year FRFE 21,418 38,526
Attributable to: LUR &AL
Owners of the parent ISYNETEZZ= DN 186,734 73,132
Non-controlling interests JEFERS (165,316) (34,606)
21,418 38,526

Earnings per share attributable to

BAREBEREA ARG

ordinary equity holders of the parent SR&EF|

11

Basic A RMB3.3 cents RMB1.3 cents
AR#3.39% AR #1.37
Diluted e RMB3.3 cents RMB1.3 cents

AR3.35

AR1.39

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BHEENER

Year ended 31 December 2022

B ZE2022F12A31HIEEE
2022 2021
20224 2021£
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANREFT AERETFT
Profit for the year FRFE 21,418 38,526
Other comprehensive income Hth2mias
Other comprehensive income that may be RHEBHBENDEEERNE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: & E U :
Exchange differences: PERZRE -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign MBEBIINEBELENEREZL
operations 28,643 26,026
Net other comprehensive income that may be REBBEEHNDEEERNE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods % & W & 75 %8 28,643 26,026
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that will not be  REBEBErZEHHIEETE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:  HRIEMEEKE  (FH8) :
Equity investments designated at fair value through 5 E AR AAEBETER
other comprehensive income: HEHFH AHEMEEWE
HERTE !
Changes in fair value NABEE 11,624 (49,029)
Income tax effect Frigin s & (2,906) 16,370
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that will REBPEZEFIEEMDESE
not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent BRaNHEMEERE
periods (B518) #%8 8,718 (32,659)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRAEHEURELEEE 58,779 31,893
Attributable to: DUTFE(L :
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZT= N 217,072 65,894
Non-controlling interests JEITERS R (158,293) (34,001)
58,779 31,893

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BHMBRAR

31 December 2022
20225%12831H

2022 2021
g3 20225 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB 000
ANBETFT NEHFT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property and equipment EEKHE 12 2,497,023 2,524,317
Investment properties KEYE 13 5,202,000 5,245,954
Properties under development BHEE R 14 1,923,669 2,475,637
Right-of-use assets FRAEESE 15 129,969 160,807
Other intangible assets Hthimp EE 16 14,194 30,787
Restricted cash ZRHIIRE 28 146,956 145,003
Equity investments designated at IEERBANEESE
fair value through other BHEHAEMEE
comprehensive income WM ERR S 17 516,341 504,131
Long term prepayments RHEBFEATRR 18 439,123 677,918
Investments in joint ventures REELENKE 19 1,109,214 635,298
Investments in associates REE AR E 21 1,123,805 1,145,297
Deferred tax assets IRIEFRIEE B 22 354,375 286,428
Total non-current assets HIERBEE 13,456,669 13,831,577
Current assets MHAEE
Completed properties held for sale FIEHEBEMYE 24 3,060,872 5,893,841
Properties under development BHEE R 14 30,728,107 25,648,975
Inventories =78 39,909 42,591
Trade receivables FEUN B 5 8RR 26 171,054 113,329
Prepayments, other receivables and EAT - Hth R IE R &
other assets B 27 3,545,203 2,539,954
Financial assets at fair value through MAnBEFTEEEESA
profit or loss EiEENEREE 25 162,561 132,795
Loans to joint ventures BERFEEhE 20 681,760 462,872
Loans to associates ERFHE AT 21 689,386 779,135
Restricted cash ZRHIERE 28 3,484,859 2,518,037
Cash and cash equivalents BENAEEEY 28 3,001,572 5,232,657
Investment properties classified as DEAFEFHENKREYE
held for sale 13 74,900 44 546
Total current assets MR E 45,640,183 43,408,732

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

AT (&)

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

2022 2021
BaE 20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Current liabilities B =Rt
Trade payables FEfT B SR 29 1,931,079 2,131,544
Other payables and accruals HthERIBE R EStER 30 1,352,832 1,039,381
Contract liabilities ==k 31 23,635,988 21,176,187
Lease liabilities HE&SE 15 53,069 39,267
Advances from joint ventures HEPERR 456,692 768,306
Advances from associates NI 912,618 374,257
Interest-bearing bank and other T EIRITT R EMERR

borrowings 32 5,512,718 3,618,903
Tax payable RS I8 10 2,642,693 1,700,955
Total current liabilities D TEIR=R (= 36,497,689 30,848,800
Net current assets MENEEFEE 9,142,494 12,559,932
Total assets less current liabilites A& ERREAE 22,599,163 26,391,509
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other FHEIRIT R EMERR

borrowings 32 9,234,962 13,374,958
Deferred tax liabilities IRIERIBEE(E 22 890,622 936,358
Lease liabilities HE&SE 15 140,415 150,109
Total non-current liabilities HIERBER 10,265,999 14,461,425
Net assets FEE 12,333,164 11,930,084
Equity R
Equity attributable to owners of the parent & ‘A B #E A A B (L @
Share capital [N S8 498,653 498,653
Reserves i 89 8,978,050 8,746,065

9,476,703 9,244,718

Non-controlling interests JESERG 2,856,461 2,685,366
Total equity RS 12,333,164 11,930,084
Shi Zhongan Shen Tiaojuan il ek=y AR
Director Director BE ==
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SHEREHR

Year ended 31 December 2022

BE2022F12A31HIEFE
Attributable to owners of the parent
BATRAAESR
Share Share  Statutory  Statutory Exchange Non-
Share  premium  Contributed Capital option surplus reserve  Fairvalue fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital account surplus reserve reserve reserve fund reserve reserve profits Total ~interests equity
A ROEER REER  RAHE BRERE SERGEE TRHEEE AAREHEE ERRBER  REEH EEE 200 5 s
NEETL NEEFR ABETn ABETn ABETn ABETn AEETn ARETn AERTn ABETn AEBETxn ABETn AEETT
AWBODD  AMBOOO  RMBUA)  AMBUOXO  AMBOOO  RMBUM)  AMBUO  AMBOOO  RMBUY)  AMBUDO  AMBOOO  RMBOX)  AMBUOO
Now33  Note35a)  Note 3oy  Note 356 Noe 34 Note39)  Note 350)
W33 Wsse  WEsey K s W2sw  HEs0
At 1 January 2021 R2021E1818 493653 2,989,383 39318 331,176* 50331 196,716" 8239* 19,650 (93,586 5,079,166* 9,128,046 2285891 11413937
Profit for the year utilld - - - - - - - - - 73132 7313 (34,606) 3852
Other comprehensive income for the year: FREMEENE !
Exchange differences related to forelgn operations 5 5 % 2 ER 8 - - - - - - - - 25421 - 25,421 605 26,026
Changes in fair value of equity investment &t~ AR BRE EEESHH A
fair value through other comprehensive AERENRGREAREES
income, net of tax g NkiE - - - - - - - (32,659) - - (32,659) - (32,659)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income ERRE (58 /WEEE
for the year - - - - - - - (32,659 26421 73,182 65,894 (34,001) 31,893
Addtion of non-controling interests FEFERES - - = = - = = - = = - 510,200 510,200
Acquisiton of non-controling interests WEFERER - - - 39,390 - - - - - - 39,390 (76,724) (37,334)
Transfer of shae option reserve upon RERBEANEEERERE
the expiry of share options - - - - (55,056) - - - - 55,066 - - -
Equity-settled share option amangements REEEZ BRERE - - B B 11,388 = B - - = 11388 = 11,388
Transfer from retained proftts REENEA - - - - - (4,844) - - - 4844 - - -
At 31 December 2021 R2021E128318 493653 2,989,383 39,318 370,566 15,663 191872 8239 (13,009 (68,165 5212,198" 9244718 2685366 11,930,084
Profitoss) for the year ERAE/ BB - - - - - - - - - 186734 186734 (165316) 21,418
Other comprehensive income for the year: ~ EREH2 G |
Exchange differences related to foreign AREIMRCERER
operations - - - - - - - - 21,620 - 21,620 7,023 28,643
Changes in fair value of equity investment &t~ AR EREEBESHHAEf
fair valug through other comprehensive AERENREREANBES
income, net of tax g NkiE - - - - - - - 8718 - - 8718 - 8,718
Total comprehensive income/loss) for the year  ER2TENE/ (§518) 28 - - - - - - - 8718 2620 18673 217,072 (158,299 58,179
Dividends paid to non-controling shereholders {1 P ARBEHNRE - - - - - - - - - - - (m5d6)  (211,546)
Capital injection by the non-controling interests  FE2RERTE - - - - - - - - - - - 583887 583,887
Acquisition of a subsidiary KE-EHEAR - - - - - - - - - - - 35,468 35,468
Acquisiton of non-controling inerests Wi ERES - - - 13510 - - - - - - 13510 (18,421) (4911)
Equity-setfled share option agreements NREEEz BRERSE - - - - 1,403 - - - - - 1,408 - 1,403
A8 December 2022 021231 W 2993 WY WO U066 1M G20 @A) (S SR 916703 2856451 12308164
¥ These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB8,978,050,000 (2021: RMB8,746,065,000) in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

¢ ZEHERBOEAHEBRRERREGHEE ARS078,050,0007 (20214 : A R #8,746,065,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BHRERER

Year ended 31 December 2022

B ZE2022F12A31HIEEE
2022 2021
k=3 20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB 000
AREFT ANEEFT
Cash flows from operating activities EEE£ENIRERE
Profit before tax AR B A 1,318,384 226,011
Adjustments for: FE
Depreciation of property and equipment = E KR #H T E 12 126,997 121,326
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 15 42,832 59,961
Amortisation of other intangible assets ~ ELfthE & E# i 16 1,735 1,735
Changes in fair value of LEEN AN EBEED)
investment properties 13 115,160 60,311
Changes in fair value of financial assets AR EEFE2EEEH A
at fair value through profit or loss BaNEREEAAEE
EE) 6 19,889 (560,309)
Loss on disposal of HEXREYENER
investment properties 6 23,683 3,977
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BWBABNEIR - 23,854
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets  HEE RS EH UG (335) (25,823)
Gain on disposal of items of HERERFZEEE NG
property and equipment (55,654) (14,427)
Equity-settled share option expense DGR E 2 IR RS 1,403 11,388
Gain on remeasurement of BN EHAELEREN
investments in joint ventures g 36 (100,563) -
Interest income FEWA (114,627) (45,476)
Finance costs M ER 7 147,265 225,076
Share of losses/(profits) of: DMELTIER FE) -
Joint ventures SEhHE 15,324 22,353
Associates & AT 86,323 (154,654)
Impairment of financial assets B ENRE 26 2,660 6,279
Impairment of goodwill EERE - 98,995
Impairment provision for EERZENBERE
property and equipment 12 12,867 11,436
Impairment provision for EREEENRERE
right-of-use assets 15 19,936 —
Impairment provision for . EENREREE
intangible assets 16 14,858 -
Dividend income from equity REEANBEGEEHES
investments at fair value through SFAEMEmEmR G ER
other comprehensive income KERRKE WA = (54,315)
1,678,137 527,698

REZEBMBRAE —TB__FER
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

EHEERER (B)

Year ended 31 December 2022
HE2022F128B31HIEEE

2022 2021
k=3 20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT NEBEFT
Increase in properties under development BH 2% 421 0 (6,755,560) (15,179,257)
Decrease in completed properties held — F{EEEMFE YR/
for sale 6,275,512 3,364,398
Increase in trade receivables B 5 FEWRIEE N (60,385) (34,910)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits and & REAMMEUTIE (5m)
other receivables 5N (277,171) 605,302
Increase in prepayments and other assets 811 ZUR H fth & EE 1 N (202,821) (572,859)
Decrease in long term prepayments REATENRURLD 238,795 623,662
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL () 2,682 (12,621)
Increase in restricted cash for pre-sale  FAEFTERIEZ RHIIR SN
proceeds (1,026,899) (1,446,766)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables FE(T B FARER (RzL) /180 (201,007) 680,592
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and E fh f& {7 =118 Kz fE 5+ & 10,7
accruals CRLZL) 223,283 (48,123)
Increase in contract liabilities SHEEEMm 2,437,515 12,604,492
Cash generated from operations KREEBREXNIRE 2,332,081 1,111,608
Interest received BUF B 114,627 45,476
Interest paid BEFE (903,337) (776,425)
Income tax and land appreciation tax paid B 11 Fri8iR & + & &1 (997,074) (649,547)
Net cash generated from/(used in) EE&%FEELE R M
operating activities REFEE 546,297 (268,888)
Cash flows from investing activities REXFEWIREFHE
Acquisition of subsidiaries that WHEIE 2B AR
are not a business 36 (214,605) -
Capital refund of investments in HEE RN B RENERER
an associate 3,500 -
Investments in joint ventures RESEhE (489,240) (345,415)
Investments in associates KREBZE AT (68,331) (888,040)
Purchase of investment on financial assets % BN A EE+E B H &)
at fair value through profit or loss FAERNERHEERE (88,274) (26,706)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HE&#& A A EEE B HEE)
at fair value through profit or loss AN ERE EMSRIE 38,619 52,139
Increase in investment properties KREY L (224,818) (12,705)
Proceeds from disposal of investment HERBEYEFRSIE
properties 121,861 51,589
Purchases of items of property and BAERERNRKREEER
equipment (132,197) (128,430)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEREKKEBIEBMEMNIE
property and equipment 75,386 26,978
Investment on equity investments KREIEEAEANEESER
designated at fair value through other HE st ARMEmEn
comprehensive income HmRE - (13,424)
Dividends received from equity BifsEAaRAREESERR
investments designated at fair value SHETTAEMEEREN
through other comprehensive income Hm B WS - 54,315
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash ZIRHIIRE L (Em) 58,124 (97,118)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBRE = (56)
Net cash used in investing activities 3 E2EEANIRE FLE (919,975) (1,326,873)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
BHRERER (1B)

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12831HIEEE

2022 2021
k=3 20225 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ANEHEFIT
Cash flows from financing activities REEFBELENEERE
New interest-bearing bank and Mt BIRITTREMMBER
other borrowings 7,215,275 10,603,425
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and B2 5 B IR1T R H M ERR
other borrowings (9,461,456) (9,102,993)
Capital injected by non-controlling JEEER R FABAR
interests 583,887 510,200
Principal portion of lease payments HENRNAEI D (27,487) (40,135)
(Loans to)/repayment from joint ventures (BIEETEER) B HEE
= (218,888) 82,014
Repayment from/(loans to) associates ~ BEABER (AHEARE
) 89,749 (779,135)
(Repayment to)/advance from joint (MEELEERN a8
ventures N (311,614) 359,603
Advance from associates i /NI 538,361 354,657
Acquisition of non-controlling interests ~ UxBEIEIERG = (4,911) (37,334)
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to  FE{HIEIERRRRERFRIE GRiZL)
non-controlling shareholders 10 30 (10,897) 89,989
Dividends paid to a non-controlling AT IEIER ARG B
shareholder (271,546) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from  EEES GEA) ELEHN
financing activities REFEHE (1,879,527) 2,040,291
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERFASEEY (HL)
cash equivalents EINEEE (2,253,205) 444,530
Cash and cash equivalents FYRERIREEEY
at beginning of year 5,232,657 4,792,545
Effect of foreign exchange rate EEXEEFHHNTE FEE
changes, net 22,120 (4,418)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of F£XRRE RS ZXEY
year 3,001,572 5,232,657
Analysis of balances of cash and HERREEEBMERIHR
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances REMIRITHEER 28 3,001,572 5,232,657

REEBARAE
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Notes to Financial Statements

AT R R M 5L

31 December 2022
20225%12831H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Zhong An Group Limited (formerly known as Zhong An Real Estate
Limited) (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
as an exempted company in the Cayman Islands on 13 March 2007
under the Companies Law (revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in property development, property leasing and
hotel operations. The Group’s property development projects during
the year were mostly located in Zhejiang, Anhui, Jiangsu, Shandong
and Yunnan provinces, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors (the “Directors”), the
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the Company
is Whole Good Management Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands on 3 May 2007. Whole Good Management
Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Shi Zhongan, the Chairman of the
Company.

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

ARKREBE (&)

BRI B ATRER

TEMBASFENT !

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of
equity attributable

registration and capital as at to the Group as at Principal
Name of company place of business 31 December 2022 at 31 December activities
202251283180
FEMALIL R R BETEERS/ FEER2A31BH
AGEA EBMERAME AMER FEfLRRREE 23t TELH
2022 2021
2022 20216
Zhejiang Zhong An Property Development  PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 53.5% 53.4% Property development
Xiaoshan Co., Ltd.* 3 April 1997 AE2,000,0007% L
WIRZEHERLBEZERRARY HE/RE R
1997F4H3H
Zhong An Group Co., Ltd.® PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development
RZEBBRAFY 26 December 1997 AR #2,000,000,0007c and leasing
FE/RER MEREREE
19974128261
Zhejiang Zhong An Property Co., Ltd.”  PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 100.0% 100.0% Property management
WIREMERBERATY 18 November 1998 AR #100,000,0007 MEER
FE/ R E R
1998 11H18H
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate PRC/Mainland China US$5,000,000 100.0% 100.0% Property development
Development Co., Ltd." 9 August 2001 5,000,000 75 S,
ZURZEHERZARAAY HE/RE R
2001485 9H
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Co., Ltd.") PRC/Mainland China RMB57,000,000 84.2% 84.2% Property development
ZHRZBEBRAFY 17 January 2003 AR #57,000,0007T ES
FE/RER
200315178
Hangzhou Danube Real Estate Co., Ltd.® PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 92.6% 92.6% Property development
MNSEAIEEBRAF 7 March 2003 AR #50,000,0007T MR
FE/ R E R
2003%3A7H
Chunan Minfu Property Co., Ltd.® PRC/Mainland China RMB6,000,000 66.0% 65.9% Property development
FEREREEZERATO 24 October 2003 AE6,000,0007% L
HE/RE R
2003108248

>

RREMBERAT ZTEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

RN (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

REKREREN (&)

BERENBASNER (@

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of
equity attributable

registration and capital as at to the Group as at Principal
Name of company place of business 31 December 2022 at 31 December activities
202251283180
FEMALIL R R BETEERS/ FE@R12A31EK
AGEA LB RAME AMER FEfLRRREE 23t TEEY
2022 2021
2022 20216
Anhui Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 100% 100% Property management
Management Co., Ltd.“) 24 November 2003 AR #3,000,0007¢ MEEE
ZURZMEERERAFY HE/RE R
2003F 115248
Shanghai Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 59.4% 59.3% Property leasing
Development Co., Ltd. 19 January 2004 AR #10,000,0007T MERE
LERZEHEREFRATY FE/RER
2004518198
Zhejiang Huijun Real Estate Co., Ltd.? PRC/Mainland China US$27,600,000 65.8% 65.7% Property development
MIESREXBRAT? 1 April 2005 27,600,000% 7T MR
FE/ R E R
2005%4F1H
Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 59.4% 59.3% Project management
Commercial Buildings Co., Ltd.* 20 September 2005 AR #1,000,0007% BEHEER
MMRZIEEEEERARY HE/RE R
2005595208
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 61.1% 61.0% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 16 March 2006 AR #50,000,0007T ES
MMEIEMEREFRARY FE/RER
2006538168
Henlly Enterprise Management PRC/Mainland China US$149,061,280 66.0% 65.9% Property development
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd." 4 December 2006 149,061,280% 7T L E
BREEEE (M) BRAFY HE/RE R
20065F1284H
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Zhong'an PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 66.0% 65.9% Hotel management
Holiday Inn Co., Ltd.*) 28 May 2007 AE#10,000,0007T BEEE
MMNELRZBREBEEERARY HE/RE R
2007455 28H
HeFei Green Bay Property PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 100.0% 100.0% Property management
Management Co., Ltd.“) 1 August 2007 AR #500,0007% MEER
BRGEEENEERERATY FE/RER
2007%8H1H

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ATIKRERER (@)

(CONTINUED)
BB ABNER (@)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of
equity attributable

registration and capital as at to the Group as at Principal
Name of company place of business 31 December 2022 at 31 December activities
202251283180
FEMALIL R R BETEERS/ FEER2A31BH
AGEA EBMERAME AMER FEfLRRREE 23t TEEY
2022 2021
2022 20216
Zhejiang Anyuan Agriculture PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Agriculture development
Development Co., Ltd. 11 June 2009 AE#10,000,0007T B
WIZRRERERRARY HE/RE R
2009565118
Hangzhou Zhong An Property Co., Ltd.?)  PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Project management
MMRREEFRAFY 1 February 2010 AR #200,000,0007% EHER
FE/RER
2010%281H
Yuyao Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development
Development Co., Ltd." 5 March 2010 AR #100,000,0007 MR
ARZEHMERERRATY FE/ R E R
201053A5H
Hangzhou Anyuan Property PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 45.9% 45.9% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. @ 14 September 2010 AR #5,000,0007T S,
MMZREHEREFRAFC HE/RE R
2010595148
Yuyao Zhong An Property Co., Ltd.? PRC/Mainland China US$15,000,000 93.0% 93.0% Property development
RERREXFRAF? 10 December 2010 15,000,000 7T ES
FE/RER
20105128100
Zhejiang Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB?20,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.# 4 August 2011 AR #20,000,00075 L E
WIRZEHEREERAFY FE/ R E R
201148H4H
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 59.4% 59.3% Project management
Commercial Management Co., Ltd.* 6 December 2011 AR #5,000,0007% BEHEER
AURZBEABREEERERATY  HE/RERM
201151286H

>
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

j?iﬁ%l‘ﬁﬂki (H\E)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

1.

REKREREN (&)

BERENBASNER (@

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of
equity attributable

registration and capital as at to the Group as at Principal
Name of company place of business 31 December 2022 at 31 December activities
202251283180
FEMALIL R R BETEERS/ FEER2A31BH
AGEA LB RAME AMER FEfLRRREE 23t TEEY
2022 2021
2022 20216
Cixi Zhong An Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Project management
Development Co., Ltd. 28 February 2013 A E#100,000,0007% EEHEE
BERZEHERZARAAY HE/RE R
2013525 28H
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 59.4% 59.3% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 5 August 2013 AR #100,000,0007% ES
RRZBAESRERRATY FE/RER
2013F8H5H
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square PRC/Mainland China US$16,000,000 61.4% 61.3% Property development
Property Co., Ltd.? 13 August 2013 16,000,000 75 L E S
AURZBAESBEERRAT? FE/ R E R
2013%8F13H
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 59.4% 59.3% Project management
Commercial Co., Ltd.®) 9 September 2013 AR #50,000,0007% BEHEER
WIRREEHERRARY HE/RE R
2013595 9H
Cixi Zhong An Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 59.4% 59.3% Property development
BERZELBRAA 6 December 2013 AR #50,000,0007T ES
FE/RER
20135128680
Hangzhou Zhong An Property Co., Ltd.“ PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development
MNRZEHERERRATY 18 April 2014 AR #200,000,0007 MR
FE/ R E R
2014545 18H
Hangzhou Zhong An Sheng Long PRC/Mainland China RMB?20,000,000 59.4% 59.3% Property development
Liyumen Property Co., Ltd.*) 21 April 2014 AR #20,000,0007T S,
MMNRREEEEFIBEERRARY HE/RE R
2014545218
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

ARKREBE (&)

BERENBASNER (@

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of
equity attributable

registration and capital as at to the Group as at Principal
Name of company place of business 31 December 2022 at 31 December activities
202251283180
FEMALIL R R BETEERS/ FEER2A31BH
AGEA EBMERAME AMER FEfLRRREE 23t TEEY
2022 2021
2022 20216
Hangzhou Xixi Huijin Property Co., Ltd." PRC/Mainland China US$60,000,000 66.0% 65.9% Property development
MNBEEESEEXARAF 18 November 2015 60,000,000 75 L
HE/RE R
2015115188
Bright Hotels & Resorts British Virgin Islands US$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment holding
Management Limited® 8 July 2014 E BREER
B AENERNEEERATY HEERRES
2014%7H8H
China New City Commercial Cayman Islands HK$173,800,000 66.0% 65.9% Investment holding
Development Limited") 2 July 2013 178,800,000/ 7 BREER
REFETEEERERAT HeHs
2013%7A2H
Hangzhou Run’an Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Project management
MNEREXBRATY 27 July 2015 A #100,000,0007% BEEER
HE/RE R
2015%7H27H
Zhejiang New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 59.4% 59.3% Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.“) 29 November 2016 AR #10,000,0007T ThEl
MIMEE RCEERERATY FE/RER
20165115290
Huaibei Brilliant Hotel Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China RMB6,900,000 66.0% 65.9% Hotel management
ELARFEEERATY 16 October 2013 AR #6,900,0007T BEEE
FE/ R E R
20134108 16H
Laizhou New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 59.4% 59.3%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.“) 2 May 2017 AE1,000,0007T FhER
NIRRT RCEERARARY HE/RE R
201745F2H

>
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

REKREREN (&)

BERENBASNER (@

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of
equity attributable

registration and capital as at to the Group as at Principal
Name of company place of business 31 December 2022 at 31 December activities
202251283180
FEMALIL R R BETEERS/ FE@R12A31EK
AGEA LB RAME AMER FEfLRRREE 23t TEEY
2022 2021
2022 20214
Huijun (International) Holdings Limited®  Hong Kong HK$100,000 66.0% 65.9% Investment holding
E% ER) ZRERATY 4 March 2005 100,000/ 7T REER
aE
2005%3F4H
Hong Kong Bo Kai Construction Hong Kong HK$1 100.0% 100.0% Construction design
Design Limited 26 February 2008 18T BER
BEBHRERSBERATY &E
2008525 26H
Hong Kong Hui Yuan Real Estate Limited® Hong Kong HK$1 100.0% 100.0% Property development
ERERMERRATY 26 February 2008 157 MR
aE
2008%2H26H
Zhong An International Shipping Hong Kong HK$387,683 65.8% 65.7%  Shipping
(Hong Kong) Limited 11 October 2011 387,683% 70 fiE
REBERHE () BRAFY aE
2011108118
Hengyuan Properties Limited!” Hong Kong HK$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
R ERRAF 27 December 2013 18T REER
&E
20135&12827H
Zerun Management Limited) Hong Kong HKS$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
EEEEARATY 31 December 2013 157 REER
aE
20135128318
Shengze Management Limited” Hong Kong HK$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
REEEFRAFY 19 February 2014 1#7T REER
aE
2014525190
Glorious Days Management Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
FEERARAR 23 June 2014 1#7T REER
&E
2014565230
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(CONTINUED)

ARKREBE (&)

BERENBASNER (@

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) FERBATFEUT : (@

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of
equity attributable

registration and capital as at to the Group as at Principal
Name of company place of business 31 December 2022 at 31 December activities
202251283180
FEMALIL R R BETEERS/ FEER2A31BH
AGEA EBMERAME AMER FEfLRRREE 23t TEEY
2022 2021
2022 20216
Grand Sail International Trading Limited®  Hong Kong US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
ZNERES (FB) ERATY 15 September 2014 e REER
aE
2014595150
Kunming New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 59.4% 59.3% Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.“) 27 April 2017 AR #1,000,0007T ThEl
RRNRERCEEEERATY FE/RER
20175848278
Yuyao New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 59.4% 59.3% Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.*) 26 September 2017 AR #1,000,00075 FhRER
R BEERCEERERATY FE/ R E R
201749F26H
Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Beverly PRC/Mainland China RMB?20,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development
Resort Development Co., Ltd.*) 26 September 2003 AR #20,000,0007T S,
MNTFEHLEERERNEEERATY FE/ HER
2003595 26H
Hangzhou Xinxin Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 29 May 2001 AR #20,000,0007T ES
N B ERERRATY FE/RER
2001455298
Yunnan Pujin Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90.0% 49.5% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. " 6 September 2017 A #10,000,0007 MR
EHEREHEREFRAF FE/ R E R
201749F6H
Chaoyang International Trading Limited®  Hong Kong US$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment holding
HEEERES (B8 ARATY 15 September 2014 ESH REER
aE
2014595150

>
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

1. QAFRREEER (B

BERENBASNER (@

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

equity attributable

registration and capital as at to the Group as at Principal
Name of company place of business 31 December 2022 at 31 December activities
202251283180
FEMALIL R R BETEERS/ FE@R12A31EK
AGEA LB RAME AMER FEfLRRREE 23t TEEY
2022 2021
2022 20214
Hong Kong Time Honour Hong Kong US$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment holding
Property Limited 15 September 2014 ES REER
EREREMERRATY B
2014595150
Pannix Industrial (Hong Kong) Limited¥ ~ Hong Kong US$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment holding
EHEX &8 FRATY 15 September 2014 1% REER
&E
2014598150
Bright (Hong Kong) Hotels Hong Kong US$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment holding
Management Limited! 15 September 2014 i REER
Bt (B8) BEERERAFY aE
2014495 15H
Ideal World Investments Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0%  Investment holding
6 November 2003 1% REER
HBEARES
2003%1186H
China Bright Management Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
13 November 2007 1% REER
HEERRES
20075118130
Esteem High Enterprises Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
13 November 2007 1=7 REER
HELRRES
2007%11813H
Everplus Management Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
13 November 2007 1%£7T REER
HBEARES
2007118138
Gain Large Enterprises Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
13 November 2007 1% REER
HEERRES
20075118130
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

ARKREBE (&)

BERENBASNER (@

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of
equity attributable

registration and capital as at to the Group as at Principal
Name of company place of business 31 December 2022 at 31 December activities
202251283180
FEMALIL R R BETEERS/ FE@R12A31EK
AGEA EBMERAME AMER FEfLRRREE 23t TEEY
2022 2021
2022 20214
Plenty Management Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
EREEFRAFY 13 November 2007 1%£7T REER
HBEARES
2007118138
Zhong An Properties (China) Ltd." British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Project management
RLEZE (hE) BREAF" 20 June 2013 1£7 EEER
HEERRES
2013565208
Greenfield Investment Limited™ British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
19 May 2014 1=7 REER
HEARRHS
2014455198
Hui Sheng Global Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment holding
BERRKBRAFY 11 July 2014 1%£7T REER
HBEARES
2014575118
Time Honour Global Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment holding
RERKERAFY 11 July 2014 1% REER
HEERRES
2014%78118
Shengda Developments Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment holding
BEERBRATY 31 July 2014 1=7 BREER
HELRRES
2014578318
First Achiever Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment holding
BEERBRAFY 13 August 2014 1%£7T REER
HBEARES
20144%8F13H
Zhong An Real Estate Development Canada CA$100 100.0% 100.0% Project management
(Canada) Ltd."” 15 January 2014 100M0 7T HEER
MEX
2014518150

>

RREMBERAT ZTEER

129



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ATIKRERER (@)

(CONTINUED)
BB ABNER (&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

130

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

equity attributable

registration and capital as at to the Group as at Principal
Name of company place of business 31 December 2022 at 31 December activities
202251283180
FEMALIL R R BETEERS/ FE@R12A31EK
AGEA LB RAME AMER FEfLRRREE 23t TEEY
2022 2021
2022 20214
Easy Rich Corporation Limited* Hong Kong HK$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment holding
IEEBZBRAFY 1 April 2016 1#7T REER
aE
2016%F4F1H
Capital Yield Global Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment holding
FIRERBRARY 1 April 2016 1% REER
HEERRES
2016F481H
Easy Success Investments Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment holding
PBREBRATY 11 April 2016 1=7 REER
HEARRHS
201645118
Ultra Nice International Limited Hong Kong HK$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment holding
REERBRATY 7 October 2016 1#7T REER
aE
201651087H
Verdania Properties Limited Partnership”  Canada CA$100 100.0% 100.0% Property development
29 July 2016 100f07T ES
MEX
2016& 75298
Zhong An Financial Holdings Ltd.* British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
REZERERBRATY 23 Feb 2017 1=7 REER
HELRRES
201742H23H
Zhong An Asset Management Limited”  Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100.0% 100.0%  Asset management
REBEEERRATY 9 March 2017 2,000,000/ 7% EEEE
aE
201743F9H
Zhong An Corporate Finance Limited* British Virgin Islands HK$2,000,000 100.0% 100.0% Corporate finance
REMBERRAFY 9 March 2017 2,000,000 75 rE/MSE
HEERRES
201743890
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

ARKREBE (&)

BERENBASNER (@

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of
equity attributable

registration and capital as at to the Group as at Principal
Name of company place of business 31 December 2022 at 31 December activities
202251283180
FEMALIL R R BETEERS/ FE@R12A31EK
AGEA EBMERAME AMER FEfLRRREE 23t TEEY
2022 2021
2022 20214
Zhong An Finance Limited.® Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100.0% 100.0% Finance management
REMBRRAFY 9 March 2017 2,000,000/ 7% HEER
aE
201743F9H
Zhong An Securities Co. Limited® Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100.0% 100.0% Securities management
REEHFBRATY 10 March 2017 2,000,000/ 7% BHFER
&E
2017438108
Canada Zhong An Energy Canada CAD100 100.0% 100.0% Energy investment
Investment Co., Ltd.” 23 January 2017 100M17% ERRE
MERRRAEREEAD" MEX
20174 1523H
Complete Victory Enterprise Limited® British Virgin Islands USs$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment management
EHEEBRAFY 29 September 2017 1% REEHE
HBEARES
2017495 29H
Maggie & Rose (Great China) Hong Kong HK$1 45.4% 45.3% Education development
Group Limited 23 October 2017 18T HEER
&E
201758105230
Million Vast (Hong Kong) Ltd.* Hong Kong HKS$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
BEls (&8) ARAFY 26 March 2017 157 REER
aE
201743H26H
Allied Power Ventures Ltd. British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0%  Investment holding
BEARBRATY 28 November 2016 1%£7T REER
HBEARES
2016511H28H
Rosy Omen Ltd.* British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
BKBRAT 2 August 2017 1ET BEER
HEERRES
2017%8H2H

>
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

REKREREN (&)

BERENBASNER (@

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of
equity attributable

registration and capital as at to the Group as at Principal
Name of company place of business 31 December 2022 at 31 December activities
202251283180
FEMALIL R R BETEERS/ FE@R12A31EK
AGEA LB RAME AMER FEfLRRREE 23t TEEY
2022 2021
2022 20214
Fine Multitude Ltd.* British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0%  Investment holding
ERERATY 6 July 2015 1%£7T REER
HBEARES
2015%7H6H
Acme Dragon Investments Ltd.“ British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
ERRERRAFY 22 January 2016 1% BREER
HEERRES
2016515228
Rui Kai Management Ltd.® Hong Kong HK$100 100.0% 100.0% Project management
I EEARATY 20 November 2015 100787T EREHR
aE
20155115208
Zhong An Capital Investment Ltd.* British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
REELREBRATY 28 August 2018 1%£7T REER
HBEARES
2018%8F28H
Zhong An Capital Ltd.* Hong Kong HK$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
REBABRATY 14 September 2018 187 REZER
&E
2018598148
Zhong An Capital (China) Ltd.* Hong Kong HKS$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
RZER (PE) BRAFY 19 November 2018 157 REER
aE
20185115198
Beyond Horizon Investment Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment management
SHEREBRARY 3 September 2018 EH REER
HBEARES
2018%9F3H
Alpha Talent Global Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment management
HERKBRARY 3 September 2018 1E7T LEEE
HEERRES
2018F9H3H
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

ARKREBE (&)

BERENBASNER (@

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of
equity attributable

registration and capital as at to the Group as at Principal
Name of company place of business 31 December 2022 at 31 December activities
202251283180
FEMALIL R R BETEERS/ FE@R12A31EK
AGEA EBMERAME AMER FEfLRRREE 23t TEEY
2022 2021
2022 20214
Union Win International Trading Limited®  Hong Kong HK$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment management
HREREZBRATY 8 August 2018 1#7T REEE
B
2018%8F8H
Full Moon International Trading Limited®  Hong Kong HK$1 66.0% 65.9% Investment management
SEEREZBRAFY 5 June 2018 18T REER
&E
2018%F6H5H
Zhong An Education Investments British Virgin Islands US$1 66.0% 65.9% Education development
Holdings Limited® 8 May 2018 ES HELE
REHBEREERBRAAY HEARRHS
20184F5H8H
Perfect Honour Investments Limited® Samoa uss$10 66.0% 65.9%  Investment holding
FEREBRATY 28 March 2018 107 REER
EED
2018535 28H
Tiptop Global Group Limited“© Samoa US$4 49.5% 49.4% Investment holding
8 January 2018 4ETT BEER
EES
2018%1H8H
Zhenjiang Anyuan Agricultural PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 59.4% 59.3% Agricultural development
Development Co., Ltd.* 7 February 2018 AR #200,000,0007 REEE
RIRFRELERBRAAY HE/RE R
2018%2A7H
Xuzhou Wanxiang Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB258,000,000 30.3% 30.3% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. @ 28 September 2018 R #258,000,0007T S,
BNTEREXZERARARW HE/RE R
2018595 28H

>
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

1. QAFRREEER (B

BERENBASNER (@

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

equity attributable

registration and capital as at to the Group as at Principal
Name of company place of business 31 December 2022 at 31 December activities
202251283180
FEMALIL R R BETEERS/ FEER2A31BH
AGEA LB RAME AMER FEfLRRREE 23t TELH
2022 2021
2022 20216
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Maggie & Rose PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 45.4% 45.3% Education development
Culture Co., Ltd. &0 20 September 2018 AE1,000,0007% HEER
MM L EHEASUERRARCO HE/RE R
2018595 20H
Hangzhou Zhongan Jinyun PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 59.4% 59.3% Investment management
Investment Co., Ltd.* 7 December 2018 AR #50,000,0007T REEH
MNRZRERERRAFY FE/RER
2018512870
Hangzhou Xinhua Garden Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB493,542,500 59.9% 59.9% Property development
Development Co., Ltd." 5 March 2009 AR 1493,542,5007% e ESE
MNBEREEMERERRATY FE/ R E R
2009%3A5H
Zhongan (Yunnan) Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 20 June 2018 A E#100,000,0007% S,
RZ (B BHERZERAFY HE/RE R
20185%6F20H
Lishui Zhongan Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 11 May 2018 AR #100,000,0007% ES
BARZEHEREFRAFY FE/RER
2018558118
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

ARKREBE (&)

BERENBASNER (@

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of
equity attributable

registration and capital as at to the Group as at Principal
Name of company place of business 31 December 2022 at 31 December activities
202251283180
FEMALIL R R BETEERS/ FEER2A31BH
AGEA EBMERAME AMER FEfLRRREE 23t TEEY
2022 2021
2022 20216
Yiwu Zhongyao Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90.0% 58.5% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 21 November 2018 AR #10,000,0007% e
EERREHERZEARAFY HE/RE R
2018F 118218
Hangzhou Ruixie Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB1,400,000,000 100.0% 100.0% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 25 December 2019 A E¥1,400,000,0007% ES
MR RE M ERERRATY FE/RER
2019512825H
Hangzhou Zhonghe Enterprise PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 90.0% 90.0% Development
Management Co., Ltd.* 7 August 2019 AR #100,0007T management
MR EERERAF FE/ R E R MEEE
2019%8A7H
Hangzhou Yixin Enterprise PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 90.0% 90.0% Investment management
Management Co., Ltd.“) 7 August 2019 AR 100,00075 REEHE
MM R EERERARY HE/RE R
201958F7H
Beijing Xingwang Junrun Science and PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Technology development
Trade Co., Ltd Trade Co., Ltd. 4 11 June 2019 AR #100,000,0007% Bl
TREFTHREFRAT FE/RER
2019568118
Chendu Xinhuan Cinema PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 59.4% 59.3% Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.* 4 April 2019 AR #1,000,0007% PhRERE
AT ER RERARATY FE/ R E R
2019545 4H

>
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

1. QAFRREEER (B

BERENBASNER (@

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of
equity attributable

registration and capital as at to the Group as at Principal
Name of company place of business 31 December 2022 at 31 December activities
202251283180
FEMALIL R R BETEERS/ FEER2A31BH
AGEA LB RAME AMER FEfLRRREE 23t TEEY
2022 2021
2022 20216
Maggie and Rose Limited"o England GBP1 30.7% 30.7% Education development
11 December 2007 15 HEER
B
2007128118
Zhongan (Shandong) Urban PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 20 June 2019 AR #100,000,0007% ES
K% (LR BoEEERARY FE/RER
2019468208
Zhongan (Shandong) Business PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Property development
Development Co., Ltd." 20 June 2019 AR #100,000,0007 MR
RL (LFR) BEERERAFY FE/ R E R
201946520H
Fine Earn Limited® Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
BRERAFY 1 November 2019 18T REER
aE
2019F1181H
Fund Huge Limited® Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
EHBRATY 8 November 2019 18T BREER
&E
2019511880
Zhong An Intelligent Living Cayman Islands HK$38,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Service Limited 16 November 2020 38,000,000/ 7T REER

RREZEERBRRATO
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes:

N/A: Not yet incorporated/established/acquired or liquidated by the
Group

(a) Types of legal entities:
(1) Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise
(2) Sino-foreign equity joint venture

(3) Limited liability company invested by foreign-invested
enterprise

(4) Limited liability company

(b) The capital of these subsidiaries has not been fully injected in
2022.

(c) These subsidiaries are subsidiaries held by non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group and, accordingly, are accounted for as
subsidiaries by virtue of the Group’s unilateral control over the
subsidiaries.

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H
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BRAMBARNEN (@
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BrEERaRMisE (@)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”),
which comprise standards and interpretations approved by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”),
and International Accounting Standards and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Committee and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties, investment
properties classified as held for sale, equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which have been measured at fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly,
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

j?i&%l‘ﬁﬂki (H\E)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements to Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS
IFRSs 2018-2020 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and
IAS 41

The revised standards have had no significant financial effect
on these financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

B EREHEE (B)

2.3 BEEMmEREREMHIEEE

2.3 lIssued but not yet effective International

Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and

IAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to IFRS 16

IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS

Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture’

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Insurance Contracts’

Insurance Contracts®

Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 -
Comparative Information®

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (the 2020 Amendments)?*

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
2022 Amendments’F

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction’
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 lIssued but not yet effective International
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

9 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

& As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective

date of the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in
June 2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than
IFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

@ An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating
to the classification overlay set out in this amendment shall
apply it on initial application of IFRS 17

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
impact of these new and revised IFRSs upon initial application.
So far, the Group considers that, these new and revised IFRSs
are unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results
of operations and financial position.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate and joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the joint ventures, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments
in associates or joint ventures.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BrEERaRMisE (@)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in a joint venture is classified as held for
sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

B EREHEE (B)

TETSHECRIRE (8

EBatREE @

EFMRBEN—EEBREES
BE-—EREAR—BEEEMLER
2 HEWRIGELRENFY
ERERF AEEMEEHE
Wi — TR o

EREERBE—IEEEE B
BRBRR S RBERIE RN KE
BHNEBGRGEABEDE S
W LPTAENEREERE
Bo LIV EEREEL &+
D:\ﬁWE’]HAJ\_tT/TQEIE ae

XSG oPEECETT  JoRlfF
BHREZEBEHHNAAE
EEHt2 > MEAKREIER
RIBR P RESR 0

U 75’ FE RN ERRAR
RERNEEBRRAREE
HESS - AN BN NEREE
HERARANEENE BHE
SRR N EASEER
FARNBLEERFE MER
EER DR AR

BT RMAFTE > AT PR
HEHNAE pLIFERE S
DRy B8R e A & B ATE PRI
ﬁﬁﬁhﬁﬁ’]ﬂyﬂﬂ% fBIERR
ABERNBIBEFRBARR
A BEERFAEAENEENE
oMM BREMER 2 AER
PR BEEFEN R AEE T
SR LR ZRFERFER
BRI 2 W FEsD A 1R a ©

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER

145



146

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

j?iﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂki (H\E)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

j?iﬁ%l‘ﬁﬂki (H\E)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, completed
properties held for sale, properties under development,
investment properties and non-current assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;
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2.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

V)

(v)

(vii)

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates
used for this purpose are as follows:

Properties 2.38% t0 4.75%
Machinery 9.5%
Office equipment 19%
Motor vehicles 19%

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and 19%

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

2.

mMREERESEER (8)

24

TECSHECRIE (8

BERRERITE

BBk m FERIRERIN TS
B A E R R ST E KRR
BEREAR - FERRENE
BREABEBREANEEEE
EEE MR R M R UUFEH B
TR EERRAE -

FERXBEEBREREEN
SHMEERFEERS  —
AREt AEEHIBRm R o HZE]
RRE MERBENRSE
REEREBETERCERE
o i AERE R AR DY ER
= AREEERZFE D HE
RBAAREEAEHNER
BEWRHETE-

FENDNRBEEERRBNG
STRIERER UERENRE
B AS{E > W FRAERITR{E © BLLL

RANFEFBEEERNT .

ES 2.38%-4.75%

251 9.5%

ENEE 19%

_E 19%

HELE BEH
THEHARR19%



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Property and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset
which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for
sale in the ordinary course of business. Investment properties
comprise completed investment properties and investment
properties under construction. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

j?iﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂki (H\E)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Investment properties (continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit or
loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

The Group determines whether completed properties held for
sale and properties under development would be transferred
to investment properties when, only when, there is a change
in use, evidenced by the following criteria: (a) the Group has
prepared a business plan that reflects the future rental income
generated by the property and this is supported with evidence
that there is demand for rental space; (b) the Group can
demonstrate that it has the resources, including the necessary
financing or capital, to hold and manage an investment
property; (c) the change in use is legally permissible; (d) if the
property must be further developed for the change in use, the
development has commenced and (e) the change in use is
approved by the board.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs
directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period.

Properties under development which are already under
construction or expected to be under construction within
twelve months or have an explicit business plan for
construction are classified as current assets. Other properties
under development are classified as non-current assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by
an apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings
attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable value takes
into account the selling price, less estimated costs to be
incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions.

Other intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Other intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of other intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date
of the acquisition. The useful lives of other intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Other intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is
an indication that the other intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each reporting period.

The principal estimated useful lives of other intangible assets
are as follows:
Category Estimated useful life

Brandname 20 years
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

Buildings 5 to 20 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.
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2.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

j?i&%l‘ﬁﬂki (H\E)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes

in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group
had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are also recognised as other income in the statement of profit
or loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend

can be measured reliably.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING 2. FEBERETHER (B)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 24 FEGSTECREE @

(continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay
the received cash flows in full without material delay to
a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
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When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the ass et, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLS”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit
risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due.
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2.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continueq)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans

and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, amounts due to related companies, lease liabilities
and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as
set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BrEERaRMisE (@)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and on disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general policy for provisions above; and
(il the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
amount of income recognised in accordance with the policy for
revenue recognition.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

j?iﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂki (H\E)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Employee retirement benefits

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government,
the companies comprising the Group operating in Mainland
China (the “PRC group companies”) have participated in a
local municipal government retirement benefit scheme (the
“Scheme”), whereby the PRC group companies are required
to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries of their
employees to the Scheme to fund their retirement benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the Scheme
is to pay the ongoing contributions under the Scheme.
Contributions under the Scheme are charged to the statement
of profit of loss as incurred. Contributions paid to the Scheme
for an employee are not available to reduce the Group’s future
obligations to the Scheme even if the employee leaves.

Employee benefits to all eligible employees of the overseas
subsidiaries are made in accordance with the rules set forth in
the collective labor agreement, and recorded as an expense in
the period they are due as a charge to the statement of profit
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax and land
appreciation tax. Income tax relating to items recognised
outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed the
at end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.

(@  Revenue from the sales of properties

For property development and sales contracts for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in
time, revenue is recognised when the purchasers obtain
the physical possession or the legal title of the completed
properties and the Group has the present right to
payment from the purchasers.

(b)  Revenue from hotel operation

Revenue from hotel operation is derived from room
rental, food and beverage sales and income from the
provision of other ancillary services, and is recognised
when the services are rendered.
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2.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(c)  Revenue from property management and other services

Revenue from property management and other services
is recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BrEERaRMisE (@)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services in exchange for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in note 34 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for
a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share 3.72%.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate of
3.72% (2021: 4.73%) has been applied to the expenditure on
the individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as
a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company is the Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$”), and the functional currencies of subsidiaries
incorporated outside Mainland China are the “HK$”, the
United States dollar (“US$”) and the Great Britain Pound
(“GBP”), respectively. The functional currency of Mainland
China subsidiaries is the RMB. As the Group mainly operates
in Mainland China, the RMB is used as the presentation
currency of the Group. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time
the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of profit
or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange
differences on those monetary items are also recorded in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

j?iﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂki (H\E)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of non-PRC established subsidiaries
are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to
those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of non-PRC established subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of non-PRC
established companies which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BrEERaRMisE (@)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

(i) Property lease classification — Group as a lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a major
part of the economic life of the commercial property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting
to substantially all the fair value of the commercial property,
that it retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of these properties which are leased
out and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

(i) Classification between investment properties,
completed properties held for sale and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group
considers whether a property generates cash flows largely
independently of the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment

property.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

(iii)

Classification of current and non-current properties
under development

The Group classifies properties under development according
to the construction progress and estimated commencement
date of pre-sale. Properties under development are classified
as current assets after the construction commences or having
a clear plan for construction. As for the rest properties under
development, the Group classify them as non-current.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below:

(i)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were revalued based on the appraised
market value by independent professional valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the estimate, the Group considers
information from current prices in an active market for similar
properties and uses assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@ current prices in an active market for properties of
a different nature, condition or location or subject to
different leases or other contracts, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the dates of the transactions that
occurred at those prices; and
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BrEERaRMisE (@)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(i)

Fair value of investment properties (continued)

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of the cash flows.

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of
the fair value include those related to current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and condition,
appropriate discount rates, expected future market rents and
future maintenance costs. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 December 2022 was RMB5,276,900,000
(2021: RMB5,290,500,000). Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement and a sensitivity
analysis, are given in note 13 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion of
properties under development, and the costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale. Such provision requires
the use of judgements and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, the carrying value and
provision for properties in the period in which the estimate is
changed will be adjusted accordingly.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30%
to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds
from the sale of properties less deductible expenditures
including land costs, borrowing costs and other property
development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to LAT.
However, the implementation of these taxes varies amongst
various cities in Mainland China and the Group has not finalised
its LAT returns with various tax authorities. Accordingly,
significant judgement is required in determining the amount
of land appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises these liabilities based on
management’s best estimates. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the statement of profit
or loss and the provision for LAT in the period in which such
determination is made.

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in
a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate
(“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the
Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when
no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that
do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to
be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BrEERaRMisE (@)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(v) Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Other non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value
in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal
is based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.
When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

(vi) Fair value of unlisted equity investment

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based
on a market-based valuation technique as detailed in note
43 to the financial statements. The valuation requires the
Group to determine the comparable public companies (peers)
and select the price multiple. In addition, the Group makes
estimates about the discount for illiquidity and size differences.
The Group classifies the fair value of these investments as
Level 3. The fair value of the unlisted equity investments
at 31 December 2022 was RMB438,201,000 (2021:
RMB504,131,000). Further details are included in note 17 to
the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(vii)

(viii)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies.

Provision for ECLs on trade receivables and other
financial assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and other financial assets. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e. by service type,
customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next year which
can lead to an increased number of defaults in the property
development sector, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future.

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

3. EXRGHHE KRG (&)

(EERNEIEPSE )

(vii)

(viii)

FrARIEH B R Z R ARB A
MIAREN I RARRAEESE
SRR 8 ) I £ BI 4 0 G By A= 2R
RESIERYIBE R T > I HESE IR AT
MIBE E - BE R THBIEL
MIBEEN TR SEEBR
B PIAERYBF RE 22 22 5k ~ SRZRFERR
B 7K [F) R SR A TE 5t &) F
B AR HEf -

B2RREREMEREE
RAEEBRER

rEBREREREESEES
EWREREMERREERBR
EEBE -BHEXDENEASE
LEEERNZER A RAE
Bl (BMZ AR 2 R AR R K
STAR) RYBEAR BUEE ©

BREEENIRESERBE
HRENX - AEEKIZAIEN
BERREEMUBFARBEEE
S HRAL B o BN > fis TRAU A A IR
IR REEE » BT EE R
MERETEENBFIEN B
FEMNERILRE - NEREH
o BEHRENXKEEN K
ARG ETEEEF DT

BERREQR  FRAKEENRR
RIEMEERE 2 EERAMER
SHEmEBEAMGE - REIEERR
b 2R IR AR e TR ORI AR A R O
{EHEEHRK -AEENBEEE
I3 15 45 B e T8 A IR S BT BE
BERRBERRKRNEREN -

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER

187



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BrEERaRMisE (@)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. RESEEF

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business MEEMS  AEBRBEBMEL

units based on income derived from business and has two reportable YA RRIL TR B WA ME R #HR S

operating segments as follows: KEDEUWT -

(@ the residential segment develops and sells residential @ FEI ERERMKEIMNEK
properties, and provides property management services, HERHEEEYE TREE
project management services and other services to residential MERBYEEERE EEE
properties in Mainland China and Canada; AR S  ELAMARTS ;

(o) the commercial segment develops and sells commercial () FEDH ETPEARMBERK
properties, leases investment properties, owns and operates HEMEMREERmAYE S
hotels and provides project management services and other KEWME BERKSERE I
services to commercial properties in Mainland China, Japan BEAYERHEEEEERY
and United Kingdom. T ELAARFS o

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments EIEEEERERAEE 2SN

separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource EBUEHARE RS kFRIFTEG

allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance BIRTE o D ERRIRIBIHE AT IR 5 72 30 F)

is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss, which is B E1E RIS EREEENRA

a measure of profit/loss before tax from continuing operations. A, I8 8) T UUFRE - 9 2B R

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to EREE2RREBEERBETHERS

the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then = HEHBHEMRBANEEETR

prevailing market prices. R
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022

20224 12A31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. &K&HIEE (@)
(CONTINUED)
Residential Commercial Total
(e [HES st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Year ended 31 December 2022 H§E2022F 12831 LEE  AEBKTFT ARETFT ARETT
Segment revenue SEUA
Sales to external customers IR EIHE 8,658,716 591,783 9,250,499
Intersegment sales DEEHE 31,670 - 31,670
Sales to external customers ISR RIHE 8,690,386 591,783 9,282,169
Reconciliation: GEED
Elimination of intersegment sales Hig D 2 BRI E (31,670)
Revenue from continuing operations REBFESEEENRA 9,250,499
Segment results DEEE 1,814,812 (496,428) 1,318,384
Segment assets PHEE 44,671,977 15,179,776 59,851,753
Reconciliation: GEAD
Elimination of intersegment receivables %) & & fE UL TR 1B %1 54 (754,901)
Total assets s 43,917,076 15,179,776 50,006,852
Segment liabilities SBaE 36,891,821 9,871,867 46,763,688
Reconciliation: SHED .
Elimination of intersegment payables 4 & B & {4 FUE 184 -
Total liabilities meE 36,891,821 9,871,867 46,763,688
Other segment information: HthpEE M ©
Share of losses of: DL
Associates HE AT 86,323 - 86,323
Joint ventures AETE 14,310 1,014 15,324
Impairment losses recognised in BRirARRZRESE
the statement of profit or loss 2,660 47,661 50,321
Investments in joint ventures REERENKRE 1,077,787 31,427 1,109,214
Investments in associates REERBRNKRE 1,123,805 - 1,123,805
Depreciation and amortisation rE R 22,050 149,514 171,564
Capital expenditure EwNEE 13,646 118,551 132,197
RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER

189



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

RN (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. &&9HEE (@)
(CONTINUED)
Residential Commercial Total
FE HES 4 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB 000
Year ended 31 December 2021 BHZE2021F12H31LEEE ANEBEFT NE#EFT NEBEFT
Segment revenue SEUA
Sales to external customers HINBEFHE 4,097,616 871,066 4,968,682
Intersegment sales DEEHE 4,440 = 4,440
Sales to external customers HIMNPEPHE 4,102,056 871,066 4,973,122
Reconciliation: GEED
Elimination of intersegment sales HIHD 2 EHHE (4,440)
Revenue from continuing operations REBFESEEENRA 4,968,682
Segment results DEEE 692,441 (466,430) 226,011
Segment assets DEEE 42,553,703 15,504,840 58,058,543
Reconciliation: A
Elimination of intersegment receivables %) & & fE UL TR 1B %1 54 (818,234)
Total assets BEE 41,735,469 15,504,840 57,240,309
Segment liabilities SBaE 36,124,020 9,771,245 45,895,265
Reconciliation: A
Elimination of intersegment payables 4 & R & {4 FUE 184 (585,040)
Total liabilities Bam 35,538,980 9,771,245 45,310,225
Other segment information: HthaEE
Share of (profits) or losses of: oMb (FIE) g8
Associates BE AT (154,654) = (154,654)
Joint ventures AEbhE 21,548 805 22,353
Impairment losses recognised in the — EBHm&RAER A ERE
statement of profit or loss 6,279 110,431 116,710
Investments in joint ventures REEEENEE 602,857 32,441 635,298
Investments in associates REERABNEE 1,145,297 = 1,145,297
Depreciation and amortisation e Koy 20,747 162,275 183,022
Capital expenditure BARMEX 9,489 118,941 128,430
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Geographical information

(@) Revenue from external customers

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

REDEER ()

@k
(@) KEIMNBERHIKA

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Mainland China FA ] A P 9,202,483 4,934,185
Others HAth 48,016 34,497
9,250,499 4,968,682

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the
customers.

(b) Non-current assets

LW AEBRDRBERRFAE

bk I

b) IERBEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR EFT AERET T

Mainland China B A B 12,483,812 12,876,007
Others HAth 102,141 165,011
12,585,953 13,041,018

The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of
the assets and excludes equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

No sales to a single customer or a group of customers under
common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

LFRIFRBEEENDIRBEEEME
wE D EFBERAABESAH
thEEBRENERRERELERES
o

AR EERERHER
o Y S B — B AR I T
MEF AN E AR A EREE

20224 k2021912531 H IEFEE U
ABI10%8 L E o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET, 5. WA ~HIT AR FEE

AND OTHER EXPENSES IVy-2=8ul::5-3
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WARNDITWT :
2022 2021
2022£FF 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Revenue from contracts with customers B ESAMA 9,148,971 4,846,400
Revenue from other sources E A R A
Gross rental income from investment KEMEREHEWALRL
property operating leases 101,528 122,282
9,250,499 4,968,682
Revenue from contracts with customers BREHWA
() Disaggregated revenue information () SDIFWAER
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2022F12831HILEE
Property
management
Property and other Hotel
Segments 2E development services operations Total
MEEER
IS HitiRE — EEEEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ABBFT AREFRT AREFRT AREFRT

Types of goods or services EmdR%EE

Sale of properties THEME 8,519,313 - - 8,519,313
Hotel operation services BEEERS - - 221,657 221,657
Property management and other services #1312 K H it BRES - 408,001 = 408,001
Total revenue from contracts with customers &5 & 4IUL A 4248 8,519,313 408,001 221,657 9,148,971
Timing of revenue recognition W 5 B R SR R

At a point in time RE—EEH 8,519,313 - 221,657 8,740,970
Over time BB R - 408,001 - 408,001
Total revenue from contracts with customers &5 A4 A 4248 8,519,313 408,001 221,657 9,148,971
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET,
AND OTHER EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

U A ~ EL At U A T WS 5 05 8B
R HMEZ (&)

ZEREHWA (@)
0 DIFRAER @

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE2021F 128331 HILEE
Property
management
Property and other Hotel
Segments D development services operations Total
MEEER BIE
VESE EfiR% ST 1ozt
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000
ANEETFT ANBETFT NEETFT NEEFT
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000
Types of goods or services EmdREEE
Sale of properties HEWE 4,278,005 = = 4,278,005
Hotel operation services BIEEERS - = 173,177 173,177
Property management and other services — #12 & 12 K EL A fR %5 - 395,218 - 395,218
Total revenue from contracts with customers & B & 474t A 42 %8 4,278,005 395,218 173,177 4,846,400
Timing of revenue recognition e 25 B R R B R
At a point in time RE—EEH 4,278,005 = 173,177 4,451,182
Over time kS = 395,218 - 395,218
Total revenue from contracts with customers &5 &4 A 4858 4,278,005 395,218 173,177 4,846,400

Revenue from the sale of properties recognised that was
included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting
period was amounted to RMB8,360,822,000 (2021:

RMB3,030,507,000).

PRSPPIV ESEENERE
R EERYEHEREA A
R #8,360,822,0007T (20214F :
AR #3,030,507,0007T) ©
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

j?iﬁﬁ[‘ﬁ.ni (H\E)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET, 5. WA -HEMIEARIK=ZFEE

AND OTHER EXPENSES (CONTINUED) UK EMBZ (48)
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Other income HgA
Bank interest income RITH B WA 114,627 45,476
Subsidy income* A A LT A 7,864 18,972
Others HAth 30,970 100,797
153,461 165,245
Gains &
Foreign exchange gain P& %2 W 2 3,681 =
Gain on remeasurement of investments BN EHSBEREREN
in joint ventures W= 100,563 -
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFRAREEN G 335 25,823
Gain on disposal of items of HEREBKRFZEER K
property and equipment 55,654 14,427
Dividend income from equity investments BAREBEFAHMEE
at fair value through other R mEERNR B WA
comprehensive income - 54,315
Changes in fair value of financial assets at MAnBEEsTEEHEFHTA
fair value through profit or loss ERERNTHMEEN
NRBEEZE - 50,309
160,233 144,874
313,694 310,119
* There are no unfulfiled conditions or contingencies relating to * A R8I 47 Bh I 4% oK 52 AR B 6 14 o i 22
these grants. Eo
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET, 5.

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

W A ~ EL At U A B2 U 0% BB

AND OTHER EXPENSES (CONTINUED) UKk EME: (B
2022 2021
2022£FF 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ANEHEFT
Other expenses Hhpsz
Impairment of goodwill EE R E - (98,995)
Impairment provision for property and EERRENRER S
equipment (12,867) (11,436)
Impairment of financial assets EREENRE (2,660) 6,279)
Impairment provision for right-of-use assets ~ f A& ERERE (19,936) =
Impairment provision for intangible assets EmTEERMERE (14,858) =
Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair MUA BEEEHEEH A
value through profit or loss ERERNTHMEEN
ARBEEZD (19,889) =
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BWB AR ZEE - (23,854)
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREYENEIE (23,683) (3,977)
Donations EiEEN (51,017) (6,608)
Foreign exchange loss fE R 518 - (2,176)
Compensation HE (18,958) (48,671)
Others HAth (11,018) (8,724)
(174,886) (210,720)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BrEERaRMisE (@)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRIAIFIHE
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REBBRRAMBEENR GEA) T
HEIE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaE ABEFT ANEBEFir
Cost of properties sold BHEYERA 24 6,275,512 3,364,398
Depreciation of property and ER MK EBITE
equipment 12 126,997 121,326
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FFEEEEITE 15 42,832 59,961
Amortisation of other intangible HhmA & AR
assets 16 1,735 1,735
Lease payments not included in the N EiEstEREBBHNHEENNR
measurement of lease liabilities 15 51,970 62,484
Auditor’s remuneration ZEREMEN <= 5,040 5,040
Staff costs including directors’ and ETH A (BIEEERETE
chief executive’s remuneration: TTHAEMS) : 8
— Salaries and other staff costs —TEREMETHA 386,094 478,293
— Pension scheme contributions*  — 3Bk 5T 2= 61,143 62,779
Foreign exchange differences, net [ER Z=%E 2 E (3,681) 2,176

Direct operating expenses (including B AL 2Bk (R11E1R B =
repairs and maintenance arising ~ EL£NEERER)

on investment properties) 4,378 7,783
Loss on disposal of investment HEREYXEEE
properties 23,683 3,977
Gain on disposal of right-of-use HEFRAREE SR
assets (335) (25,823)
Gain on disposal of items of HEMEKRFZEEE K=
property and equipment (55,654) (14,427)
Gain on remeasurement of BENctEHSELEREN KRG
investments in joint ventures 36 (100,563) -
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE—E B AR EE 37 - 23,854
Dividend income from equity BAREBEESFAEMEERGH
investments at fair value through @& EM R EWA
other comprehensive income - (54,315)
Fair value losses/(gains), net: AABERE K& F58 .
Changes in fair value of KEMEN QA BEES
investment properties 13 115,160 60,311
Changes in fair value of financial M AABEFTEBEES A
assets at fair value through EHERNEREEDN
profit or loss NABBEES 19,889 (50,309)
Impairment of goodwill** R E - 98,995
Impairment provision for property ¥ 2£ Ko 5% 5 8 (B B
and equipment ** 12 12,867 11,436
Impairment provision for right-of- 1 I & E B E B
use assets™* 15 19,936 -
Impairment provision for intangible 25 & RE B ™
assets™ 16 14,858 -
Impairment of financial assets** EREERE 26 2,660 6,279
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED)

*

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group
as the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

PRIZAIFLE (48)

* BEE RN HR HAEEER
EERBIRED B #l Rk F o

** stAGHBmRZ TEMEES -

FINANCE COSTS MIFEEH
An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: REBWNMEERDTWT :
2022 2021
2022£FF 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARETFT ARETT

Interest on bank and other borrowings IRIT R EMAERF] S 868,174 793,432
Interest on lease liabilities HESEMNE 8,666 10,494
Total interest expense on financial liabilities not i 3R A MEEST AEBTEH
at fair value through profit or loss TREaENA SR ERE 876,840 803,926
Less: Interest capitalised in properties under & : BN E AT R
development (729,575) (578,850)
147,265 225,076
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022

2022% 128311

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EFERIETHAEM=

REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed R LA FBRQEERAFIZE39(1)
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 39(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the (@)~ )~ ) ROHEUKRAT GHEEE
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies MAER) ROIF28 > FRNEERFE
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is BITHRAEMESIRENT :
as follows:
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT NEBEFT
Fees e 1,008 851
Other emoluments: HAnErmN -
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e JEAL R R 6,320 6,166
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEIMERR 218 130
6,538 6,296
7,546 7,147
(@) Independent non-executive directors 6 WIUIFMITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during FREMBIIENITEENG
the year were as follows: BN
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
Fees e ARBETFT ANEHFT
Mr. Pei Ker Wei BREHE 336 336
Mr. Zhang Huagiao RIEB T E 336 336
Mr. Fung Che Wai Anthony® BERITED 336 30
Mr. Loke Yu® FESMIZ L0 - 149
1,008 851
(i) Mr. Loke Yu resigned on 10 June 2021. 0] FEE M S R 2021FE6810
H#tEe
(i) Mr. Fung Che Wai Anthony was appointed on 26 November iy IBERILENR2021F11526
2021. HEZHE-
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EFERIETHAEM=E

REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (#&)
(b) Executive directors and the chief executive b)) BMITEEAETETHRAE
Pension
Salaries and scheme
allowances Bonuses contributions Total
HE R TE4A  BAREHEIER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AREFT ARETFT ARETT

2022 20226
Executive directors HiTEZE
Mr. Shi Zhongan ek it 1,804 144 1 1,959
Ms. Jin Ni &Lt 849 144 16 1,009
Ms. Shi Jinfan MR Z £ 1,204 - 107 1,311
Ms. Shen Tiaojuan mEEZ L 981 144 - 1,125
Chist executive and executive director FETKASR
HiTEE
Mr. Zhang Jiangang REELE 1,050 - 84 1,134
5,888 432 218 6,538
Pension
Salaries and scheme
allowances Bonuses contributions Total
e REk B4 RASHBER 1zt
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ANEEFT ANEEFT ANEEFT NEEFr
2021 20214
Executive directors HiITEZE
Mr. Shi Zhongan ik 1,801 - 5 1,806
Ms. Jin Ni o ey ogu 875 - 7 882
Ms. Shi Jinfan ik l5e g 1,205 108 a7 1,410
Ms. Shen Tiaojuan hEELt 1,001 101 - 1,102
Chist executive and executive director ZITHAER
HITEZE
Mr. Zhang Jiangang REWELE 1,075 - 21 1,096
5,957 209 130 6,296
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or FAMBEESHEIRENE
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2021: Nil). EAIE B 25k (20214 - %)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022

2022% 128311

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. RA¥EEH#AL
The five highest paid employees during the year included one (2021: FREGAEeHFALTREE—%
one) director, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 (2021 : —%) EF > HMEF1BE
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining four (2021: four) B ESCPIEE8 o F AR N4 (2021
non-director, highest paid employees for the year are as follows: F %) FEEREIHT A LTHNEEF
1BUWF

2022 2021

2022£FF 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Salaries, bonuses and allowances E e A (e AW =4 5,937 7,095
Pension scheme contributions BRIREFEERR 282 72

6,219 7,167
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose FEEREHMNEE 2METE TIIE
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: EHEARNZAENT :

Number of employees

EBEAH
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$1,000,000 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,0007 7T 22,000,000 7T 3 2
Over HK$2,000,000 #8352,000,0003% 75 1 2
4 4
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10.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

INCOME TAX

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong, Canada and
United Kingdom are not liable for income tax as they did not have
any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong, Canada and United
Kingdom during the year (2021: Nil).

The provision for the PRC income tax has been provided at the
applicable income tax rate of 25% (2021: 25%) on the assessable
profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale
of properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures. The
Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a provision for
LAT according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax
laws and regulations. Prior to the actual cash settlement of the LAT
liabilities, the LAT liabilities are subject to the final review/approval by
the tax authorities.

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

10. FRiG#1

HRAEERES NMEARERR
YHHBATSRAEEREE NE
K R B R M 4 E AR PR SR AR A 0 R
EEHER  NMEAREEF SR E
&5 (20214 © #E)

Fh B BT 15 7R B 5t A4S 5 B £ 0 B A9 Y
BABIMERKRFE25% (20214 :
25%) HEAFR SRR EL B o

TR EIRE R LML E RIS &Y
P45 7R 28 R BI 40 R B S (B4 st Ak
I EE AR E MY ZERZE RS 12
TIB0%E60%BIE AR KB &
SEERBIREAMRTIERER
fast~ FH R EREBEA T A LMIE(E
MEF - EURTEREE LMIEE
MEBEZA > THIEEREERBR
BERRKER e

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANBEFT NEHEFT
Current — PRC corporate income  BIEAfRIE—F R E b E
tax for the year FTiSiR 309,804 39,126
Current — PRC LAT for the year BNEAFRIE — S P AP B - 3th
BER 1,103,751 254,402
Deferred IEIERRIE (116,589) (106,043)
Total tax charge for the year FRNIESL HA4EEE 1,296,966 187,485

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10. FRE# (48)

BEBEARBDRERZHNEABFAE
ENEREREEMR XS ER AT B
BRAREMBARBEERREKSERN

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
using the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company and
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the

effective tax rate is as follows: MBS HIRNT ¢
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB 000
ANBHEFT NEHEFT
Profit before tax FRIRATE A 1,318,384 226,011
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% ¥25% (20214F : 25%) J&7E
(2021: 25%) MEFTENRIE 329,595 56,503
Different tax rate for specific provinces or BERSMH S IEEAER
enacted by local authority NG ES - 228
Effect of withholding tax at 10% A & [ P B Y S 8 B A
on the distributable profits of DIKiE ) BAN10%TE0 R
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries N2 (6,529) 128
Utilised tax losses not recognised in & A B 3 A A AR AR SR Y
previous periods RIEE18 (39,240) (179,117)
Income not subject to tax BIERR 2 WA (236) (35,516)
Expenses not deductible for tax AERFEE 16,253 5,433
Tax losses not recognised REESBIRIEE 8 169,310 149,025
Provision for LAT T IR EIR AV B 1,103,751 254,402
Tax effect on LAT THIBERIIRTE R & (275,938) (63,601)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate AEBBEBRRENRNIBRSL 1,296,966 187,485

REHMBRTRNENIRESS

Tax payable in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents:

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ABBFiT NEBEFT

PRC corporate income tax Rl 962,588 692,583
PRC LAT Ho R IR (E AR 1,680,105 1,008,372
2,642,693 1,700,955
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11.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 11. BARZERIFIEAELES
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT B & F

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit BEREABIZREZSABDZER
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of KRERFBEABRLERIBEARE
RMB186,734,000 (2021: RMB73,132,000) and the weighted average 186,734,0007T (20214 : AR
number of ordinary shares of 5,635,809,800 (2021: 5,635,809,800) 73,132,0007%) * U R ERBITH T
in the issue of shares during the year, as adjusted to reflect the rights 38 B% B 0 4 - ¥9 2405,635,809,800%

issued during the year.

(20214 : 5,635,809,8008%) st& &
FREL R ERN R HEAREE T

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on: STESRERBHLER
2022 2021
2022£FF 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Earnings &BF)
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders ~ &A B ERIRERFTE AEEF]
of the parent H 186,734 73,132
Number of shares
g 4=
2022 2021
202245 20214
Shares 54h)

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year

FADHETEBRINET O
5,635,809,800 5,635,809,800

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share AEBERE E20225F 5202146
amounts presented for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 1283 1HIEFEEHRNSRELREF
2021 in respect of a dilution as the Group had no potential dilutive SEREHEERAE RRAXEBRR
ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE2022F12831H EEEARBED
(2021: Nil). EATBITEE T AR (20214 1 /) o

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 12. ERKHRE
Office Motor Leasehold Construction
Properties Machinery equipment vehicles  improvements in progress Total
M wm MAERE AE HEEE TETR @z

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000
ARETT  ARETT ABETn ARETn ARBETn ARBETn ARETT

At 31 December 2020, net of 120206128310 B K5t
accumulated depreciation and &R FfE

impairment 2,320,897 48632 28,872 26,368 132,321 50,196 2,607,286
Additions i 3,086 10,758 14,234 8,178 75,814 16,360 128,430
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 37)  HE—RKBAT (Hz£37) - (23,666) (558) (1,375) (40,013) (474) (66,086)
Disposals HeE (9,355) (14) (455) (2.477) - (250) (12,551)
Depreciation provided FREHETE

during the year (73,314) (6562) (8689) (4674) (28,088) - (121,326)
Impairment HE - (45) (721) - (10,670) - (11,436)

At 31 December 2021, netof 2021128318 MR K5t
accumulated depreciation and T ERFfE

impairment 2,241,314 29,108 32,684 26,020 129,364 65,832 2,524,317
At 31 December 2021 120215128318
Cost BAE 2,594,723 40,034 94,574 80,994 199,221 65,832 3,075,378
Accumulated depreciationand Rt ERHE

impairment (353,409) (10,931) (61,890) (64,974) (69,857) - (651,061)
Net carrying amount FEZE 2,241,314 29,108 32,684 26,020 129,364 65,832 2,524,317
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12.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

12. EEMRE (B

Office Motor Leasehold  Construction
Properties Machinery equipment vehicles  improvements in progress Total
L/ i WAZRE HE HERE IR gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANEETFT ANEEFT NEEFT AEBFTT NEEF7T NEEF7T ANEEF7T
At 31 December 2021, net of 1R202141258310  MBR K5
accumulated depreciationand ~ HTEE R E
impairment 2,241,314 29,103 32,684 26,020 129,364 65,832 2,524,317
Additions bl 31,673 3,522 5,684 13,182 17,456 60,680 132,197
Acquisition of subsidiaries that are  UiBEIE £ ITB AT (HfzE 36)
not a business (note 36) - - 105 - - - 105
Construction in progress completed 73 T2 T - - - 1,798 (1,798) -
Disposals de (1,370) ) (3,309) (618) (14,434) = (19,732)
Depreciation provided FREHETE
during the year (88,617) (4,698) (6,386) (5,626) (21,670) = (126,997)
Impairment A - - (452) - (12,415) - (12,867)
At 31 December 2022, net of 20205128318
accumulated depreciationand ~ JRREHIEREE
impairment 2,183,000 21,926 28,326 32,958 100,099 124,714 2,497,023
At 31 December 2022 #20225125831H
Cost e 2,623,099 43,489 94,638 91,637 172,406 124,714 3,150,883
Accumulated depreciationand Bt ERHE
impaiment (440,999) (15,563) (66,312) (58,679) (72,307) = (653,860)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,183,000 27,926 28,326 32,958 100,099 124,714 2,497,023

Although the Group had obtained the land use right certificates of
construction in progress, building ownership certificates may be not
obtained before the completion of construction work.

At 31 December 2022, certain items of the Group’s property
and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB1,177,640,000 (2021: RMB1,185,490,000) were pledged to
secure interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the
Group as disclosed in note 32.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the management
of the Group concluded there were indications for impairment
and conducted impairment assessment on recoverable amounts
of certain leasehold improvements and office equipment with
carrying value in aggregate amounted to RMB24,956,000 and
RMB1,302,000, respectively. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying
amount of the pre-education business CGU, to which the asset
belongs when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, exceeds its recoverable amount, therefore, an impairment
loss of RMB12,867,000 for property and equipment within the CGU
was recognised in the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022. Assumptions used in the value in use
calculation of the pre-education business CGU for 31 December
2022 are disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements.

BEAEECREERIRZ LM
FA#ESE » BIEER T2 Al Al 0] B
EEISEEFA R -

R2022&E12831H AEBETY
ERZBEERBIFENARE
1,177,640,0007T (20214 : AR
1,185,490,0007T) > GNKIsE32FTiK &
EEARTFAEEGFERITEARE
&AL IR o

HZE2022F 12831 LEFEE & &E
BEEBYEEERENSR  HET
HMEEERARKBARBENUE
SREETHEN G REEESFD
A ANREE24 956,00070 & AR &
1,302,0007T ° 20224128310 » &
EFfBNHERESEEANELS
BhstEo e BN EREEER
BEAWEIEEE R REZE2022
F12B3 1A LEENGEEMBRE
HRERIRESESBENNNER KL HE
HEBEEA AR12,867,0007T ° 77
202212831 H B BRI EBREELE
BUNFEABEFEPERNBRRERRN
SRR EE16F IR EE ©

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. IREYE

206

Completed Investment
investment properties
properties held for sale Total
[S5-357 FIEHE
KREWE REME #ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NE#EFT NEEFT ANEEFT
At 31 December 2020 and 202012831 %

1 January 2021 2021FE1H1H 5,359,845 54,755 5,414,600
Increase in investment properties & YN 8,728 = 8,728
Transfers to investment properties EEFEIFIEIHERE Y

held for sale (59,660) 59,660 -
Disposal HE - (72,517) (72,517)
Changes in fair value of investment & &Y% N A BEEE)

properties (62,959) 2,648 (60,311)
At 31 December 2021 and R2021E12831H &

1 January 2022 2022FE1H1H 5,245,954 44,546 5,290,500
Increase in investment properties & YN 224,818 - 224,818
Transfers to investment properties EEFEFIEIHERE Y

held for sale (151,561) 151,561 -
Disposal HE - (123,258) (123,258)
Changes in fair value of investment & Y)¥E N A BEEE)

properties (117,211) 2,051 (115,160)
31 December 2022 R2022%F12831H 5,202,000 74,900 5,276,900
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) KrEME (8
2022 2021
20225 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB 000
HaE ANBEFT ANEET T
Non-current assets EREBEE 5,202,000 5,245,954
Current assets TMENE E (e) 74,900 44 546
5,276,900 5,290,500
(@  All investment properties of the Group were revalued at the @ KSEBREZHREVENRELRHB

end of the year by an independent professionally qualified
valuer, CBRE Limited, at fair value. CBRE Limited is an
industry specialist in investment property valuation. The fair
value represents the amount at which the assets could be
exchanged between a knowledgeable and willing buyer and a
seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation, in
accordance with International Valuation Standards.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable.

Investment properties held by the Group in the consolidated
statement of financial position were valued into fair value
hierarchy level 3 listed below. During the year, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and
Level 2 and there were investment properties with amounts of
RMB 26,100,000 transfers out of Level 3 into Level 2 (2021:
there were no transfers of fair value measurements between
Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3). The
valuation techniques are the direct comparison approach and
the income approach (term and reversion approach), and key
inputs are:

(1)  Term yield: the higher the term vyield, the lower the fair
value;

(2)  Reversionary yield: the higher the reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value;

(8)  Market unit rent: the higher the market unit rent, the

higher the fair value; and

(4)  Price per square metre: the higher the price, the higher
the fair value.

BUFEESERGER IR
BEABRABDBAABESE
fly o WHERIBE B R AR THEFT
AREVELENTEER R
fbﬁ@?a:éET?ﬁ%D\aEﬁE%

REBRIEEH HWH’EIF’E
TETEF‘UE%W&¥“ RBEE
ByE2E

TREHUWHAEEILEREY
EMARNEBE (LERZ FTEAN
HERM &R E#E) NWERURIE
BAnBETEHABENH
RIEEIDLAABEEGTENA
AEEEE E—ZE2HF=H °

REBREHBHERITEKDF
BERNREYELSTXRIINE
ZHRANBEFE - ENF—
RELEE — 4 2 BRI AT BES
ETEESE KEYEARE
26,100,0007cHEE = RE A FH
“ 4k (20214  EARBEES
BRE—REAET _HBEEA
HEHE =) - HERNTAR
BLEBUARIMAE (FHEBRIER
) EBHABES

(1) 7HAKR@EE HAREE
s AREE-E

@ ERR@mX:ERKREX
e AARBEE-E

@B WHEBUEET:G mHE
U AnEE-
=5 K

4 BTHARKENE:8TFTH
KRERES AnEER

=
=) ©

REEBMBRRE —BFER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

RN (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. REWE (@)
(@  (continued) @ &
The significant unobservable inputs BEARAIHRREA SR

Investment properties
held by the Group

Significant unobservable inputs

FEEFFAEREYE BEAFRTHRH AR
Property 1 — Term vyield, taking into account yield of 4% for office portion and 5.5% for

Property in Hangzhou

(Guomao Building)
1SR ZE —HUINAZE

(EEKRE)

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

retail portion, generated from comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.

Rt AR ZEELEWE (A SN 4% ZE 81D #35.5%) K BRFR
W IR B i W ER AR BR ML A RO B TE 14 USRS L VAR ERUR s =K o

Reversionary yield of 5.5% for office portion and 6% for retail portion, taking
into account annual unit market rental income and unit market value of the
comparable properties.

Kot ABAMISFEERSRARBEYENEMHE WA nERE
K75.5% K% T EED 76% °

Market unit rent of RMB1.7/sgm/day for office portion and RMB4.8/sgm/day
for retail portion, using direct market comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.

FEREEMSLER G AL TR E R EEER  MERNREHEEME
BHEZ mBBEAUAESRETHARERARE .70 RAEH) RETFHK
BRARML.8TT (BEZM) ©

Price of RMB8,515/sgm for office portion and RMB14,607/sgm for retail
portion, using market direct comparables and taking into account location
and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
FREEMBLEER AT RUEHEEHBRE - WERRSHMEANRER
BRAETHRARES 15T B AEH) KEFHRKARK14,6077T (F
E&MD) ©



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. REWE (@)
(@  (continued) @ &
The significant unobservable inputs (continued) BEARAIHREASE @)

Investment properties
held by the Group

Significant unobservable inputs

TEBREAEREYME BEATAHR@ AR

Property 2 — Term vyield, taking into account yield of 5%, generated from comparable
Property in Shanghai properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured
(La Vie) and to be received.

2SR — LB
(R %EE)

45t A AR 22 2 2 959 2 WL R I R 42 1 R 8 UR BRRL B U A O e T
M B RS RS O TR U 2 o

Reversionary yield of 5.5%, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties.
RAABUMBEFERESWARBEMENSBATmE ERKEES
5.5%¢°

Market unit rent of RMB7.8/sqm/day, using direct market comparables
and taking into account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.

FREFED SR ALt RS REFHER MERNRRTEEEME
HRR mHBUBEERAESTHRERAREBT.8T

Price of RMB46,943/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size
of property.
FREEMBHER AT RAUSHEEHBE - MERESHMEANRE
BRAETHKARE4L6,9437T

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

RN (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. REWE (B)
(@  (continued) @ &
The significant unobservable inputs (continued) BEARAIHREA SR @)

Investment properties
held by the Group

Significant unobservable inputs

TEBREAEREYME BEATAHR@ AR
Property 3 — Term vyield, taking into account yield of 5.5%, generated from comparable

Property in Hangzhou

(Integrated Service Center)
SEWE - E

(R B RFEH L)

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured
and to be received.

AR5t A B4R 2 A A 195.5% 2 W i e I BR P 472 {7 e S W B AL BR U A RO B
EMR RS HRE ARG -

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties.
RETABUMBFERESWAKRBEEYENB T E BERKGEE56% -

Market unit rent of RMB3.6/sqm/day, using direct market comparables
and taking into account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.
FREFEDSILRE ALt R E REFHER MERNRRTEEEME
HRR mHBUEERAESTHRERAREB3.67T

Price of RMB11,956/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size
of property.
FREEMBHER AT RAUSHEEHBE - MERESHMEANRE
BEABTAHRARE1,9567T



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. REWE (@)
(@  (continued) @ &
The significant unobservable inputs (continued) BEARAIHREASE @)

Investment properties
held by the Group

Significant unobservable inputs

TEBREAEREYME BEATAHR@ AR
Property 4 — Term vyield, taking into account yield of 5.5%, generated from comparable

Property in Hangzhou

(Retail portion of Highlong Plaza)
AT E— N

(lErEES )

properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured
and to be received.

AR5t A B4R 2 A A 195.5% 2 W i e I BR P 472 {7 e S W B AL BR U A RO B
EMR RS HRE ARG -

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties.
RETABUMBFERESWAKRBEEYENB T E BERKGEE56% -

Market unit rent of RMB6.3/sqm/day, using direct market comparables
and taking into account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.

FREFED SR AL TR E REFHER MERNRRTEEEME
HRR mHBUBEERAESTHRERARE63T

Price of RMB20,612/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size
of property.
FREEMBHER AT RAUSHEEHBE - MERESHMEANRE
BRAETHKARE20,6127TC

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

RN (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. REWE (B)
(@  (continued) @ &
The significant unobservable inputs (continued) BEARAIHREA SR @)

Investment properties
held by the Group

Significant unobservable inputs

TEBREAEREYME BEATAHR@ AR
Property 5 — Term vyield, taking into account yield of 5%, generated from comparable

Property in Hangzhou
(Hidden Dragon Bay)
SERMIZE—HUNYIZE (FBREE)

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured
and to be received.

AT A (R 4B 1) 25 A A HY5 % 2 WS a e iz BER P 42 R R ik U B AR HR U A RO e 2
MEAERRS ARG

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties.
RETABUMBFERESWAKRBEEYENB T E BERKGEE56% -

Market unit rent of RMB4.3/sqm/day, using direct market comparables
and taking into account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.
FREFEDSILRE ALt R E REFHER MERNRRTEEEME
HRR mHBUBEERAETHRERARB43T

Price of RMB11,564/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size
of property.
FREEMBHER AT RAUSHEEHBE - MERESHMEANRE
BRAETHRKARE11,6647T



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. REWE (@)
(@  (continued) @ &
The significant unobservable inputs (continued) BEARAIHREASE @)

Investment properties
held by the Group

Significant unobservable inputs

TEBREAEREYME BEATAHR@ AR

Property 6 — Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.75%, generated from comparable
Property in Yuyao properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured
(Intime City) and to be received.

BEEMIFE — Rk (BRI M)

A 5 N\ EB ) 32 28 L 5. 75% 2 W e 2 R4 R e 6 WAL BB U A\ BB
R OB T R o

Reversionary vyield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties.

KA ANBUMBSEEREWARBEMENEUTE ERREXR
6.25% °

Market unit rent of RMB4.0/sqgm/day, using direct market comparables
and taking into account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.

FREFED SR ALt RS REFHER MERNRRTEEEME
HRR mHBUBEERAESTHRERARB40T

Price of RMB11,007/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size
of property.
FREEMBHER AT RAUSHEEHBE - MERESHMEANRE
BRAETHKARE11,0077Te
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213



214

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

RN (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. IREYE (B)

(@  (continued)

(a) (mg)

The significant unobservable inputs (continued) BEARAIHREA SR @)

Investment properties
held by the Group

Significant unobservable inputs

TEBREAEREYME BEATAHR@ AR
Property 7 — Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.75%, generated from comparable

Property in Yuyao

(Retail portion of Time Square |)
TR E — Rk

(BES— D)

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured
and to be received.

AR 5T AR AR 2 A 42 595.75% 2 W am e S BR BT 42 1R Jsz < W B AR B WA RO B
EMR RS HRE ARG -

Reversionary vyield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties.

KA ANBUMBSEEREWARBEMENEUTE ERREXR
6.25% °

Market unit rent of RMB2.8/sqm/day, using direct market comparables
and taking into account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.

FREFED SR ALt RUE REFHER MERNRRTEEEME
HRR mHBUBEEAESTHRERARB28T

Price of RMB10,046/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size
of property.
FREEMBHER AT RAUSHEEHBE - MERESHMEANRE
BRAETHKARE10,0467T



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. REWE (@)
(@  (continued) @ &
The significant unobservable inputs (continued) BEARAIHREASE @)

Investment properties
held by the Group

Significant unobservable inputs

TEBREAEREYME BEATAHR@ AR
Property 8 — Term yield, taking into account yield of 6.50%, generated from comparable

Property in Yiwu

(Zhong’an Plaza)
BREME—RRWE

(R&ZE%)

properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured
and to be received.

AR 5T AR EE Y 2 A A 596.50% 2 W i e S BR BT 42 1R sz < W B AR B WL A RO B
EMR RS HRE ARG -

Reversionary vyield of 7.00%, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties.

KA ANBUMBSEEREWARBEMENEUTE ERREXR
7.00% °

Market unit rent of RMB2.1/sqgm/day, using direct market comparables
and taking into account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.

FREFED SR ALt RS REFHER MERNRRTEEEME
HRR mHBUBEEASTHRERARB21T

Price of RMB5,850/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size
of property.
FREEMBHER AT RAUSHEEHBE - MERESHMEANRE
BEABFTHKAREES8507T
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

j?iﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂki (H\E)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(@  (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

KREWME (8)
(a) (mg)
DREANBEZFRTIE=1/,

NRRBESEHK:

Commercial

properties

[EEZY/ES

RMB’000

NEHEFT

Carrying amount at 1 January 2021 R20215E1 B1HMREE 2,900,300
Net loss from a fair value adjustment recognised in R BV E A ABEEHEINLAAE

changes in fair value of investment properties BRI FEE (20,900)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 and R2021F12831H %20224F1 51 HBVER

1 January 2022 miE 2,879,400

Addition a0 224,818

Disposal HE (50,643)

Transfer g (26,100)
Net loss from a fair value adjustment recognised in T8 EW A A BESEETDHA DE

changes in fair value of investment properties BRI FEE (50,075)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2022 112022512831 HHEREE 2,977,400

Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value is estimated
using assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of
ownership over the asset’s life including an exit or terminal
value. This method involves the projection of a series of cash
flows on a property interest. A market-derived discount rate
is applied to the projected cash flow in order to establish the
present value of the income stream associated with the asset.
The exit yield is normally separately determined and differs from
the discount rate.

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of
inflows and outflows are determined by events such as rent
reviews, lease renewal and related reletting, redevelopment or
refurbishment. The appropriate duration is driven by market
behaviour that is a characteristic of the class of property. The
periodic cash flow is estimated as gross income less vacancy,
non-recoverable expenses, collection losses, lease incentives,
maintenance costs, agent and commission costs and other
operating and management expenses. The series of periodic
net operating income, along with an estimate of the terminal
value anticipated at the end of the projection period, is then
discounted.

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(@)

(continued)

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental value
and the market rent growth rate per annum in isolation would
result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the
investment properties.

A significant increase (decrease) in the long term vacancy rate
and the discount rate in isolation would result in a significant
decrease (increase) in the fair value of the investment
properties. Generally, a change in the assumption made for the
estimated rental value is accompanied by a directionally similar
change in the rent growth per annum and the discount rate
and an opposite change in the long term vacancy rate.

There are seven properties — the International Office Center,
the Office portion of Highlong Plaza, the Serviced apartment
portion of Highlong Plaza, the serviced apartment portion of
Xixi New City, the Retail portion of Xixi New City, the Office
portion of Time Square Il, a property in Yuyao, and the Retail
portion of Landscape Garden, a property in Hangzhou are
valued and categorised into Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
The valuation technique adopted is the direct comparison
approach, and the key input is the price per square metre. The
higher the price, the higher the fair value.

The significant observable input for the International Office
Center is the price of RMB22,030/sgm, using market direct
comparables and taking into account location and other
individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
As at 31 December 2022, the investment property part of
the International Office Center was valued and categorised
into Level 2 fair value hierarchy with a carrying amount of
RMB1,631,000,000 (2021: RMB1,693,000,000).

The significant observable input for the Office portion of
Highlong Plaza is the price of RMB11,817/sgm, using market
direct comparables and taking into account location and other
individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
As at 31 December 2022, the investment property part of the
Office portion of Highlong Plaza was valued and categorised
into Level 2 fair value hierarchy with a carrying amount of
RMB34,200,000 (2021: RMB34,700,000).

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

13. REYE (@

@)

(l\‘g)

S EERTISASEE
B BB AIEE M GA-b) 48
AR A S EEATER N
G °

RPZEXRITREZBBHAIE
120 Gel) REBRENERN
RABERERLD (BI0) - —i
mE > sbst A EEFRR
RNEHETERHRSFERE
RITHEEHBHEULT BEE K
ERRMATEEXRRRE REEE-

TIEME-BER AP ERE
EIS A B ~ 1EFE B IS RFE
NEED R FRE T RFE X
ANBED IR S & B
2 RAES 8 (IR eREkR
—IEYZ) B AE BB UKW
K (RN —EY ) =
EED—RE_RANBEET
D48 PRERBNGERMTS
BERLEE MEZRABES
BT HKER BETHRER
e AnBEES-

EREHE AR OB E KN ER
BMABEBASTFAHARARE
22,030c B HERERE
HIBLEB A EL s RIUE R
BEHEREYERNEHM
18 Bl K 2= - 122022412 H 31
HBEEBRAFLHNEREY
ELDAEE _RARNEBET
EEROE REEAARK
1,631,000,0007T (20214 : AE
#1,693,000,0007T) °

188 E G A M ERTE
REMABBEAETHRARK
11,817 cHEH L EREE
hiG e AR 5t R B K B
BB MY ERNEEMER
A% - R2022512H31H > 18
FEESPHAIMMNIKREYED
DAL _RAABEIGERD
18 BREEA AR #34,200,000
7t (20214 : AR #34,700,000
7T) °©
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BrEERaRMisE (@)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(@)

(continued)

The significant observable input for the Serviced apartment
portion of Highlong Plaza is the price of RMB14,011/sgm,
using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage
and size of property. As at 31 December 2022, the investment
property part of the Serviced apartment portion of Highlong
Plaza was valued and categorised into Level 2 fair value
hierarchy with a carrying amount of RMB9,600,000 (2021:
RMB14,000,000).

The significant observable input for the investment property
part of the Retail portion of Xixi New City is the price of
RMB47,100/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking
into account location and other individual factors such as
road frontage and size of property. As at 31 December 2022,
the carrying amount of investment property part of the Retail
portion of Xixi New City was nil with all properties sold out
(2021: RMB19,400,000).

The significant observable input for the Office portion of Time
Square Il is the price of RMB5,121/sgm, using market direct
comparables and taking into account location and other
individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
As at 31 December 2022, the investment property part of
Office portion of Time Square Il was valued and categorised
into Level 2 fair value hierarchy with a carrying amount of
RMB6,600,000 (2021: RMB7,000,000) and the carrying
amount of investment property of Retail portion of Time Square
II'was nil with all properties sold out (2021: RMB26,000,000).

The significant observable input for the investment property
part of the serviced apartment portion of Xixi New City was the
price of RMB35,492/sgm, using market direct comparables
and taking into account location and other individual factors
such as road frontage and size of property. As at 31 December
2022, the investment property part of the Serviced apartment
portion of Xixi New City was valued and categorised into
Level 2 fair value hierarchy with a carrying amount of
RMB592,000,000 (2021:RMB617,000,000).

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

13. REYE (@

@)

(”‘g)

EREGRBXNAEFMHNE
AUBERBAMBEAEFEH K
AR®E14,011THIER » THEA
BEEDGLERA AL RUE
KEREERRYERNEEHM
BRI Z o 132022128311 »
1B EZRFBNAEIMIE
BEYEBRMABE_RANER
TFEERDE REEAARE
9,600,0007T (20214 : AR
14,000,0007T) °

FAENPEHREYESIDNE
AKAERBABEASSTH K
AR ¥47 1007 A EHS > THEFE
BEEDHGLERA AL RUE
KEREERRYERNEEHM
B RIRZ o 132022128311 »
AENPEHTNREYESED
MHREEAS FIEYXEE
H (20214 : AR 19,400,000
7T) °

RRES _HMAIMIMEK
EEHAREBEASETH KA
R#5, 121t B ThERE
BHGLERA AL RUE R
R B R Y KNS E i E
BIFEZE o j82022F12H31H » B
RESZ M AI D AE 4K
NABEF GRS REES
AR #6,600,0007T (20214 : A
R #7,000,0007t) » MR ES
THEEROMNKREYEERR
BAZS FIEYEEEY (2021
F . AR #§26,000,0007T) °

FZFIM T IRBE N AT 2
EATERBASEASET
7K AR ¥35,49270 MBS
BB EET IS EE A AT st
RAUEBRBEHBERRYEK
INE E A E B E &= 0 5220224
12831 H  AEHFEHRBER
NEBAAE_H/ANEE
FEERSE REEAARE
592,000,0007T (20214F : AR
617,000,0007T) °



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(@)

(continued)

The significant observable input for the investment property
part of the Retail portion of Landscape Garden was the price of
RMB8,065/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking
into account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage and size of property. As at 31 December 2022, the
investment property part of the Retail portion of Landscape
Garden was valued and categorised into Level 2 fair value
hierarchy with a carrying amount of RMB26,100,000. (As at
31 December 2021, the investment property part of the Retall
portion of Landscape Garden was valued and categorised
into Level 3 fair value hierarchy with a carrying amount of
RMB80,200,000.)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

13. KREME (@)

(@)

(&)

WKFEEES D REYEIL D
HNEATBEZRHAZEAST
FHARARMES 065TTHI B
ThERBEETS LR A AT FE
T (il & 2 B 17 38 B8 Ko ) 3 K /)N
FH @R E 2K o 522022412
B31H > IWKBEEIL DK
EMERBDABE _RAANEBE
FEERDE REEAARE
26,100,000t ° (532021412
B31H WKBEEEMBAEKE
MDA E = hA RBET
BB REBEAARE
80,200,0007T °)

DRBEERE

TERAPRERREYENA
REBEFTERER :

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2022 using
20225 12B31AM AR BEHERA

Quoted prices in Significant Significant

active markets observable  Unobservable
(Level 1) inputs (Level 2) inputs (Level 3) Total

TEEE EXT ERRA

HENERE BRRARE SRAAKE
(E—4) (B (BE=%) &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBFT AEBFT AEEBTFT AREBTT

Recurring fair value measurement for: REMALBEREZ !
Commercial properties [GESYES - 2,299,500 2,977,400 5,276,900
Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2021 using
2021512831 BN A ABE 2R

Quoted prices in Significant Significant

active markets  observable inputs Unobservable
(Level 1) (Level 2) inputs (Level 3) Total

EE EpNl| Ep i)

mENRE EBREAYE EBREARE
(E—HR) EZR (B=%) ot
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
NEETF T ANEBEFT ANEETFT ANEEFT

Recurring fair value measurement for: BEEANBEFE:
Commercial properties [SE3YES - 2,411,100 2,879,400 5,290,500
RLEBBIRAE ZTEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

13. KREWE (@)

The Group’s investment properties situated on the leasehold b FAEBMURFABEAMPNEE LT
land in Mainland China are leased between 30 and 50 years. ML EM XA ERAI0EE
504 °
Investment properties leased out under operating leases © REKSCEHEESHHNEEY
ES
The Group leases out investment properties under operating AEERBESSHEELHAEN
lease arrangements. All leases run for a period of one to fifteen KEM*-FMEHREANR—=
years, with an option to renew the leases after the expiry +HE W BEEFEREHAHR
dates, at which time all terms will be renegotiated. The Group’s EENEEEBERTEE
total future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable B o AEERBERAIEUHL S
operating leases arising from investment properties are as EHREMEMSHNBEERRE
follows: FHERIBLEZEWT .
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFT
Within one year —FRN 83,792 49,561
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_EEREREF
(BEEMFEEETEA) 186,151 98,411
After five years AEE 105,847 17,585
375,790 165,557
At 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s investment d F2022FE12831H IR 5
properties with a carrying amount of RMB213,321,000 (2021: AR E  AEEKREEAA
RMB2,681,570,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing E1%218,321,0007T (20214 : A
bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed E1&2,681,570,0007T) B9& F#%
in note 32. EMECEAEEERFH SR
TER R B AR IR o
As at 31 December 2022, the Group entered into certain sales © FR2022%F12831H K&EE:]IL

agreements to sell certain investment properties with a carrying
amount of RMB74,900,000 (2021: RMB44,546,000). The
Group had received deposits of approximately RMB49,408,000
(2021: RMB37,710,000), which was recognised as contract
liabilities as at 31 December 2022.
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ETHEWwE, HERBES
AR #74,900,0007T (20214 :
AR #44,546,0007T) B9E T35
BEME AEBBWMNIARE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

14. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

14. FEPYE

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

2022 2021

20224 20214

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Kzt ARETT ANEHEFT

Carrying amount at 1 January 1A1HEREE 28,124,612 18,697,873

Additions 10 7,487,514 15,758,107
Acquisition of subsidiaries that are USREIEZEFEHIM B A E (f15E36)

not a business (note 36) 36 482,193 -

Transfer to completed properties R EIFEIHE EZ MY E

held for sale 24 (3,442,543) (6,331,368)

Carrying amount at 31 December 12831 HREE 32,651,776 28,124,612

Current assets MENE E 30,728,107 25,648,975

Non-current assets IERBEE 1,923,669 2,475,637

32,651,776 28,124,612

Except for one property located in Canada and one property located
in Japan, the Group’s properties under development are all located in

PR—BR U MNER K — R B
WS RERFEEPYEEUR S

Mainland China. B PR 1 o
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABEFT ANEETF T
Canada mEX
Freehold KAERE 335,698 308,825
Japan Bz
Freehold KAFERE 67,825 76,274

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

15.

14. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT  14. [i#h¥¥ (&)
(CONTINUED)
The carrying amounts of the properties under development situated IR E AR E T MBI FEEE R 3
on the leasehold land in Mainland China are as follows: ZIEREAEWT
Mainland China R Py it
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB 000
ANBHEFT NEBEFT
Lease terms of over 50 years FHHR B E504F 29,896,777 24,922 139
Lease terms between 30 and 50 years FHEASOEEH05F 2,351,476 2,817,374
32,248,253 27,739,513
At 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s properties under R2022F 128310 IR K532
development with a carrying amount of RMB29,021,555,000 (2021: i AEBRBEAARE
RMB24,188,953,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank 29,021,555,0007T (20214 : AR
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 32. 24,188,953,0007T) BI& TR ==
EfEAEEESH BRITERREM
ERBIIE I
At 31 December 2022, the ownership rights of some of the Group’s FR2022F 12831 H » KEB 2 B &
properties under development may be declared limited. RY XN ERYEEREMAR
fR o
LEASES 15. A&
The Group as a lessee REBERAAEMEA

The Group has lease contracts for buildings used in its operations.
Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 5 and
18 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and

subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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15. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

15. HHE (&
REBEAEMRAN @)

Right-of-use assets (@ ERAESE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and REEGHAESEENREER
the movements during the year are as follows: FREHHUT :
Buildings
BF
RMB’000
ARETFT
As at 1 January 2021 1%2021F181H 348,223
Additions NE 73,687
Depreciation charge ERX (59,961)
Disposals HE (201,142)
As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 /32021512831 H 5%2022F181H 160,807
Additions ANE 38,291
Depreciation charge TERX (42,832)
Disposals HE (6,361)
Impairment A (19,936)
As at 31 December 2022 #2022F12H31H 129,969

As at the end of each reporting period, in view of the
unfavorable future prospects and poor performance of certain
CGUs, there were indications that the CGUs may suffer
an impairment loss. The management of the Group has
conducted impairment testing for the CGUs with impairment
indications. The recoverable amount of each CGU is
determined based on value-in-use calculations by preparing
cash flow projections of the relevant CGU derived from the
most recent financial forecast approved by the management
covering the remaining lease term.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of the pre-
education business CGU exceeds its recoverable amount,
therefore, an impairment loss of RMB19,936,000 for right-of-
use assets within the CGU was recognised in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.
Assumptions used in the value in use calculation of the pre-
education business CGU for 31 December 2022 are disclosed
in note 16 to the financial statements.

RERSHR ENETHES
EEBURNRERRRKIERES
E ANRKRARTELEBMK
SERBEBR -AEEEEE
EHEREFRNRTELE
ETREAS SRREELS
Ry RI W B8R T IR IR L A B
BEE MEREENBBRER
EEBMENRORFHRA
FRiSERMREELEBMANEGT
HEIR S RIBA M S -

R2022FE128318  BRI#HE
ERBLECBUNETDER
BETIRESEE AILEREE
20221231 HIEFEEMERE
PR ERNIBEEEBMUNE
RERAEEENREFEAR
#19,936,0007T ° A 5t 2022
F12A1HEBAEEKRE
EXBUNEREENERN
PSR RMIE16 I EER o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022

2022% 128311

15. LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
during the year are as follows:

15.

5 (48)

HE

FEBFRAMEA @

(b)

HERE

HEBENREERERNED
LI

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Carrying amount at 1 January 1B1HKREE 189,376 382,789
New leases S 38,291 73,687
Accretion of interest recognised FARERBIF 2

during the year 8,666 10,494
Payments (NEN (36,153) (50,629)
Disposals HE (6,696) (226,965)
Carrying amount at 31 December 12831HREE 193,484 189,376
Analysed into DA

Current portion mEnER 53,069 39,267

Non-current portion JERENEL 140,415 150,109

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 44
to the financial statements.
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15. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

()

(d)

(e)

U]

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (¢)
leases are as follows:

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

15. & (&)

REEEREMBAN @

PSRRI RN T

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB 000
ABEFT NEHEFT
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENE 8,666 10,494
Depreciation charge of BRAEEETEMS
right-of-use assets 42,832 59,961
Expense relating to short-term leases ~ Ef2HRfEE R EEEEEMRE
and leases of low-value assets BEANER GtATTEM
(included in administrative expenses) 51,970 62,484
Impairment provision for FREBSENRERS
right-of-use assets 19,936 -
Total amount recognised in profit or loss FA 18 FE B4R & 28 123,404 132,939
Extension and termination options: (d) EHARARILEEIERE
The Group has no lease contracts that include extension and REBI GBI R & IEE
termination options. EENEESN -
Variable lease payments: () FIEFMHEEL
The Group has no lease contracts that contain variable AEBUEE S EHRNE
payments. ==

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 38(c) to (f)
the financial statements.

HEZBRSRBKER M
HARMEE3S(C) °
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

15. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 13) consisting of
one commercial property in Shanghai, two commercial properties
in Yuyao, one properties in Yiwu and six commercial properties in
Hangzhou under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the
leases generally require the tenants to pay security deposits and
provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing
market conditions. Rental income recognised by the Group during
the year was RMB101,528,000 (2021: RMB122,282,000), details of

which are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted lease payments receivable
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating

leases with its tenants are as follows:

15.

HE (&)
AEBEERELHEA

AEBEREBKEHEZHFHBEEL
EME MI:E13) > 8F SN —180E
EVE-BRRNMEREYE - ES
B —IBYIE AN N IBEEY o
AEMNBER—RERBLZ(RES
ERERITHRIRHERHESHEE
AEBREABRINEERASZA
FE15101,528,0007T (20214 @ AR
122,282,0007T) 5+ 1B 8 5 A1 75 R = fY
sE50

12022FE12831H » AEE IR A 0]
B EHEN R BRI EE R E
WHIRBEIRFE E ST o

2022 2021

2022£FF 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETFT

Within one year —FRN 83,792 49,561
After one year but within two years —FRERMENRN 58,481 26,575
After two years but within three years MEBER=FNAN 57,140 25,234
After three years but within four years —FBEREFERN 39,712 23,913
After four years but within five years MEBEREEAN 30,818 22,689
After five years AEE 105,847 17,585
375,790 165,557
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. HthBR.EE

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

31 December 2022 Brandname
2022%F12831H mhE s
RMB’000

ABEFT

Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated amortisation #320224E1 81 H BRI 7 » 055 R 5184 30,787
Amortisation provided during the year FREHEEE (1,735)
Impairment during the year FRRE (14,858)
At 31 December 2022 72022F12831H 14,194

At 31 December 2022: 20226128318 :

Cost BN 34,690
Accumulated amortization and impairment Rty R E (20,496)
Net carrying amount EREFE 14,194
31 December 2021 Brandname
2021%12831H o R
RMB 000

ANEETFT

Cost at 1 January 2021, net of accumulated amortisation 732021418 1H RIS » 0Bk R 5T # 5 32,522
Amortisation provided during the year F RS (1,735)
30,787

At 31 December 2021: 20216128318 :

Cost D 34,690
Accumulated amortisation Rty (3,903)
Net carrying amount REFE 30,787

RLEEBRAT —_T__EER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BrEERaRMisE (@)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The Group’s brandname has an indefinite useful life and is allocated
to the Group’s pre-education business, which is treated as a cash-

generating unit for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the pre-education business CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections was 19.83% (2021: 19.76%) and cash flows
beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate
of 2.000% (2021: 2.245%), which was the same as the long term

average growth rate of the pre-education industry.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the pre-
education business CGU for 31 December 2022. The following
describes each key assumption on which management has based its
cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of brandname:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements, and expected

market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects

specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on the market
development of the pre-education business and the discount rate are

consistent with external information sources.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of the pre-education
business CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, therefore, an
impairment loss of RMB14,858,000 for other intangible assets within
the CGU was recognised in the consolidated financial statements for

the year ended 31 December 2022.
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FEENRELBEAERERE
B B EAERENBFHE £
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AEFERFHYHFEENIRESR
EEAETE B RETEAEHE
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2 .000%3HE ] (20214 : 2.245%) >
HEBRHRETEN T EXM
[F o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR 17. IEEARBR AREBEMNERH
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE St AHMBEWEE
INCOME mEE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Equity investments designated at fair valuefs E AR AR EET AH
through other comprehensive income 2EKEHENRERE

Listed equity investments, at fair value FHRERE RANEE

Cloudwalk Technology Co., Ltd. ERNEERRNBRAR 42,535 60,000
Forehope Electronic (Ningbo) Co., Ltd BWET (BK ROBRAE 35,605 25,000
78,140 85,000

Unlisted equity investments, at fair value FEmRELE  BANEE
Zhejiang Xinnongdu Industrial Co., Ltd. AL R EXARAE 353,534 335,050
Emotibot Technologies Limited MEEERNEBERAR 57,744 57,744
Baweitong Technology Co., Ltd. NEBREBRAE 20,000 20,000
Chinese International School Bond =2 RERES 6,923 6,337
438,201 419,131
516,341 504,131

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income as the Group considers
these investments to be strategic in nature.

L BRI IR E A A
AEBEFEEHSHF AHMEE
SHNERRE RESETEEDBRZ
EREBEBRIE -

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022

2022% 128311

18. LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS 18.RHATE(T X
2022 2021
20224 202148
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ANEHETFT
Prepayment for equity investment* TE(T IR I B TR I 247,187 509,443
Prepayment for land acquisition TE(T T U EETRIE 50,000 74,762
Maintenance fund HEES 115,969 60,884
Deposits for construction completion % TE™ 24,918 31,827
Others HAth 1,049 1,002
439,123 677,918

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, financial assets included in long
term prepayments of the Group were considered to be low credit
risk and thus the Group assessed that there was no significant loss
allowance recognised in accordance with the ECL model under IFRS
9 as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The prepayment for acquisition of 22.65% of equity interests in
Zhejiang Xinnongdu Industrial Co., Ltd. (“XND”) is included in
prepayment for equity investment. The detail is disclosed in note
41.

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

R2022F 20219128310 » AEH
SERBEMHAINEREERGRS
BEERRE > FIt > 455 BIR R R
75 3R 5 2E B S5 OSR FP i 702022 K
2021128318 FEHAE EEEER
BN R E KRS o

* WA REBEEERAR (T
BRER) 22.65% R IERITAN TRt ATR
TR ERIE - s BERBER MG

410

19. REEEENRE

2022 2021

20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT NEBFT

Share of net assets DMEEEFE 1,109,214 635,298
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. REETEMNKRE (@)

Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows: HERENFBAOT :

Percentage attributable to the Group

FEERGERIT
Particulars
of issued Place of Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held registration interest power sharing activities
218 FAEETRMIFE AftE  FAEED BRERE wHRHAME TEEY
Hangzhou Zhongxu Real Estate Co., Ltd.  Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 24% 24% 24% Project management
MNRBEXBRAFY RMB375,000,000 FEHL BEERE
A ARE
375,000,0007%
Hangzhou Jieyao Investment Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 20% 20% 20% Investment management
Management Co., Ltd. RMB10,000,000 HEHT REEE
MNERREERARAR BN
10,000,0007%
Hangzhou Bijin Property Co., Ltd. Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 20% 20% 20% Project management
MNEREXBRATO RMB20,000,000 REHIL BEEERE
G N
20,000,0007T
Hangzhou Jiayi Property Co., Ltd. Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 25% 25% 25% Project management
RNEREXERRAFY RMB150,000,000 FEHL BEER
A ARE
150,000,0007T
Lishui Talent Enterprise Management Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 50% 50% 50% Investment management
Co, Ltd. RMB100,000 HEDHL REERE
BARELXERBRAFO AR AR
100,0007T
Lishui Xinsheng Real Estate Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 15% 15% 15% Project management
Development Co., Ltd. RMB50,000,000 HEIHT HEEE
BAEERMEREERAFC BN
50,000,0007T
Shaoxing Zhongming Real Estate Co., Ltd.  Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 57% 50% 57% Project management
BERAEXBRAFD RMB500,000,000 FEHL BEEERE
AR ARE
500,000,0007%
Wenzhou Liang'ao Real Estate Co., Ltd. Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 25% 25% 25% Project management
BNTHRREEARAFO RMB450,000,000 HEIHNT EEER
BN
450,000,0007%

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

BEEENKE (B)

BERENFBENT © (@

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 19. ¢

Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows: (continued)

Percentage attributable to the Group

FEERGERIT
Particulars
of issued Place of Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held registration interest power sharing activities
218 FAEETRMIFE AftE  FAEED BRERE wHRHAME TEEY
Zhejiang Zhonghe Boyuan Real Estate Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 35% 25% 35% Project management
Co, Ltd. RMB500,000,000 FEHL BEERE
WIRABEEZERATC A ARE
500,000,0007%
Lishui Zhongyang Qinglin Real Estate Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 35% 25% 35% Project management
Co., Ltd. RMB500,000,000 alETiipan EEER
BARGEHREEERATM BN
500,000,0007%
Hangzhou Kangguang Real Estate Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 25% 33% 25% Project management
Development Co., Ltd. RMB10,000,000 HEIHT HEEE
N B EREERAT ERAAR
10,000,0007%
Ningbo Guangrun Real Estate Co., Ltd. Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 25% 33% 25% Project management
BRAHEXRRAF RMB300,000,000 FEHL BEER
A ARE
300,000,0007%
Shaoxin Zhongming Enterprise Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 57% 50% 57% Project management
Management Co., Ltd. RMB100,000 HEHT EHEE
BETACEERFRAFM AR AR
100,0007T
Chun’an Qiandao Lake Yulang Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 59% 33% 59% Project management
Superstar Cultural Creativity Co., Ltd. RMB184,957,300 HEIHT HEEE
FRTEHEBEEXCRIZEERARM ERAAR
184,957,3007T
Shanghai Mingji and Star Enterprise Registered capital of Shanghai PRC 40% 40% 40% Investment management

Management Co., Ltd. RMB30,000,000 HE s REEE
LEHBAR CEERERAT BN
30,000,0007%
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

19. REZEEENRE (B)

BETENFBENT (@

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows: (continued)

Percentage attributable to the Group

FEERGERIT
Particulars
of issued Place of Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held registration interest power sharing activities
218 FAEETRMIFE AftE  FAEED BRERE wHRHAME TEEY
Hangzhou Zhong An Hangfang Real Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 50% 50% 50% Project management
Estate Development Co., Ltd RMB100,000,000 FEHL BEEERE
MNRZhE i R A ARE
BRAF 100,000,0007T
Hangzhou Tianqi Real Estate Co., Ltd. Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 40% 40% 40% Project management
TMRZEXARARM RMB250,000,000 HEDHL EEEE
BN
250,000,0007%
Hangzhou Jinanxing Enterprise Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 70% 50% 70% Enterprise management
Management Consulting Partnership RMB490,000,000 HEIHT TrEERE
(Limited Partnership) Partnership) HEMRAARE
MMNRZECEERAANSBLE 490,000,0007%
(BER&H) e
Taizhou Huahao Enterprise Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 69% 50% 69% Enterprise management
Management Consulting Co., Ltd. RMB210,000,000 HEIHT TrEERE
BNEECEERARFRAF G N
210,000,0007%
Zhejiang Renhe Health Industry Co., Ltd. Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 69% 50% 69% Project management
LCNRREXRRATO RMB300,000,000 FEHL BEER
A ARE
300,000,0007%
Hangzhou Haohan Investment Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 69% 50% 69% Enterprise management
Consulting Co., Ltd. RMB90,000,000 hEAT TEEE
NS BR EEH B R AT BN
90,000,00070
Hunan Xiangjiang Real Estate Registered capital of Hunan PRC 40% 40% 40% Project management
Development Co., Ltd. RMB30,000,000 HEHE EHEE
WAL EHEREERAR HMRAARE
30,000,0007T
(1)  Established on 14 April 2016 (1)  R20165F4814H AL
(2)  Established on 12 January 2018 (2 FR2018%F1812H ALIL
(38)  Established on 13 September 2017 (3 201759813 ALIL
(4)  Established on 15 May 2019 @)  HR2019F5815H AL
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows: (continued)

(6)

(10

Q)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

(19

(20)

1)

(22)

Established on 10 March 2020

Established on 14 April 2020

Established on 7 July 2021

Established on 9 March 2020

Established on 6 May 2020

Established on 20 May 2020

Established on 15 September 2020

Established on 13 March 2020

Established on 23 April 2021

Established on 5 July 2016

Established on 25 May 2020

Established on 28 April 2022

Established on 22 July 2020

Established on 20 November 2018

Established on 22 December 2015

Established on 30 June 2014

Established on 9 September 2014

Established on 18 November 2009

Hangzhou Jin’an Star Enterprise Management Consulting
Partnership (Limited Partnership), Taizhou Huahao Enterprise
Management Consulting Co., Ltd., Zhejiang Zhongan Health
Industry Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou Haohan Investment Consulting
Co., Ltd. (together “Jinan Star Entities”) have become subsidiaries

of the Group since June 2022. The detail is disclosed in note 36 to
the financial statements.
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EEENKRE ()

BERENFBENT (@

(10)

(1)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

(7)

(18)

(19)

(20)

@1)

(22)

722020838 10H AL 3L
2020648 148 A 3L
7202147878 L
1220203 9H 1L
120206586 8 A 1L
12020458208 Al 1L
122020598 15H R 3L
12020638 13H A iL
12021648238 AL
12201647 B5H Al iL

12020658 25H A 3L
12022648281 Al 1L

12202057 B22H R 3L
720185115208 Ak iz
7220155128228 Ak iz
122014868 30H A 1L
1201459898 AL

522009411 B18H Ak iL
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

The movements in the investments in joint ventures during the
reporting period are as follows:

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

19. REZEEENRE (B)

REBELENRENRTHNNES)

m
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AEET T

At 1 January 2022 20221 81H 635,298 312,236
Investment in joint ventures KREGE 489,240 345,415
Share of loss DMEEEE (15,324) (22,353)
At 31 December 2022 R2022512H31H 1,109,214 635,298

RLEEBRAT —_T__EER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)  19. R&E R EHNKRE ()
The 25% equity interest in Hangzhou Jiayi Property Co., Ltd. is held MMNEZIEEEF R R B N25%/ A1
through two subsidiaries with 90% equity interests attributable to the )b 35 B AN & B FE 590 % A& AN 1 7 BY
Company. The amounts of the Group’s recognised share of profits MENBARFE AEBRZEE
of this joint venture for 2022 and cumulatively were RMB11,740,000 1 ER2022F BEFERIE L ia F) R 5+
and RMB33,881,000. D RAANREE11,740,0007c R A R 1
33,881,0007T ©
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information TREHMNEIEEEFRRBNE
of Hangzhou Jiayi Property Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences BERBE AU BREZRE
in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the H AR I BB P R R PV AR D B Ef
financial statements:
2022
20224
RMB’000
AREFT
Cash and cash equivalents REMREEEY 52,325
Other current assets HiRe&EE 485,159
Current assets MENEE 537,484
Non-current assets FERBEE 39
Current liabilities mEIEE (401,999)
Net assets, excluding goodwill EERE TOERE 135,524
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBBEEEE DL 25%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture rEERGEEECEEEFE 33,881
Carrying amount of the investment K EIREE 33,881
Revenue A 880,404
Total expenses F sz 48 2B (833,446)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year FRFEREEIN G LR 46,958
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 19.

On 31 December 2021, the 20% equity interest in Hangzhou Bijin
Real Estate Co., Ltd. is held through two subsidiaries with 90%
equity interests attributable to the Company. The amounts of the
Group'’s recognised share of profits of this joint venture for the 2021
and cumulatively were RMB19,946,000 and RMB17,946,000.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information
of Hangzhou Bijin Real Estate Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences
in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the

financial statements:

S A&

A A ek

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

EENRE (8

R2021FE12B31H > MINEBREXS
FRABIMI20%AR A ms L 558 A S [E
FE 1590 % B% 7= # 35 B9 7 15 S /&8 /A B
FAE AEERZEEREN20215F
EREDBEGEANRS 2B AR

19,946,0007T Kz A #17,946,0007T ©

TRBFIRMNERERERADNH
BENEE e REERE
HERR R B RRNEEEES

2021

20214

RMB’000

ANEEFT

Cash and cash equivalents REMREEEY 27,976
Other current assets HiRe&EE 878,955
Current assets MENEE 906,931
Non-current assets ERENE E 323
Current liabilities mEIEE (817,524)
Net assets, excluding goodwill BEEFE F1OERE 89,730
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBBEEEE DL 20%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture rEERGEEECEEEFE 17,946
Carrying amount of the investment K EIREE 17,946
Revenue N 2,326,201
Total expenses Bz 488 (2,226,471)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year FRFEREEIN G LR 99,730
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 19. REETEMNKRE (@)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of TRINRTAEBZBEBAREANEG
the Group’s joint ventures that are not individually material: SENBELTHREN

2022 2021

20225 202148

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AEET T

Share of the joint ventures’ loss for the year FEIEEEREFNER (27,064) (42,299)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEBRGE XN ENRR
investments in the joint ventures [ERE] 1,075,333 617,352
20. LOANS TO JOINT VENTURES 20. MEEEFREMR
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AE BT

Shaoxing Zhongming Enterprise Management  #ZAEREAE X AR AT

Co., Ltd. 278,824 -
Hunan Xiangjiang Real Estate Co., Ltd. R LEMERZEERAR 173,557 -
Hangzhou Tiangi Real Estate Co., Ltd. MINKEEXBRAT 169,200 107,201
Shaoxing Zhongming Real Estate Co., Ltd. MERHEERRAR 53,113 204,448
Wenzhou Liang’ao Real Estate Co.,Ltd. BN REEXFRAF 4,403 4,403
Ningbo Guangrun Real Estate Co., Ltd. BERNAHBEERRAT 1,217 4,147
Hangzhou Zhongxu Real Estate Co., Ltd. MMNRBEEFRAF 1,165 1,165
Lishui Zhongyang Qinglin Real Estate Co., Ltd. BKREEMEBEEXERAT 281 =
Zhejiang Renhe Health Industry Co., Ltd.* A I CNEREEEXEERAR - 141,508

681,760 462,872
During the year, the Group’s loans to joint ventures were unsecured FROAEERAGERENERAE
and interest-free and repayable on demand. W EE  MEREREE
5 Zhejiang Renhe Health Industry Co., Ltd. has become a subsidiary * U R AR M SES6TINEE 0 B
of the Group since June 2022 as disclosed in note 36 to the 2022868 MR AT AMEEAEZE
financial statements. BRABIERATEEMBAR
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES/LOANS TO 21.
ASSOCIATES

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AEET T

Share of net assets DMEEEFE

1,123,805 1,145,297

The movements in the investments in associates during the reporting
period are as follows:

REEEENRENRENNNES)
mE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFTT VN

At 1 January 2022 20221 81H 1,145,297 102,603
Investment in associates KERE b 184,249 888,040
Share of (loss)/profits o (8518) /78 (86,323) 154,654
Disposal HE (119,418) =
At 31 December 2022 120224128310 1,123,805 1,145,297
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ANEEFT
Loans to associates mEEPEER
Hangzhou Lvzhen Real Estate Co., Ltd. MmNAEZEEEXERAT 420,977 450,490
Ningde Zhaoyue Real Estate Co., Ltd. BEEKIREMERRAT 267,050 =
Wenzhou Lvxin Real Estate Co., Ltd. BRINEREEEBRAR 1,359 48,130
Ningbo Haiya Zhongxiang Development and BB /S H AR ER
Construction Co., Ltd. BIRAE - 279,593
Yiwu Dongxin Real Estate Development Co., ZESMERMEMEMERRASE
Ltd. - 922
689,386 779,135

During the year, the Group’s loans to associates were unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

RERN AEEOZERELENE
RBERRREE > LAEZERE
ﬁo
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31 December 2022
2022F12831H

21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES/LOANS TO 21.

ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the associates are as follows:

RBMECERE MHEL
xh

B h IR

Percentage attributable to the Group

FEERGERT
Particulars
of issued Place of Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held registration interest power sharing activities
&g RAERTRMNEE At PRAEED g e TEEY
Hangzhou Yugui Industrial Co., Ltd. Registered capital of Zhejiang, PRC 24% 24% 24% Investment management
NG EEEERAFY RMB470,000,000 HREHDT REER
A ARE
470,000,0007%
Hangzhou Lvzhen Real Estate Co., Ltd. Registered capital of Zhejiang, PRC 25% 25% 25% Project management
MNEEEXBRAT RMB10,000,000 HREHIT EEER
A AR
10,000,0007%
Wenzhou Jinghong Real Estate Co., Ltd. Registered capital of Zhejiang, PRC 24% 24% 24% Project management
BINRAEXRRAFO RMB50,000,000 REHIL BEEERE
BN
50,000,00070
Yiwu Dongxin Real Estate Development Registered capital of Zhejiang, PRC 35% 35% 35% Project management
Co., Ltd. RMB50,000,000 alETiipan EEER
EETEMBEHEREBRAAY Bz INE::
50,000,00070
Ningde Zhaoyue Real Estate Co., Ltd. Registered capital of Fujian, PRC 49% 49% 49% Project management
BEEKREHERRATO RMB1,700,000,000 ERE BEERE
A ARE
1,700,000,00070
Wenzhou Lvxin Real Estate Co., Ltd. Registered capital of Zhejiang, PRC 25% 25% 25% Project management
BNREEERRARO USD95,394,800 HREHIT EEER
AftiA
95,394,800 7%
Shaoxing Zhaosheng Real Estate Co., Ltd.  Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 49% 49% 49% Project management
BENKBREHERRATD RMB1,700,000,000 REHIL BEEEE
BN
1,700,000,00070
Hangzhou Tianhu Enterprise Management  Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 40% 40% 40% Investment management
Co., Ltd. RMB100,000 HEIHT REERE
MMKBEEERERAF BN
100,0007T
Shaoxing Kaijie Real Estate Co., Ltd. Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 35% 35% 35% Project management
BEDHNEXERAF RMB50,000,000 HREHDT BEERE
A ARE
50,000,0007T
Hangzhou Xitou Zhongan Urban Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 24% 24% 24% Investment management
Development Co., Ltd. RMB100,000,000 HEIHT KREEHE
RNERRZHTERERAFO A AR
100,000,0007T
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21.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES/LOANS TO  21.
ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Established on 17 July 2019

Established on 19 October 2020

Established on 3 December 2019

Established on 24 September 2020

Established on 4 August 2020

Established on 22 March 2021

Established on 14 January 2021

Established on 19 January 2020

Established on 24 January 2018

Established on 10 February 2022

Notes to Financial St

atements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

Particulars of the associates are as follows: (continued) B EMFIRUWT

120197 B17H AL

R2020FE108 198 B iz

201912 H53H A AL

11202098 14H AR L

20208 H 4 H Ak 1L

R2021F3H22H A% iz

1202118148 AR IL

120201 B19H A% iz

201851 H24H A% iz

112022628108 A% L

RLEEBRAT —_T__EER
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31 December 2022
2022F12831H

21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES/LOANS TO 21. REELERE RABHED
ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) Fam (@
On 31 December 2022, the 25% equity interests in Wenzhou Lvxin FR2022F12831H  BINAEEXEE
Real Estate Co., Ltd. is held through two subsidiaries with 90% [RABBI25% A Em LB BAE
equity interest attributable to the Company. The amounts of the & & 1590 % % 2 # 25 B9y [ Y /8 A
Group’s recognised share of losses of the associate for 2022 were Bl A - AEEN ZEE A B MI2022
RMB9,560,000 and share of profits of the associate cumulatively ERRAFACEIELHEINAARE
were RMB137,811,000. 9,560,0007t K& A E#137,811,0007T °
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information TR BMNAAEEERRRB M
of Wenzhou Lvxin Real Estate Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences BERBE AU BREZRE
in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the H AR I BB P R R PV AR D B SR Ef
financial statements:
2022
20224
RMB’000
AREFT
Cash and cash equivalents BRIV HEY 269,530
Other current assets HMtURrsh&EE 2,915,533
Current assets MENEE 3,185,063
Non-current assets ERBEE 12,790
Current liabilities mENEaE (2,646,608)
Net assets EEFE 551,245
Proportion of the Group’s ownership rEEEFSEADL 25%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate AEBREHEADEEFE 137,811
Carrying amount of the investment KRERTE 137,811
Revenue WA =
Total expenses sz 4828 (38,240)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FABEREEEEERE (38,240)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES/LOANS TO 21. WEiE R ERE mlEd
ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) EEM (8
On 31 December 2021, the 35% equity interests in Yiwu Longrui R2021E12831H  ZEREREM
Real Estate Co., Ltd. is held through two subsidiaries with 90% ERERR AN AR
equity interest attributable to the Company. The amounts of the FHBRAEEEEI0%E A m B W
Group’s recognised share of profits of the associate for 2021 and BB ARRKA ANEBNKZEHE
cumulatively were RMB175,802,000 and RMB172,302,000. NEB2021F K R 51 B B E &
F & AR #175,802,0007T K& A R #&
172,302,0007z °
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information TREFESEREHMERZERA
of Yiwu Longrui Real Estate Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences Bl Z M BERME > siEM & 5 EER
in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the ERMFHARKREARERRNREE
financial statements: N
2021
20214
RMB’000
ARETFT
Cash and cash equivalents REMREEEY 32,248
Other current assets HMRe&EE 1,010,624
Current assets MENEE 1,042,872
Non-current assets JERENE E 9
Current liabilities V=N (550,589)
Net assets BEFE 492,292
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBEBEEEB DL 35%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate AEBMEGLHEARNEEZRE 172,302
Carrying amount of the investment KEREE 172,302
Revenue HEA 1,786,734
Total expenses Bz 4B %E (1,284,443)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year FRENREEmiEEE 502,291
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2022% 128311

21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES/LOANS TO 21. REELERE RABHED
ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) Fam (@
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of TRINRTAEBZBEBAREANEG
the Group’s associates that are not individually material: EhENEAEMBEER
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Share of the associates’ loss for the year FE{LEE = b ERNEE (76,763) (21,148)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEBRRBERENKREN
investments in the associates HEEETEE 985,994 972,995
22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 22, REMBEERER
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: RERIBE ERIEIERIES EE 8N
T
Deferred tax assets FIERRIEE
Impairment of Fair value
financial Losses available adjustment at
assets and for offsetting fair value
properties Unrealised against Prepaid  through other
under Intragroup Lease future taxable Corporate comprehensive
development  profit or loss liabilities profits Income tax income Total
BRAREE
FEREES
IS HARA
EMEER RER KRR it 2EWEN
BERMERE EEMEE fgafk bilkal:ol i Fisl  AnEESEER @zt
RMB000 RMB000 AMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000

AW T ARETn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETm  ARETm ARETR

At 1 January 2021 202151818 15,720 49,564 95,699 105,518 1,627 - 268,128
Deferred tax oredited/(charged) to £ MR B ZEA/ (1K)
the statement of profit or loss KRB

during the year 1,670 16,338 (48,352) 79,126 - - 48,682
Deferred tax credited to FRREMEERGRTA

the statement of other HIERERE

comprehensive income during

the year - - - - - 9,820 9,820
At 31 December 2021 and 120215128318 &

1 January 2022 202261818 17,200 65,902 4,347 184,644 1,627 9,820 326,630

Deferred tax credited/(charged) o £RRBEER A/ (1)
the statement statement of profit ~ BYIEERIE

or loss during the year 665 (27,442) 1,089 95,559 - - 69,871
Deferred tax charged to FRAREMZ ARG RN

the statement of other HIELRE

comprehensive income during

the year - - - - - (4,621) (4,621)
At 31 December 2022 120224125318 17,955 38,460 48,436 280,203 1,627 5,199 391,880
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

22, REMBEEERER (B)

(CONTINUED)
Deferred tax liabilities FIERRIEE R
Fair value
adjustment
of equity
investments
designated Fair value
at fair value Fair value adjustment
through other adjustment arising from
comprehensive  of investment acquisition of a Right-of-use Withholding
income properties subsidiary assets tax Others* Total
REH
BRARERE
HEEHER K-
SARMEE WEAE
BamEERE REME EEN
AREERE  AAEEEE  AREESE ERREE b Hetr @t
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000
NEEF NEEF NEEF NEEFI ANEEF NEEF NEEFm
At 1 January 2021 R2021£1818
6,550 742,133 5,463 87,055 66,117 127,668 1,034,986
Realised during the year FRER - (10,269) (230) - 4,260) (14,759)
Deferred tax credited to FRFAEMZEHERN
the statement of other RIERIE
comprehensive loss during
the year (1,066) - (1,066)
Deferred tax (credited)/charged ~ ERIMBHR GtA) /
to the statement of profit or MBRAEERE
loss during the year (15,078) (46,853) 128 19,196 (42,607)
At 31 December 2021 and #2021F128318 K
1 January 2022 20221818 5,484 716,792 5,233 40,202 66,245 142,604 976,560
Realised during the year FRER - (28,058) (230) - - (1,897) (30,185)
Deferred tax credited to FRFAEMZESERN
the statement of other RIERIE
comprehensive loss during
the year (1,715) - - - - - (1,715)
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to ERFMEHR (GtA) /
the statement of profit or loss  HIBRMIERERIE
during the year - (28,790) - (2,695) (6,529) 21,481 (16,533)
At 31 December 2022 120221248318 3,769 659,944 5,003 37,507 59,716 162,188 928,127

*

finance costs.

Others mainly include temporary differences relating to capitalised

*

RLEBARAE

H T2 0FEREACHHERBE
RARVE R 2R

B _EFR
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(CONTINUED)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset in the statement of financial position. The following
is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial

reporting purposes:

EERAEERER (&)

A2V EN ETERERESERE
BERPHRTRAEHE - AT RAE
SR MR E B RBVELEIRIBEER
PARIN

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABHEFT ANEBETFT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RS ISR LR R Y
consolidated statement of financial position IR IEE EFE 354,375 286,428
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the iz &M BRI RRERN
consolidated statement of financial position IRERIBEEEFE 890,622 936,538

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses could
be carried forward for five years to offset against its future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets relating to unutilised tax losses are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow such deferred tax assets to be utilised.

The Group has no accumulated tax losses arising in Hong Kong
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group
also has accumulated tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB2,076,088,000 (2021: RMB1,385,817,000) that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised
deductible temporary differences and tax losses at 31 December
2022 was RMB354,375,000 (2021: RMB286,428,000). The amount
of unrecognised tax losses during the year ended 31 December 2022

was RMB677,240,000 (2021: RMB593,249,000).

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

RIFR AR EOAR M HBIBR 4
EHRFELURHE R BNERRFE
BREMABBERBHEENRELERIEE

» AEERE BERERFIEMUE
ZERLERIBEEEESHARS
Sl
AEBPREBRLBELER BLUIKH
FEHIRBIE AT HENERRFE
HNRHMBEEE  AEBERPEA
HMTELENRFRIBEGEEAARKE
2,076,088,0007T (20214 : AR
1,385,817,0007T) * MR —ERFEN
EH DUEE BB ERERAE - B
RZEMBABIEELRBE —KRE
> B s wEassE A BIEINRR
BEENEZRRANE R Emt s
BB SR IRIETR I & 7 0 1R 2022412
B318 > BB REBMRIE A IKIN Y E
=R EENRERIEE ENREE
A N R 18354,375,0007T (20214 © A
Fe 16286,428,0007T) ° & 22022412
Bl1HIEFEZ RERNIBEEFEEEE
A AR 1677,240,0007T (20214 @ A
F #£593,249,0007T) ©
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23.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New CIT
Law”), a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in
the PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

Other than the above deferred tax liability in relation to the PRC
withholding income tax provided, no deferred taxation has been
provided for the distributable retained profits of approximately
RMB4,552,208,000 (2021: RMB3,795,130,000), which were derived
from the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling
interests are set out below:

Percentage of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:

23.

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

RIEPE SR E (HEERS
L)) AN E R EREESTIRK
BRFPEAMAIIRNIEREZRE
HU10%TEI0 & B R E 520084
1B 1BEEER > WEAR2007F12H8
S1HBTELE ZRF o ff B 7 ih 2
SNEREEMBA AR ZEEAR
BEER I EE BN EMIR oA
EEZBERLEERA10% AL A&
BB ZERPEMIZHE R
2008F1B1HEELX 2B MDD IKZ
G B A TEINR ©

PR S EAB P E FEI0 A8 AR 48 R
FERERIBEEIN  MERRE P
M8 A B A AR 1£4,552,208,00070

(20214 : AR #3,795,130,0007%)
REBBMEHIRIERIBREE  RAAK
EEAEES SR E R R A
BB REN I T8 B AR 2R A BE T 2
E]o

MOEENMEERIFER
EmrEAR

BERERFEREGSNAEEREA
BIREEESIRWT

FERESEFARER DL

2022 2021
20225 20214
China New City Commercial REMEmEEEERERAR
Development Limited (“CNC”) (THhEFT iR ) 33.98% 34.08%
REZEBERAT —T_FEFR
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

23. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests at the reporting

23. MAEANMBEKRIEZER
EmrEAR (8

RERE B HAS R IR R AT A A

date:
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT N
CNC R ERTI 1,282,865 1,426,516

Loss for the year allocated to non-controlling interests:

FERDIRT IFERERAIERE

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ANEHFT
CNC FR BT (139,464) (97,307)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of
the above subsidiary.

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

23. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL 23. BREEMNMAEERIEER

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED) B AR (4)
The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: FT % B8 BV & BB 2 (Al A B R ¥ 8 Al
ZiEE
2022 20224
CNC
R E i
RMB’000
ARETFiT
Revenue WA 591,783
Other income and gains E AW Bz W R 117,470
Changes in fair value of investment properties LEMENABELE (115,160)
Total expenses Bz 48 %8 (1,055,733)
Loss for the year FAEE (461,640)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEIBELE (427,089)
Current assets MENEE 5,788,792
Non-current assets EREEE 9,390,984
Current liabilities mENEaE 6,228,366
Non-current liabilities EREERE 3,643,501
Net cash flows used in operating activities SEEHERAREREFEE (214,659)
Net cash flows generated from investing activities B EL RS RE TR 261,898
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEITHEAREREFEE (706,571)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BERIVEEBY R FEE (659,332)

RLEEBRAT —_T__EER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022

2022% 128311

23. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL 23. &
f

¥R R A ERIEIERR
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED) gAY

AT (48)

The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: FT % B8 BV & BB 2 (Al A B R ¥ 8 Al
(continued) ot )
2021 20214
CNC
FR BT T
RMB’000
ANEHEFIT
Revenue WA 871,066
Other income and gains H U A Rz Wz 374,689
Changes in fair value of investment properties LEMENABELE (60,311)
Total expenses Bz 48 %8 (1,488,259)
Loss for the year FAEE (302,815)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEIBELE (353,703)
Current assets MBEE 5,933,227
Non-current assets JERENE E 9,571,613
Current liabilities V=N 5,659,449
Non-current liabilities EREEE 4,111,796
Net cash flows generated from operating activities EEESEL RS NE T 813,019
Net cash flows generated from investing activities B EL RS RE TR 447,899
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEITHEAREREFEE (651,253)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RE MRS EEYILINFER 609,665

250 Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report



24. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

25.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

24. FHFHEBERYE

2022 2021
Ktz 20225 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ANE#FiT ANEHEFT
Carrying amount at 1 January 181 ZREE 5,893,841 2,926,871
Transfer from properties under EEEEEhYE
development 14 3,442,543 6,331,368
Cost of properties sold EHEYERA 6 (6,275,512) (3,364,398)
Carrying amount at 31 December 128318 Z REE 3,060,872 5,893,841
Net carrying amount at 12831 HZ iREFE
31 December 3,060,872 5,893,841

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale of RMB 628,696,000 (2021:
RMB823,744,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 32.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

R2022E1283

1B "&EBET

FEHEEERWEAARK
628,696,000t (20214 : AR
823,744,0007T) > WKIsF32FTIKEE > E
EAR T AEBF BIRITHERR EHAih

B RRBIHE R o

25. LAAEENEELBHH
ABRERNSHEE

2022 2021

2022£F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETFT

Listed equity investments at fair value FHRERE RANEE 142,449 132,795
Wealth management products MEBEER 20,112 =
162,561 132,795

The above equity investments were classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss as they were held for trading.

AR L ERERZ AR EHits

BIR/URREE

SHEEHEBE A

ERBEaNEMEE-

RLEEBRAT —_T__EER
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RN (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally one month, extending up to
three months for major customers. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate
to various diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. The balances of

trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and unsecured.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the

reporting period is as follows:

26.

FEUR & 5 AR TR

FEBREERITUZRZHERE
ZUEERT EMERABEER
AR EEMRER—ER &%
ERE=EA MEEZRME) - &
LERFARSEERBE AEERN
B H i R B FE WRIRAE R B AR RV &S
7 LURBREERR - BRERES
REERETERER EN LXK
FERRWEZRFEZETREF
ERNEE HUEERERETA
o AN E @I El HE W E 5 R4
B A A A HEC R o S EL M 3B (S 45 T o
FEW B 5 R A ER 7 T B R SRR o

FEWE ZERMIN R SR Z RGO
LI

2022 2021

2022£FF 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETFT

Within six months ~NEB A 163,497 98,880
Over six months but within one year BENEAE—FER 3,721 10,175
Over one year but within two years B —FEmERN 9,014 6,655
Over two years but within three years BEMmEE=FR 1,824 2,520
Over three years B =4 1,937 1,378
179,993 119,608

Impairment A (8,939) (6,279)
171,054 113,329
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MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 26. FEWE Z AR (B)
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using EREHHETRBEREETR
a provision matrix to measure ECLs. The provision rates are based Bt Ut ETEAEERHIE - &E
on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with ELERAFHEUBEEEANZER
similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and rating, and forms of FoHANNARB#EE BIERE
credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted PR KREBRRENER) &
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable STERMEARENELER  BBEE
information that is available at the reporting date about past events, kR EEHAAEMBEESH Eai
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. For MR ARRG B DTN EE R A 5
the sale of properties, rentals under operating leases and provision B BN AEEMEHE KEH
of hotel operation businesses and other business of the Group, B BEREEREBHEREME
management has assessed that the expected credit loss rate for %o BB B FTE 1020224 %2021
trade receivables is minimal as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. F12831H > B EWEZRREE
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group’s trade BEEEBE AABEERA TE
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers with ENEKREZERARTIRAEFAAE
no recent history of default and the balances are considered fully P EHERLAENES T EE
recoverable considering the historical records and forward-looking [ER et AT E B R REBMNG
information. BRI AR A IR Bk O] o
PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 27. EAH -HEtMEWKHRIERHE
OTHER ASSETS fthiEdE
2022 2021
itz 20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB 000
ARBEFiT ANEHEFT
Prepaid other tax AN HEMIRIE 1,740,378 1,215,121
Recoverable deposit for land B #EE T U B A Uk Bl 3% &
acquisition cancelled 158,490 129,632
Advance to suppliers B EEmIE 364,178 160,294
Project construction guarantee IHEHERFRESE
deposits 291,243 315,089
Recoverable payments on behalf of 3R E M A A A Ui [B1=IE
other parties 3,306 4,369
Other receivables H W ERIE 1,050,574 778,415
3,608,169 2,602,920
Impairment A (a) (62,966) (62,966)
3,545,203 2,530,954

TR EERW
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31 December 2022

2022% 128311

27. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(@ Included in the above provision for impairment of other
receivables was a full provision for individually impaired other
receivables of RMB62,966,000 with a carrying amount before
provision of RMB62,966,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB62,966,000).

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default and
past due amounts. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of prepayments,
other receivables and other assets is as follows:

27.

AR Htt B RIERE
fthEZE (&)

(@  _EutEAAE R IE R R E B
BIEFE R B R E R E iU
HMEFENZHEBEEARK
62,966,0007T > MR sHEERIH
IREERR2022F12831HA A
E#£62,966,00077 (20214 :© A
R 162,966,0007T) ©

BIER A4S ERM L FEWIE B RN
SRS ET A I N i M B
¥8 o FR20224E K% 2021E12831H 7 5
BREETGHAE

AN B EWRRIR R B Ath & ERY
BEIEBEEHINT

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

At beginning of year REH) 62,966 62,966
Impairment losses HERE - =
At end of year REXR 62,966 62,966
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28. CASH AND CASH

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

EQUIVALENTS AND

28.

RERBRESEMRZRE

RESTRICTED CASH W&
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB 000
ANBHEFT NEBEFT
Cash and bank balances RS R IR{TAE R 6,486,431 7,750,694
Time deposits TEHRER 146,956 145,003
6,633,387 7,895,697
Less: Restricted cash B ZREIIRE (3,631,815) (2,663,040)
Cash and cash equivalents HERIREHEY 3,001,572 5,232,657
Current assets MENEE 3,484,859 2,518,037
Non-current assets FERBEE 146,956 145,003
Restricted cash ZIREIIRE 3,631,815 2,663,040

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and restricted
cash are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of

default.

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place certain
amounts of cash in the designated bank accounts for a specified
use, and therefore the cash disbursement from these accounts
is subjected to some restriction. As at 31 December 2022, such
guarantee deposits amounted to approximately RMB3,480,826,000

(2021: RMB2,453,927,000).

RITEMERRT A BB
MRS R -EHEMERA—RE=
BRFTENHAR RAEBBBEIRIR
EFRME) > RIEFRBERERT
MF R - RITEFRZRHRE
BAERKEBRLRENELNEER

GFZRIT

RIFFEARER  AEBNETY
*(xHBELNTARETRESBEK
RIEERITRAERER R Al
RZERFZNREAZTETRA
FRPR o 1202212331 H » 2 ERE
&#A NR1#3,480,826,0007T (2021
F . AR#2,453,927,0007T) °
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

28.

29.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
RESTRICTED CASH (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s non-current time
deposits of RMB136,956,000 (2021: RMB135,003,000) were
pledged to banks as guarantees for mortgage facilities granted to
purchasers of the Group’s properties.

Besides, certain of the Group’s bank accounts of approximately
RMB4,033,000 (2021: RMB64,110,000) were pledged to banks for
the timely repayment of the loans as disclosed in note 32.

As at 31 December 2022, pursuant to relevant regulations in
the local government, certain of the Group’s non-current time
deposits amounted to approximately RMB10,000,000 (2021:
RMB10,000,000) were required to place in designated bank
accounts as guarantee deposits for the construction of the related
properties.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB6,377,395,000
(2021: RMB7,526,824,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement and Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the payment due dates, is as follows:

28. HERREEEYRZIRE
HE (@&

20225 12831H  ZREBNE TIE
ENHEATE BB F =0 A R #5136,956,0007T
(20214 : AE#135,003,0007T) &
BIRFIRIT FAXEEYESRE
RIEBERER-

B REBMETIRITERERAOA
FE#4,033,0007T (20214 : AR
64,110,0007T) &I FIR1T > UHIZE
BEER (M E32IER) ©

F22022412831H - 1R 5 #h 75 BUFAY
HEREAIR  AEBPIEEN I E IR
#9 AR #10,000,0007T (20214F : AR
#10,000,0007T) ZBEBINIEE RITER
B EABRMYERERNIERES

RHEEHR AEBUARESE
NIBEKRIBTEGFEEAARE
6,377,395,0007T (20214 : AR
7,526,824,0007z) ° #A AR FEE
HHRRLK|AEME  BIREPEI
PEEIBIRG R AEE EERTEEE
HE AEERGEEREEITINE
EXENRETHARBERBRAHEME
fﬁé}o

20. FE{HEFIRM

FEBENEZ RIS HRZN
REEAE ST EMIRE DTN

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ANEEFT ANEHEFT

Within six months NEB R 1,626,535 1,796,918
Over six months but within one year BENEAE—FER 270,282 291,426
Over one year BE— 34,262 43,200
1,931,079 2,131,544

The above balances are unsecured and interest-free and are normally
settled based on the progress of construction.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

31.

30.

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

Hth B R IE R 5t & F

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Due to non-controlling shareholders FE(T IEFE R AG BRI FRIE 334,592 345,489
Deposits related to construction ERRENEZSE 125,010 200,400
Receivables collected on behalf of other parties 1t & E th 75 & Uk [a] FE UK =R IE 98,122 98,124
Guarantee deposits RE8E 94,565 55,881
Interest expenses accrued FESTFI SR 26,284 52,781
Other payables HhERIE 674,259 286,706

1,352,832 1,039,381

Other payables are unsecured, interest-free and have terms of 3 to
12 months.

HhEMRIEAEKIT £ 8 &R
A3E12EH o

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. §NEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB 000
ANBEFT ANEBEFT
Advances received from customers BWE B AN 23,635,988 21,176,187

Contract liabilities represent sales proceeds received from buyers
in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of properties. As at 31
December 2022, the increase was primarily due to the pre-sale of
properties this year.

BHERERESTNEAERAYETR
SR BNEEPTSTIA - 8 E20225F
12A31B  EREZHANFEANER
o

RLEEBRAT —_T__EER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 32. ;tERITREMMBER
BORROWINGS
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB 000
ABEFT ANEET T
Group ~&E
Current: BRHEA :
Bank loans — secured IRITER—BIKHE 4,309,437 2,811,760
Other loans — secured HthEm—BigHE 1,203,281 807,143
5,512,718 3,618,903
Non-current: JERPER :
Bank loans — secured IRTTER—BIKHE 8,894,856 10,310,077
Other loans — secured HthEm—BigHE 340,106 3,064,881
9,234,962 13,374,958
14,747,680 16,993,861
Repayable: AR A EE
Within one year or on demand — N EKEF 5,512,718 3,618,903
Over one year but within two years ZR—FBLORME 1,789,703 7,608,194
Over two years but within five years ZHRMEBLRAE 7,000,659 4,715,491
Over five years EEME 444,600 1,051,273
14,747,680 16,993,861

Except for certain bank and other borrowings amounting to
RMB1,422,900,000 (2021: RMB10,379,121,000) that bear interest at
fixed rates, all bank loans bear interest at floating rates.
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32.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The Group’s bank and other borrowings bear interest at average

32.

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

st RIRTTREMETR (B)

RERBIRITREMBRIZLUUT ¥

effective interest rates as follows: BRFIEFE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Effective interest rates B RF = 5.47% 6.20%

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s borrowings during the year
were as follows:

FEBRRFERMAERNREED

T

2022 2021

20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT NEBEFT

RMB loans and borrowings ABBERRER 14,728,793 16,990,633
GBP loans and borrowings FEIEE MM ER 18,887 3,228
14,747,680 16,993,861

RLEEBRAT —_T__EER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 32. stRIRITREMMER (&)
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank and other borrowings were $22022F12831H » REBEBIRITK
secured by: HERBUTSIEIR :
2022 2021
Kz 20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AERETT

Carrying value of the Group’s AEBBEZREA :
assets:
Investment properties WEY = 13 213,321 2,681,570
Properties under development FEEEeskY/ES 14 29,021,555 24,188,953
Property and equipment MR E 12 1,177,640 1,185,490
Completed properties held for sale F{EHE BE Y% 24 628,696 823,744
Restricted cash ZRHIIRS 28 4,033 64,110
Equity interests in subsidiaries of ~ FAZsEEE B A 5 BI IR 1#E
the Group 60,000 40,000
31,105,245 28,983,867
At 31 December 2022, the Group’s borrowings of RMB192,000,000 $22022F12831H » REBBERA
(2021: RMB50,000,000) were guaranteed by Mr. Shi Zhongan (note E5192,000,000 7T (20214 : ARHE
39(e)). 50,000,0007z) iR 2 e 1R (B
£E39(e)) ©
33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. &7
Shares fsin
2022 2021
2022 20214
‘000 ‘000
FiT Fz
Authorised: ETE
10,000,000,000 (2021: 10,000,000,000) 10,000,000,0000% (20214 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 10,000,000,0008%) & EE HK$1,000,000 HK$1,000,000
0.1078 THY E 48 A% #751,000,000 &7T1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE :
5,635,809,800 (2021: 5,635,809,800) 5,635,809,8008% (20214 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 5,635,809,800/%) E R EE RMB498,653 RMB498,653
0.108THY & 48 % AEK#498,653 A R1498,653
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33.

34.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 33. g7 (48)
A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share capital is RABEBITRAZ HEBMUT :
as follows:
Share
Number of Share premium
shares in issue capital account Total
BETRHHE KA R R ER oh
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB 000
ANBETFT ANBETFT ANEETFT
At 31 December 2022 and 2021 120224 K 20215
12831H 5,635,809,800 498,653 2,989,383 3,488,036
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 34. HERRHEETE

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants of the Scheme include the directors, including
independent non-executive directors, other employees of the Group,
suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers of the
Group, the Company’s shareholders, third parties, and any non-
controlling shareholder in the Company’s subsidiaries. The Scheme
became effective on 15 May 2009 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the offer date.

NNB R —BERES S (Tt
2 o UBeAAERSERNELE
MHEERSBERETERIEE -
ZETEMEER2HEERFEES (8
EBUFHNTES) RAEBEME
B -EAEERMEE R RFENHE
B AEENER -ANEMNREF
=AM RAS A BB AT ERIERE
BE & B o 5t 8 iR 2009E5 8158 &
o BRIEBTEH BT TRIEH
BEARBETERER

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BrEERaRMisE (@)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The initial maximum number of shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options granted (excluding options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme and other
share option schemes of the Group, if any) under the Scheme and
other share option schemes of the Group (if any) must not exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at 15 May 2009,
being the date of approval of the Scheme by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting of the Company. Such maximum number
may however be refreshed at a general meeting of the Company
by shareholders. In addition, no options may be granted under the
Scheme or other share option schemes adopted by the Group (if
any) if the grant of such options will result in the maximum number
of shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted but yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and other share option schemes adopted by the Group
(if any) exceeding 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this

limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of
their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of
the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in

advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted by the grantee
within 21 days from the date of offer at a consideration of HK$1.00.
The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by
the directors, and commences after a vesting period of one to five
years and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the
date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if

earlier.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the highest of:

(i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of offer of the share options;

(i)  the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of offer; and

(i) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

34. BRRESTE (&)

BREZTEEREFRET BEFH
BRUTES

) TRIROPBREZLNEE
TERR PR 2 WA 1B 5

i) FTREARMREZZHEHA
LEEXEBEMMZ I
e ; &

(i) FABDERRMHVEE-

BRETERFRFAAZARERN
RERE EREZHER -

FERZEIETHRTERRKREN

during the year: K
2022 2021
Weighted 2022 Weighted 2021
average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options
20225 20214
T 20226 LR 20214
I R EHE 1@ YA
HK$ HK$
per share ‘000 per share ‘000
&R ET F17 BRET F17
At 1 January M1B1H 0.73 51,000 0.87 172,400
Expired during the year FREH - - 0.93 (121,400)
At 31 December ®12831H 0.73 51,000 0.73 51,000
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

RN (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options

34. BRRESTE (&)

REBEHRERITEBREZITEE

outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: RATEHRUT :
2022 20225
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
FBREHE TEE*  1TEH
000 per share
F7 e
51,000 HK$0.73 10 July 2013 to 9 July 2023
0.73#7T 2013%FE7H10H £2023F7H9H
2021 20214
Number of options Exercise price*  Exercise period
BRESE TEE  17EH
‘000 per share
T o
51,000 HK$0.73 10 July 2013 to 9 July 2023
0.73%87t 2013F7H10H£2023F7H9H

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in
the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

The Group recognised no share option expense under the Scheme
during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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35.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The expected life of the options is the validity of the options upon
the grant date and until expiry. It is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur. The suboptimal exercise behaviour
multiple is applied to the exercise price, and indicates the stock price
at which the holders of the option may exercise prior to expiration.
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily
be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

The Company had no (2021: Nil) share options exercised during the
year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 51,000,000
share options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full
of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 51,000,000 additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of
RMB4,566,000 (before issue expenses).

RESERVES
(@) Share premium

The share premium represents the excess of ordinary shares
paid by the shareholders over their nominal value.

(b) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference
between the aggregate of the nominal value of the paid-
up capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation of the Group from 2006 to 2007 for the purpose
of preparation for the listing of the shares of the Company on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, and
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefor. Prior to the incorporation of the Company, the
contributed surplus represented the aggregate of the nominal
values of the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries of the Group.

34.

35.

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

fERg st & (48)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

35. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c) Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the additional contribution made
by the shareholders of the Company’s subsidiaries and, in the
case of acquisition of an additional non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary, the difference between the cost of acquisition and

the book value of the non-controlling interest acquired.

(d) Statutory surplus reserve and statutory reserve

fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
respective articles of association of the PRC group companies,
each of the subsidiaries of the Group that is domiciled in
Mainland China is required to allocate 10% of its profit after
tax, as determined in accordance with the PRC Accounting
Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve (the “SSR”) until

such reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.

In addition, certain of the PRC group companies are foreign
investment enterprises which are not subject to the SSR
allocation. According to the relevant PRC regulations applicable
to foreign investment enterprises, each of these subsidiaries
is required to allocate a certain portion (not less than 10%) of
its profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the PRC
Accounting Regulations, to the statutory reserve fund until such

reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES THAT ARE

NOT A BUSINESS

In June 2022, the Group entered into agreements with the then
shareholders to acquire the equity interests in Hangzhou Jin’an Star
Enterprise Management Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership),
Taizhou Huahao Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd.,
Zhejiang Zhongan Health Industry Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou Haohan
Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. (together, the “Jinan Star Entities”),
which were previously joint ventures of the Group. Jinan Star Entities
are engaged in property development business in Taizhou, the
PRC. The purchase consideration for the acquisition was partially
in the form of cash of RMB217,993,000 and partially in the form of
remeasurement of investment in joint ventures. The acquisition was
completed in June 2022, and Jinan Star Entities became subsidiaries

of the Group since then.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES THAT ARE 36.
NOT A BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

The net assets acquired by the Group in the above transaction were

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

WRBIEE BRI E AT (B)

RERR Lt 5 R ENE EF

as follows: (ERIN
2022
k=3 20224
Notes RMB’000
ARETFiT
Net assets acquired: WHEE ESE -
Properties under development FEEedasky/ES 14 482,193
Property and equipment EREKHEE 12 105
Cash and cash equivalents BENRAEEEY 3,388
Other payables and accruals HthEARIBRESTER (131,662)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BARBESTENA G FEEEE 354,024
Non controlling interest FEER R (35,468)
318,556
Satisfied by: EEAL
Cash "/E 217,993
Remeasurement of investment BN ERAAEENERGEREN
in joint-ventures at fair value B&E 5 100,563
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of BERWENRESRESMAOT :
the acquisition is as follows:
Cash consideration BERE (217,993)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FTBENIRE R IRESEY 3,388
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents BRAKEIEEERBABDNRE R
in respect of acquisition of subsidiaries that ~ IR&SEY 7 H B%E
are not a business (214,605)

Prior to completion of the acquisition, Jinan Star Entities had not
carried on any significant business activities except for the holding of
properties under development. This acquisition was accounted for by
the Group as acquisition of assets, as the operations of Jinan Star
Entities did not constitute a business.

RURRESEmAT R ARERYE
Sy BREBRUEETENERE
HBo-RNEBEREBRNEBL THEM
—IBER WAEBERILEWE AR
HEEWE-

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022

2022% 128311

37. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

37. HE—HMEAE

2021
=3 20214
Notes RMB’000
ARETFT
Net assets disposed of: HEBETRE
Property and equipment MERZE 12 66,086
Cash and cash equivalents HERIREEEY 56
Prepayments, other receivables and other FEE - At IE R EME E
assets 1,600
Trade receivables FEUL B 7 AR TR 19
Inventory =78 1,291
Trade payables FE{T E SRR (36,331)
Other payables and accruals HENRIBRESTER (8,862)
Contract liabilities =)=k (%)
23,854
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHBAR R 6 (23,854)
Satisfied by: EERL
Consideration KB =

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect

ERLE—BNBARNEERRE

of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: EEMERE2HUWT :
2021
20214F
RMB’000
ANEWFT
Cash consideration RERE =
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of a subsidiary HE—BRBARNRENREEEY (56)

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the BRIHE—RIMBATNIRES R

disposal of a subsidiary REEBYRLFEE (56)
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

OF CASH FLOWS

(@)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had
non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of RMB38,291,000 and RMB38,291,000 as at 31 December
2022, respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for
property and equipment (2021: RMB73,687,000 and
RMB73,687,000). The Group had non-cash transactions
related with disposal of lease liabilities as disclosed in note 15.

Changes in financial liabilities arising from

financing activities

()

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

38. SHREMERME

TEIFRERH

REE2022F 12831 H IEE
B REBER2022E12831H
MEBERREZHEZHIER
SHhBEEHAREERTEES
BB A AR 138,291,000
AR 38,291,0007T (20214 :
AR 873,687,000 & AR &
73,687,0007z) o ANEE A B H
EMNEEENIERERZ K
SE1545R o

RE LREFTEEERER

> &)

Interest-
bearing bank
and other Lease
borrowings liabilities
sHERT
R H fhfE sk HEafE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANE#Fr ANEHFT
At 1 January 2022 202251 81H 16,993,861 189,376
Changes from financing cash flows BRSNS EH (2,246,181) (27,487)
New leases mHEE - 38,291
Disposals HE - (6,696)
Interest expense B - 8,666
Interest paid classified as operating NEAKESEESREZBMNFE
cash flows - (8,666)
At 31 December 2022 2022812531 H 14,747,680 193,484
At 1 January 2021 20211818 15,493,429 382,789
Changes from financing cash flows MERSREEH 1,500,432 (40,135)
New leases MHEE - 73,687
Disposals HE - (226,965)
Interest expense B = 10,494
Interest paid classified as operating NEEAKESHSREZ BTN E
cash flows - (10,494)
At 31 December 2021 712021F12H31H 16,993,861 189,376
RLEBBIRAE ZTEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(©

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of

38. SHREMERME

(%)

©

HEZ IR MR

SFARERERZEERERM

cash flows is as follows: HABZBUO T ¢
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABEFT ANE¥BFT
Within operating activities R B & E N 8,666 10,494
Within financing activities ERE RS HE A 27,487 40,135
36,153 50,629

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the following material transactions carried out with

39. B A R 5

FEBRFREBBTETT TIE

related parties during the year: KRG
(@) Repayment from/loans to joint ventures and @ BEEFEKIEERRER
associates /S AEEREKRENT]
< =+
=6
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ANEHEFIT
Repayment from joint ventures and AT AN =Tkt~
associates
Joint ventures e - 82,014
Associates = Y/NE]| 89,749 -
89,749 82,014
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 39. B AR5 (8)

(a) Repayment from/loans to joint ventures and
associates (continued)

=

op
ol i
o) B>
TS S
%ﬂ
D)
]|
mla

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANE#EFiT ANEHFT
Loans to joint ventures and associates |G & &R E R E L
Joint ventures G 218,888 -
Associates i l/N=] - 779,135
218,888 779,135
Loans to joint ventures and associates are interest-free, AEErERBENDERS
unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment. T B~ BIKIR R EEE R
HR e
(b) Advances from/repayment to joint ventures and b) REGEREKRBENT]
associates BN A& 1B R
BARER
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBHEFT ANEHFT
Advances from joint ventures and KEESEFPEREE
associates
Joint ventures === - 359,603
Associates =N 538,361 354,657
538,361 714,260
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANE#FiT AEHEFT
Repayment to joint ventures A& SRR
Joint ventures aEhE 311,614 —

Advances from joint ventures and associates are interest-free,
unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment.

REGELERBEATNR
MR E BRI EEER

TRHR o

RLEBERAT
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

RN (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(C) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
which comprises the remuneration of the directors is disclosed

in note 8.

(d)  Except for loans to joint ventures and associates and advances
from joint ventures and associates, which were unsecured
and interest-free and repayable on demand, the Group had
no other balance due from/to related parties at 31 December

2022 and 2021.

(e) As disclosed in note 32, the Group’s borrowings of
RMB192,000,000 (2021: RMB50,000,000) were guaranteed by
Mr. Shi Zhongan at 31 December 2022 at nil consideration.

40. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following commitments for property development

39. FAEG

(©)

40. 7KiIE

X5 (&)

AERFEEEASHFN (B
BEFFH) SO ESIKEE

BrraaEhERBEE S EREM
BRRFEEEPERBE D
ENBIINAEEE - RER
BRBREEREI  R2022F8 K
20215128310 » &R I &
HAhpEUR FE{S RARE /5 4R o

BT 5E32FT 4% B8 » KR 20224
12B31H AEBEBRARK
192,000,0007T (20214 : AR ¥
50,000,0007T) HA A AR 22 ot & f
BIERo

RBEEHR  AEEMBEREX

expenditure at the end of the reporting period: HAY AT ¢
2022 2021
2022£FF 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETFT

Contracted, but not provided for: B B REME

Properties under development FaEadesky/ES 6,935,950 6,750,818
Acquisition of a joint venture WEE—MaEhx - 233,200
6,935,950 6,984,018
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@)

Mortgage facilities granted by banks

The Group provided guarantees in respect of the mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the
Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee
arrangements, in case of default on mortgage payments by
the purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying the
outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest
and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks.
The Group is then entitled to take over the legal titles of the
related properties. The Group’s guarantee periods commence
from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and
end after the execution of individual purchasers’ collateral
agreements.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the
reporting period in respect of the guarantees provided for
mortgage facilities granted to the purchasers of the Group’s
properties. The directors consider that in case of default on
payments, the net realisable value of the related properties
can cover the repayment of the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty, and
therefore no provision has been made in connection with the
guarantees.

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

41. HEEE

(@

IRTTIRM 2 IRIBER

rEEMRETRTALTERY
ENERRHNIZBEERR
BR-REBEERZHET HE
FRAEEEBIZIGNIE  AEEA
BEEMBITEEEREREG
TRBERKEMESHE R
S o AEFEH B A REWARR
MENS AP - REEE
REARRHARMRBEMRB R
EE (B R B R&J LI 7 EE
ko

RERE A AERILERAE
EYEMNEKERTHIRIEE
EFffRMERMELEERNE
KRB -EERR MHIRREE
BBV > BRIV ER I EIR
FERUERG THIIBEMN
FARFIFE ST ) B R SR > [FIE At
B SREAIFLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFT
Guarantees given to banks for: T T IEBEA TIRITAVER
Mortgage facilities granted to REBYEBRERIRT
purchasers of the Group’s properties BIRE 11,107,805 7,438,234

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Claim arising from the litigation

As disclosed in note 18, China New City Commercial
Development Limited (“the Subsidiary”) allotted and issued
178,280,000 shares to Hangzhou Oriental Culture Tourism
Group Co., Ltd. (“the Seller”) for the purpose of acquiring
22.65% of equity interests in Zhejiang Xinnongdu Industrial Co.,
Ltd. (*XND”) under the equity transfer agreement announced
on 20 July 2018 (“the Transaction”). However, the Seller had
filed a lawsuit against the Subsidiary to cancel the Transaction.
The Subsidiary had lost the lawsuit in the first trial verdict, and
had appealed to higher court. Currently, the lawsuit is still in
process. The directors, based on the advice from the Group’s
legal counsel, believe that they have a valid defence against the
allegation in their appeal to higher court, and have not provided
for the claim arising from litigation, other than the related legal
and other costs.
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41. HEEE

ArEREEZ RE

WS SE1 8T I B8 0 AP I T
HEZERERAE (THBEA
1) AN E A X EERESE
BERAR (&5 ik
17178,280,0008& A& 17 » A3 LAMR
201857 H20H A S M R e
EGEWEITESNEER
RArl (THEER)) 8922.65%0%
#(TR5)) R BEXFEBEH
BRABIREFNR BEXREUER
o MBAT—BH AL
BeE ARG Lo BAT &F
SNMDTEETT IR IR AEBATEER
BMWER  EFRA HEEH
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42. UFERIEI DR T A

FHETHMTENREARNREED

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T 3
2022 20224
Financial assets Financial
at fair value assets
through other at fair value
comprehensive through
income profit or loss
BAREE
TERHES RAREE
HARM  HERHEH
2EKEN AR ER
EHEE EHMEE
Financial
assets Mandatorily
at amortised Equity designated
cost investments as such Total
g k=[RS
5l BRHY
EREE EEKRE SEHIIEE o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Financial assets TREE
Equity investments designated at fair value through 15 AR A A EE 8
other comprehensive income BEEFHH AHM
2ENRRNERRE - 516,341 - 516,341
Financial assets included in long term prepayments 5t A REATE AT FUHY
EHEE 140,887 - - 140,887
Trade receivables FEW & 7 Bk 171,054 - - 171,054
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss A EBEtEEH
S ABEN
SHEE - - 162,561 162,561
Loans to joint ventures AEEREER 681,760 - - 681,760
Loans to associates AHEATER 689,386 - - 689,386
Financial assets included in prepayments, other 5t A TB{ 51~ EAfifELL
receivables and other assets FEREMEEN
SHEE 1,440,647 - - 1,440,647
Restricted cash ZRERE 3,631,815 - - 3,631,815
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEEEEY 3,001,572 - - 3,001,572
At 31 December 2022 1R2022%12831H 9,757,121 516,341 162,561 10,436,023

REEMARAR —BEIFFRHK



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42. UM SN E/H T A (8)
(CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial ZHEcMTARKRSHARNEREEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: IEE)
(continued)
2022 20225
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FRIBEH pE A
SRR EE
RMB’000
ARKTT
Financial liabilities EHBE
Trade payables P& B 7 BR AR 1,931,079
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings s EIRIT R EMERR 14,747,680
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals st A E1FE(S FUIE K FE 5+ & B Ay
TREE 937,382
Lease liabilities HEESRE 193,484
Advances from joint ventures EEBERR 456,692
Advances from associates =R 912,618
At 31 December 2022 12022F12831H 19,178,935
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42. UM SN E/H T A (8)

(CONTINUED)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial ZHEcMTARKRSHARNEREEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: IEE)
(continued)
2021 20214
Financial assets Financial
at fair value assets
through other at fair value
comprehensive through
income profit or loss
BAREBE
SERHES NAnEE
SAHM  GEEEEH
ZEKED HABEN
TREE THBE
Financial
assets Mandatorily
at amortised Equity designated
cost investments as such Total
RN A
FIlBRRY
EHEE BREE AfEE 1t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANEBEFT ANEBEFT NEEFT NEEFT
Financial assets THEE
Equiity investments designated at fair value through 15 TE ARA A EEE
other comprehensive income BEEFHH AHM
2ENRRNERRE - 504,131 - 504,131
Financial assets included in long term prepayments 5t A EEATE AT FUHY
TREE 92,711 = = 92,711
Trade receivables e B 5 8RR 113,329 - - 113,329
Financial assets at fair value through profit orloss AR BEFEEE
EH5t ABEM
SHEE = - 132,795 132,795
Loans to joint ventures AREREER 462,872 - - 462,872
Loans to associates B E AR ER 779,135 = = 779,135
Financial assets included in prepayments, other st AT~ EAfFELR
receivables and other assets HEREMEEN
SHEE 1,164,539 - - 1,164,539
Restricted cash ZREIRE 2,663,040 - - 2,663,040
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 5,232,657 = = 5,232,657
At 31 December 2021 120214128318 10,508,283 504,131 132,795 11,145,200
ReE@MARAR B8 277



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022

2022% 128311

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42. UM SN E/H T A (8)

(CONTINUED)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial ZHEcMTARKRSHARNEREEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: IEE)
(continued)
2021 20214
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R AL AN
HIBRRY
EHAaE
RMB’000
ARETFT
Financial liabilities EHBE
Trade payables FE{T E SR 2,131,544
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings s EIRIT R EMERR 16,993,861
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals st A Ef1FE(S FUIE K FE 5+ & B Ay
TREE 988,856
Lease liabilities HEaRE 189,376
Advances from joint ventures G RN 768,306
Advances from associates = /NSTE- 374,257
At 31 December 2021 12021F12831H 21,446,200

278 Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

43. THMIANAARBERAN
BEERES

FERSRTENKREERANEE
WF o EREEREAARBEGERS
EERON

43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably
approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values

REE AREE
2022 2021 2022 2021
20225 20214 2022%F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB 000
ABEFT ANBETFT ABEFT ANEETFT

Financial liabilities EREaRE

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings st ESRTREMBER 14,747,680 16,993,861 13,966,692 16,110,168

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of restricted cash, trade receivables,
loans to joint ventures, loans to associates, trade payables, financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets,
advances from joint ventures, advances from associates and financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portions of restricted cash, financial
assets included in long term prepayments, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.

HARRERREFEY RRRE
BREEs - BREZRR -EI5E
tEER - MHEADER BHYE
ZIRM 5T AR R HAth FEWRIA
REMBEPNEHEE - &%
B BE QBB AEMAE
RIEkEFERRNEREENE
HANEIH HEEERRAZELAR

RREIREHIFAB D LA RE
AMRHNETREE - EERRAAE
BEtEEHZFFABENEREE
Uk ARBESEEREEHFTAR
theEERENERMEENAAEETD
FBRE T ARBLURRFAFHR
K EERERGTE R TIRER
KRB REMtE

THEERBENAABENZIA
REERZ7H (MIFRassHHEE)
BRI THAIRZ AR T
BERBRRREERREE !

STRIBTREMERNARBENDE
BIREF T B8 CURRR P IS BIF) =
EE R KRER T EIH BT IRAERR K
REREMAHE

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income, have
been estimated using a market-based valuation technique based on
assumptions that are not supported by observable market prices or
rates. The valuation requires the directors to determine comparable
public companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage and
strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price multiple, such as
price to book ratio (“P/B”) multiple and price to earnings (“P/E”)
multiple, for each comparable company identified. The multiple
is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the comparable
company by an earnings measure. The trading multiple is then
discounted for considerations such as illiquidity and size differences
between the comparable companies based on company-specific
facts and circumstances. The discounted multiple is applied to the
corresponding earnings measure of the unlisted equity investments
to measure the fair value. The directors believe that the estimated
fair values resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded
in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the related
changes in fair values, which are recorded in other comprehensive
income, are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate

values at the end of the reporting period.

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, management has estimated
the potential effect of using reasonably possible alternatives as inputs

to the valuation model.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2022 and 2021:

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

43. TMIANRAARBERAN

BEEXRE (@

LURTE ZE20224F K2021512 8 31
BHESmT AGENERTRERE
ABERESHRHEDTHREE

Valuation Significant
technique unobservable inputs Range Sensitivity of fair value to the input
EARATHE
fh{E R WARE #i[E AREERHAHBNHRE
RMB’000
ANEEFr
Unlisted equity Valuation Adopted P/B multiple of 2022: 1.6 5% (2021: 5%) increase/decrease in
investments multiples peers (2021: 1.6) multiple would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by 17,677
(2021: 16,753)
FEEHEREE BB FESSSLFIES 20224 1 1.6 EEIIN,H5% (20214 : 5%)
BH (20215 :1.6)  GFERAAEEEN,HI7,677

Discount for lack of  2022: 25%
(2021: 25%)

marketability

BEZHERBIERE 20226 1 25%
(20214 : 25%)

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts of
premiums and discounts determined by the Group that market
participants would take into account when pricing the investments.

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy described as follows
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - Quoted market prices in an active market (that are
unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — Valuation techniques (for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable)

Level 3 — Valuation techniques (for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable)

(20214F : 16,753)

5% (2021: 5%) increase/decrease in
discount would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by 5,892
(2021: 5,584)

fEUE I, H5% (20214 & 5%)
BERAABEEN,FL5,892
(20214 : 5,584)

A Z I RE M TR AN E MR E RY
TH2AELREEERME ERE
BRI

BAREIHAREBANEENFETR
TERRAABEREARDE WA
o DEREAABESEERMNS
HEEANRESHRAAMETE

F—% — HREEHEBENREE
MBI HIHRE CREHR
%)

BTk — ERE EYTEENHE
EBRENRAABESE
BEERTENREBER
BA)

=k — HEHEGTTRER
AEBEAEBEREAXE
NREERHEAN)

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy

All the above financial assets and liabilities had Level 2 inputs other
than the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and equity
investment designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income which had Level 1 and Level 3 inputs respectively. The fair
value hierarchy of investment properties is disclosed in note 13 to the
financial statements.

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group’s financial instruments:

43. TMIANRARBERAN
BEERE (B

NABERE

FFELERMEERBBEREHES R
A ERAABES ABZH TR
BEABEE —HRBAREEREAR
BEFEESAEMEERENELS
RERBHE=ZMBARI - REYZE
IR A BERBI B R 5139

=o

TRIITAEESHMTENARNEE

SHEZRIE

Fair value measurement using
ARBEHERBSE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EEE T i ERTHR EXTH
HRiE ¢ BzyR
(E—%) (B4R (B=#®) 4zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBF7 AEBFT AEBFT AEEFTT
Financial assets at fair value through profit orloss WA A BEEEE
2E:t A\ BHBEN
THEE 142,449 20,112 - 162,561
Equity investments designated at fair value through  15€ A% A A BE
other comprehensive income SFARMEERRN
BHEE 93,349 - 422,992 516,341
As at 31 December 2022 12022412831H 235,798 20,112 422,992 678,902
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43.

44.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

43.

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

TMIANARBERAR
BEEXRE (@

AREERE (@

Fair value measurement using

NRBESETARZE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
GRS BAAEER BART
RE i BRYE
E—R (BE_#H) (B=%H) Bt
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANBETFT ANBETFT ANEETFT ANEEFT
Financial assets at fair value through profit orloss WA BEEEE
2 AEHERN
SHMEE 132,795 - - 132,795
Equiity investments designated at fair value through  $5TE AA A EEET A
other comprehensive income Hth2mamm
BakE = - 504,131 504,131
As at 81 Decernber 2021 120214125318 132,796 - 504,131 636,926

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no transfers
of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2, and there
were equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income with amounts of RMB93,349,000 transferred
out of level 3 into level 1. (During the year ended 31 December 2021,
there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1
and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3.)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash, lease liabilities and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

44.

B E2022F12831HIEEE » 5—4#
BE_RZBATEAABEFES
B miEEARAABEFZEEHE
Bt AHEMEERENERZREAR
#593,349,0007cHEE = Ak E E— 4k
(B E2021F12B31HLLEE » F—
MEASE R B EA A EE B
BES=—MRUEZALEH)

M5 EEEIREBRRBUER

AEENEMTIAETZOERE KRR
TEEY RREFEE - HEERER
StRBTRAEMER -BLEETHMTA
TEARREEEEEEEES 4
EREEFHMKBTREERE®R:
PHIaFE UL B 5 bRk B FE 1 & 52 BR AR
REEUHEEES-

RLEEBRAT —_T__EER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 4, BHEEMGEEBERKSE
(48)

FERSRMIAEFMEENIEZRARE
FERE RSN RR EERBRR
BETRAR AEELRBERFAENET
MESMIBFEERR -UTHRE
ESERFNUREEE L NSEREHN

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below:

(@) Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets. The
Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and other
borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group has not used
any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to change
in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating
rate borrowings) and the Group’s equity, assuming all the
increases or decreases are dealt with in profit or loss, without
consideration of interest capitalisation.

R

()

BEE
IESE

AEFBLTEERFEREE K
SR T HMNEEEFAZH
BT ERAERNTBIRT
REMMERBR ~EBKXA
CHERERERIES RGPl pS
JE R o

TRINEFERBEGH T BBF
FHEREENTE  2EER
750 Bl A1) 8 e 7 £ [ 2 B BRURK
E FrAEMERFRERE I
1R 5% FT A 18 AN 3Rt A i 48 I R
B> BAEEHBEAIL) -

(Decrease)/
Increase/ increase (Decrease)/
(decrease) in in profit increase
basis points before tax in equity
EEh R 4R A0 FI i
gm, Gri) ) 1 GRi2L) /sghn
RMB’000 RMB 000
ANEHEFT ANEEFT
2022 20224
RMB AR 50 (89,816) (67,362)
RMB AR (50) 89,816 67,362
2021 202145
RMB AR 50 (61,793) (46,345)
RMB AR (50) 61,793 46,345

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report



44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units and
financing activities in currencies other than the units’ functional

currencies.

In addition, the Group has currency exposures from its interest-

bearing bank borrowings.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
US$ and HK$ exchange rates, with all other variables hold
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and the Group’s

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

4. BHEEAMEEBEERBEE

(&)

(o)

SRR

FEFAAZRZHEBRRE-
ZERBHMORBEEEMK
R E R B MBI E B LS
ZEETER-

IESh > A S H i B2k B B 5T R
IRITEMBIE IR

T RIT A& B R A A R
AEBRENREHAREET
T 7 70 B 2 5 32 B Sk B4 8 A B
RE FrEEMAI2AZFRE

equity. %) o
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) Increase/
foreign in profit (decrease)
currency rate before tax in equity
SRS B AR A AT i
wm GRa) i GRd)  Ean G
% RMB’000 RMB 000
ANEHEFT ANEEFT
2022 20224
If HK$ weakens against US$ fHBTRETERE 5 5,382 4,036
If HK$ strengthens against US$ {882 ETHE (5) (5,382) (4,036)
2021 20214
If HK$ weakens against US$ faB TR ETERE 5 1,278 959
If HK$ strengthens against US$ 8w R E T HHE () (1,278) (959)

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER

285



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 4, BHEEMGEEBERKSE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(c) Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets and
the exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee contracts.

(%)

©

EERR

AEBEGEZTIRARESR
RENE=SETRZ & &
EREEREE FTERUEE
FRETRZNERHRREST
EERBREF LI FEEF
BEIERWRIBEGE G MAE
ERRERBFEKN

RA R O R F AR B ER

TRETREAEBEERSK
NEEEERRAEE R
M HFBEPBEARPER
HEMENASZBELTHAKE
B9 A 7 o 5% 70 BR e BRAS O B k)
BIBRSN » UK Y12 B 31 BV &
RIS DB -FMEANEEES
SHEENERMERMBEIE
RENEERRNERRMSO -

12-month ECLs

As at 31 December 2022 128 B &L Lifetime ECLs
420225128315 FEFE SHRBEERA
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—RE BIME PSR [kl st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

AREFT ARETT AREFT

Trade receivables® LS E 3R - - - 171,054 171,054
Loans to joint ventures AREREER 681,760 - - - 681,760
Loans to associates BBEATER 689,386 - - - 689,386
Financial assets included in ABAR EftEK

prepayments, other receivables  FUBREMEER

and other assets - Normal** SHEE-LE" 1,440,647 - - - 1,440,647
Financial assets included in long &t AREITE{TFEY

term prepayments — Normal** ETREE-EE" 140,887 - - - 140,887
Restricted cash - Not yet past due S FRHIIRE — A KA 3,631,815 - - - 3,631,815
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEEY

— Not yet past due — R EER 3,001,572 = = = 3,001,572

9,586,067 - - 171,054 9,757,121
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR ()

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(©

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

(&)

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

4. BHEEAMEEBEERBEE

© EERKR &

RAEREM O R FEREER ()

12-month ECLs

As at 31 December 2021 1288 R Lifetime ECLs
120214128318 FEEE 2HRBEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
£k FREER BFEER R aps st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NEETFT ANEETFT ANEETFT NEEFT ANEETFT
Trade receivables* eI B 2R - - - 119,608 119,608
Loans to joint ventures HAEEEEER 462,872 - - - 462,872
Loans to associates REE AT ER 779,135 = = = 779,135
Financial assets included in ABAR EftEK
prepayments, other receivables  FUBR E B ER
and other assets — Normal** ERMEE-LEE” 1,164,539 - - - 1,164,539
Financial assets included inlong st ARHFERZH
term prepayments — Normal*™ ETREE-EE" 92,711 - - - 92,711
Restricted cash - Not yet past due RIS — i K8 2,663,040 - - - 2,663,040
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEEY
— Not yet past due CENE 5,232,657 - - - 5,232,657

10,394,954 =

119,608 10,614,562

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information is disclosed
in note 26 to the financial statements.

*ok

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets and the
financial assets included in long term prepayments are
considered to be “Normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Hox

AEEERBLELEZEE
HMEZEREZERRMES
BEHRNHBREWNF26H

Eo

At A TR H AR U
EREMEENEREER
SPARBEMRNEREE
A A R 0 T B 30 A & R
TEREE B E RERLIR
HEERREREEN &
CEEZRBERTERI &
A - EMEENEEERR
RATRIR) o

REZEBERAT —T_FEFR
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

j?iﬁ%l‘ﬁﬂki (H\E)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of lease
liabilities, bank and other borrowings.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

MHEEAMEEBERERBE
(%)

@

/)\L@?E\iﬂﬁ

NEBRALSEERSES
S TAGEREESSABAR-
ZITHRAEZEHSMTARSRH
BE (WEWE SRR mEz
B R RS EER 2B R
£ e

A 4 B 19 5 0975 B B I A 78 1
8 EURBITRAMBER 4
FASERYEREE > B
F e

RBFTMRBRGT £EH
TRBENRSHARNERA
BRI

2022 20225
Less than
3 months or 3 to less than 1to5 Over
on demand 12 months years 5 years Total
DR3MEA MERE
BEX biM12{8R 1555 5EHN L st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ABBFT ARETT

AREFT ABEFTT AREFRT

Interest-bearing bank and other 5t BIRT REMEN

borrowings 817,008 4,695,710 8,790,362 444,600 14,747,680
Interest payable in relation to bank 7 BASR{T R A E A
and other borrowings FE(IH 8 154,240 403,477 720,792 26,901 1,305,410
Advances from joint ventures BELERD 279,192 177,500 - - 456,692
Advances from associates YNGR 223,011 689,607 = = 912,618
Trade payables EEEZRR 1,626,535 304,544 - - 1,931,079
Financial liabilities included in other 5t A EL A& FIBRK
payables and accruals s ERANERER 812,372 125,010 - - 937,382
Lease liabilities HEaE 31,755 26,747 88,966 81,201 228,669
3,944,113 6,422,595 9,600,120 552,702 20,519,530
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

4. BHEEAMEEBEERBEE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (#8)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) @ ABEEERERE @
2021 20214
Less than
3 months or 3 10 less than 1t05 Qver
on demand 12 months years 5 years Total
DR3ERH ERE
BEXR Di12{ER 1E55F 5EHNE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NBETFT ANEBFr NEMFr NEETFT ANEETFT
Interest-bearing bank and other 5t BR{TREMMER
borrowings 63,840 3,555,063 12,323,685 1,051,273 16,993,861
Interest payable in relation to bank & BASR1T R EMEE
and other borrowings FE(IH 8 78,086 212,960 257,601 60,164 608,811
Advances from joint ventures BEdERS 632,549 135,757 = = 768,306
Advances from associates M= AT B; 211,057 163,200 = = 374,257
Trade payables EREZERR 1,796,918 334,626 - - 2,131,544
Financial liabilities included in other 5t A EL &R FIE K
payables and accruals s ERANERER 788,456 200,400 - - 988,856
Lease liabilities HEaRE 18,335 29,973 104,238 84,977 237,523
3,589,241 4,631,979 12,685,524 1,196,414 22,103,158
(€) Capital management © BXREIE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

rEBEAEENTIEZENG
EREAERENTEEER
MBEBNERILE UZH
HEBFRERREERAL

AEBEEBHEAREHE LR
BEBER RN EEMAME E
HEBRISFHEEEHAEE A
HRNBEREARGEE  ~EF
ARERAEL N FRENKRE
BB AR IE F RS B O BT AR
5 o A E B B EE T[N
MM EARE K & E20224
F2021FE12H831BIEEE » 7
EEBERELAEENBEE
BEEREFEREMEE -

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022

2022% 128311

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade payables,
other payables and accruals, and lease liabilities, less cash
and cash equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to
owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
reporting periods were as follows:

4. HHEEAMEEBEERBEE
(48)

© BXREIE @@

rEEREREEARILRER
BEX ZEBEERBIEXAZE
EENERIFEIE FEA
BEFEBRTRAMMERN E
18 2 IR R H AN FE I RUIE K
BstBERAKEEARE ARE
RBEEEBY -BEXTHE AT
IRRE G ELE - N EREHR
NWEESBLERNT !

As at 31 December

#12831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Interest-bearing bank and other 5T B IRIT R E A ERR

borrowings 14,747,680 16,993,861
Trade payables FE{T E Z BRI 1,931,079 2,131,544
Other payables and accruals H (I & E s & A 1,352,832 1,039,381
Lease liabilities HESRE 193,484 189,376
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRERRSEEY (3,001,572) (5,232,657)
Net debt FEIE 15,223,503 15,121,505
Equity attributable to owners of the ISYNCIEZZ= DN 3o

parent 9,476,703 9,244,718
Capital and net debt BEARMNZFEE 24,700,206 24,366,223
Gearing ratio BEAEBLEX 62% 63%
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company

45.

R R B

31 De

£ (&)

cember 2022

20224 12A31H

AT MBIRRRE

BERARRBNRERAR 2RI

at the end of the reporting period is as follows: B
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANBHEFT NEHEFT
Non-current assets EREMEE
Investments in subsidiaries KENB AR 2,965,000 2,928,367
Property and equipment EERKREE 978 1,074
Equity investments designated at fair value IEEABRANBESEER
through other comprehensive income gzt AHMtME2mlamn
EREE 6,923 6,337
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 2,972,901 2,935,778
Current assets MENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEULHS B A B RIB 100,000 100,000
Prepayments, other receivables and TET R EfthRIE R
other assets Hth&EE 16,314 15,011
Financial assets at fair value through UAnBEFEEEEHTA
profit or loss EHRERNEREE 1,009 1,320
Cash and cash equivalents BENEEEEY 2,380 534
Total current assets MENEEMEE 119,703 116,865
Current liabilities mENEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FES I B A B FRIE 485,235 427,050
Other payables and accruals HtENRIBRESTER 1,138 1,040
Total current liabilities BB {E4EEE 486,373 428,090
Net current liabilities mEIBEFEEE (366,670) (311,225)
Total assets less current liabilities MEERTEEE 2,606,231 2,624,553
Net assets BEE 2,606,231 2,624,553
Equity gy
Share capital PREN 498,653 498,653
Reserves (note 35) &% (MI5E35) 2,107,578 2,125,900
Total equity S 2,606,231 2,624,553
RLEBBIRAE ZTEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2022
2022F12831H

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (CONTINUED)

45. AT ER AR (

==
=]

=] )

Note: Hiaz -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: NN BMEERGR T -
Share Exchange Share
premium fluctuation ~ Accumulated option
account reserve losses reserve Total
RIPEER ERKEBHRE RetiE R et
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB’000
ANEEFT NEEFT NEEFT ANEBETFT NEEFT
At 1 January 2021 120211818 2,989,383 (659,077) (351,894) 59,331 2,137,743
Total comprehensive loss for the year FERZABBESE - (805) (11,038) = (11,843)
Transfer of share option reserve upon the A BEBREHR LD,
forfeiture or expiry of share options B RS - - 55,056 (55,056) -
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 7220215128310 &
20221 81H 2,989,383 (559,882) (307,876) 4,275 2,125,900
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRE2EGREE - (6,927) (11,395) - (18,322)
At 31 December 2022 1120225 12831H 2,989,383 (566,809) (319,271) 4,275 2,107,578

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payments in note 34 to the
financial statements. The amount will either be transferred to the
share premium account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to retained profits should the related options expire or be

forfeited.

Zhong An Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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46.

47.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

A subsidiary of the Company proposes to apply for registration of the
medium-term notes in an aggregate principal amount of up to RMB
1,900,000,000 (“Medium-term Notes”), which will be a company
bond with a term of no more than three years. The Medium-term
Notes are proposed to be guaranteed by an independent third
party guarantor of the Group, with unconditional and irrevocably
joint and several liability. On 27 February 2023, the Company and
China New City Commercial Development Limited entered into an
agreement, pursuant to which two subsidiaries of China New City
Commercial Development Limited will make available and pledge
certain properties to the independent third party guarantor of the
Medium-term Notes as a counter guarantee (the “Agreement”).
The Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder
constitute a non-exempted connected transaction for China New City
Commercial Development Limited under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, and are subject to independent shareholders’ approval in its
upcoming extraordinary general meeting.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 24 March 2023.

46.

47.

MR ()

31 December 2022
2022%F12831H

HEHARER

KRB —EM B A B RERAB S LA
FHEEEABE A K 1,900,000,000
TTHRRAER (THREIRE)) > PHEE
BRAERNBES APRABB=F-
PSR ARAEENBIIE = HE
RARBEGEERTIHENESS
EHE1FR o 1R202352H27H » AN F) &
RE T RS RERABI LR
FoOBLI PEFHTEEERERR
NEMENEAR B RAEREEL
FoHERARBIERETYE
ERRIER (TZHE) RE EHR
BIE14AE  ZHE R EE N RETT
NRBELTEFIRTEEZEAR
NEINFFRRHER S > WA FRIL
AR BN AR ESRIAE it
Ao

HIEMBRE

SR B N2023FE3H24HEE S
GHOET IR

TR EERW
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Properties Held for Investment

FIERBERNYE

As at 31 December 2022
R2022612831H

% of interest

Existing use at attributable to  Lease term
31 December 2022 GFA (sq.m.) the Group  of land
Address 1#2022%12831H BEER AEEREMG  DHNEY
it HIRERE (FrR) REWEIL R
1 Basement 1 to Level 15, Guomao Building, No. 93 Shops and portion of it is 12,225 53.5%  Medium
Shixin Road, Chengxiang Town, Xiaoshan District, vacant, and serviced
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC apartments
FREL T & A 2 LL @ 39 e R T 0 BB 9355% A AR B R AR 12,225 53.5%  HH#A
HEBAEMEIEEE15E N=
2 A retail shop unit on L1, Shanghai La Vie, No. 433 Shop 341 59.4%  Medium
Chang Le Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai, the PRC
HE EETRERRERIN LERRTFFIE  EHE 341 50.4%
f11E 7
3 Portion of Level 1, the whole of Level 2 to Level 4, Shops and portion of 5,913 59.4%  Medium
Integrated Service Center, East Xiaoran Road and it is vacant
Jinjiagiao Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
HEMIEMMN TR LEEARERERKBE BN EE 5913 59.4%
HRERBROE1ENIMNE2ES4E
4 Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 5 in Block 2 Shops and portion of 60,014 59.4%  Medium
to Block 5 of Highlong Plaza, Shanyin Road and it is vacant
Gongren Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
HEACIEMMNTELUBLEREN TARERES BHENSnEE 60,014 50.4%
FREFE R F1EEOENHEH
5 Office units in Block 2 of Highlong Plaza, Office and portion of 2,894 59.4%  Medium
Shanyin Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, it is vacant
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
REI BN TR L& WA 1B M2 5 521 WABRS R EE 2,894 59.4%
ZHAIRE AL
6 Serviced apartment units in Block 3 and 4 of Serviced apartments 685 59.4%  Medium
Highlong Plaza, Shanyin Road and Gongren Road,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province,
the PRC
HEMIEMMNTRLE LN TARERES REAASE 685 59.4%

FRRBIRZBBALE
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Properties Held for Investment (Continued)

RiERENYE (B)

As at 31 December 2022

F2022&12831H

% of interest

Existing use at attributable to  Lease term
31 December 2022 GFA (sq.m.) the Group  of land
Address 1$2022512831H BEER AEEREMG  DHNEY
it HIRERE (FrR) REWEIL R
7 Retail shop units of Level 1 (Phase 1) and the whole  Shops and portion of 3,236 59.4%  Medium
block of No. 43 building (Phase 2), it is vacant
Landscape Garden, Shushan Road and Panshui
Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
FREIAT B it A L & & LU BR A& K B LU 7k 58 BN EE 3,236 59.4%
SRS B i K B2 HA R 1435712
8 Retail shop units of Hidden Dragon Bay, Shops and portion of 17,814 61.1% Medium
Wenxing Village, Wenyan Town Xiaoshan District, it is vacant
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
HEFTIENMN TR I REERRENEREEEE SRS OTE 17,814 61.1%  #H#
9 Blocks 1, 2, 3, 4, and 6 of Hangzhou Office and shops and 58,127 66.0%  Medium
International Office Centre, Ningwei Town, portion of it is vacant
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province,
the PRC
HEFIENMN DR LREEEMMNERRARL  BARNEHEESBHEE 58,127 66.0%
12273 4K%61%
10 Zhong An Square, No. 217, Xinjian North Road, Shops and portion of 92,489 59.4%  Medium
Urban Area, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province, the PRC it is vacant
HEHNI B R HEN IR TRREES BN EE 92,489 59.4%
11 Time Square |, No. 271 Xinjian North Road, Shops and portion of 2,160 59.4%  Medium
Urban Area, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province, the PRC it is vacant
PEIE Rk EMRIRATRERES 8 BN EE 2,160 59.4%
12 Time Square Il, No. 181 Xinjian North Road, Office 1,289 61.4%  Medium
Urban Area, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
HEHDIERkTHEREILRISIRERESZ A HAg 1,289 61.4%  #H#
13 Apartments in Xixi New City, Xihu District, Apartments 16,680 66.0%  Medium
Hangzhou City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
HEHNIEMMN HEAREZMETZEAS NBETT 16,680 66.0%
14 ZhongAn Plaza, No.1668 West Xuefeng Road, Shops and portion of 45,812 66.0%  Medium
Yiwu City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC it is vacant
HENIE REMNAHES ERARKI668RRLES mENNnEE 45,812 66.0%
=E@ERAT T FFIR
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

FERRR NIHEHYE

Land Cost
per sq.m. Total Land % of interest
(RMB) Cost  attributable to
BEXK (RMB'000) the Group
Project City/district Project type EmiE THERE FEBEGER
R %R /& MERAME NE#7T)  NEETT) Rl
Zhejiang
L
1 Landscape Bay Hangzhou Residential 485 145,367 92.6%
=88 AN =
2 Hidden Dragon Bay Hangzhou Residential/retail/office 1,491 360,360 61.1%
B2 AN T/ EH/HA
3 International Office Centre (I0C) Phase A Hangzhou Commercial 269 215,246 66.0%
BRI AFDAH AN [EES
4 International Office Centre (I0C) Phase Band G Hangzhou Commercial 458 502,512 66.0%
BRI AT, CH AN [EES
5 White Horse Manor Hangzhou Residential 2,259 550,000 90.0%
SFETE LBl =
6 Qiaodao Lake Hotel Hangzhou Residential/hotel 4,728 220,747 66.0%
TERBE AN 585
7 |deal Bay Hangzhou Residential/Retail 1,548 834,000 45.9%
B AN /5
8 Chaoyang No. 8 (including Chaoyang Yinzuo) ~ Hangzhou Residential/Retail 3,696 736,390 90.0%
A6k (FHHRE) AN /@R
9 Xixi New City Hangzhou Commercial 3,371 281,100 66.0%
i) Siipam AN [EES
10 Xixi Manhattan Hangzhou Commercial 343 37,470 30.3%
i =tiat AN [EES
11 Xixi Future Square Hangzhou Residential 6,285 689,939 90.0%
FERRE LBl =
12 Beverly Hangzhou Residential 6,198 160,000 90.0%
FLER AN =
13 Xinnongdu Hangzhou Residential/commercial 559 679,994 25.3%
il AN e/ B
14 Nan Hu Ming Yu Hangzhou Residential 984 400,000 59.9%
EAHA AN =
15 Tuankou Fenghuangshan Hotspring Hotel Hangzhou Commercial 630 40,000 66.0%
wHBBLERBEE AN [EES
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Bank (sg.m.)
TiEtE (FR)
Project GFA* Development Phases Types
Site Area (sg.m.) GELL REItER
(sq.m.) ELE| Completed for Under Hold for future  Residential & Commercial &
wkER W AREER Total GFA* sale**”  development?  development® Facilities | Hotel Il Office Ill
(F7H) (Frr)  BREER BIRGE REDY HERRREY  GEREER BEN EERBAN
215,334 300,012 1,579 1,579 - - 1,435 - 143
89,173 241,695 73,508 73,503 - - 58,022 - 15,481
92,610 798,795 536,951 66,152 263,555 207,244 173,546 101,500 261,905
207,390 1,098,065 1,098,065 - 1,098,065 1,098,065 - -
145,265 243,497 4,077 4,077 - - 4,077 -
119,398 46,691 46,691 35,114 11,577 - 11,577 35,114 -
158,743 538,856 3,796 3,796 - - 1,669 - 2,127
46,703 199,224 211 211 - - 211 - -
39,703 83,391 665 665 - 665 - -
24,534 109,173 730 730 - - - 730
65,796 109,782 2,606 2,606 2,606 - -
89,991 25,816 25,816 - 25,816 25,816 - -
991,736 1,217,335 1,119,475 936,097 183,378 75,120 68,168 976,188
121,900 406,664 24,462 24,462 22,724 1,738
37,500 63,502 63,502 63,502 63,502
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Cost

per sq.m. Total Land % of interest

(RMB) Cost attributable to

BEXK (RMB'000) the Group

Project City/district Project type EmiE THERE FEBEGER

R %R Him/& MERAME NE#7T)  NEETT) Rl

16 Xiaoshan Lotus Mansion Hangzhou Residential 16,460 1,641,600 90.0%
A LERAT M =

17 Shunyuan Mansion Hangzhou Residential 7,627 997,500 90.0%
JEV AN =

18 Fashion Color City Hangzhou Commercial 2,939 230,000 59.4%
¥ M [EES

19 Chenhan Mansion Hangzhou Residential 9,503 1,313,000 22.5%
=5 LBl =

20 Yungigiling Hangzhou Residential 6,449 492,000 36.0%
ZEHE M =

21 Cloud Land Hangzhou Residential 27,949 2,090,000 90.0%
HERED M =

22 Lin Qi Yun Fu Hangzhou Residential 8,732 464,990 22.5%
BEER M =

23 Ruiyuan Mansion Hangzhou Residential 9,973 945,000 90.0%
IR A AN =

24 Chun’an Lotus Mansion Hangzhou Residential/hotel 5,492 268,370 100.0%

ERERAT M e/ BE

25 Long Ying Hui Jin Zuo (Bin He Yin) Hangzhou Commercial 5,700 255,740 59.4%
PEBES R (BRI M [EES

26 Large Harbor bridge Project Hangzhou Commercial 5,692 425,060 21.6%
ABREE M [EES

27 Chuyue Mansion Hangzhou Residential 16,799 688,940 90.0%
AN M =

28 Zecui Ju Hangzhou Residential 6,500 467,680 90.0%
ERE AN =

29 Weikechenming Mansion Hangzhou Residential 11,536 1,470,170 45.0%
R RHAT M =

30 Lan Lotus Mansion Hangzhou Residential 23,061 1,004,630 58.5%
BEEER M =

31 Zhangyuan Mansion Hangzhou Residential 4,582 278,040 57.9%
BRN M =
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Bank (sg.m.)
TiEtE (FR)
Project GFA* Development Phases Types
Site Area (sg.m.) GELL REItER
(sq.m.) ELE| Completed for Under Hold for future  Residential & Commercial &
wkER W AREER Total GFA* sale**”  development?  development® Facilities | Hotel Il Office Ill
(F7H) (Frr)  BREER BIRGE REDY HERRREY  GEREER BEN EERBAN
45,333 99,732 167 167 167
54,493 130,783 130,783 130,783 129,750 1,033
26,087 78,261 78,261 78,261 72,966 5,295
60,074 138,170 138,170 138,170 117,012 21,158
69,357 76,293 76,293 76,293 76,293
46,737 74,779 78,087 78,087 78,087
44,374 53,249 53,249 53,249 52,995 254
39,480 94,752 94,752 94,752 81,329 13,423
22,417 48,870 48,870 48,870 48,870
12,819 44,867 44,867 44,867 44,867
21,336 74,676 74,676 74,676 72,452 2,224
18,641 41,010 41,010 41,010 41,010 -
39,973 71,951 71,951 71,951 71,951 -
70,802 127,444 127,444 127,444 127,444
19,802 43,564 43,564 43,564 43,564
24,270 60,675 60,675 60,675 60,315 360
RLEBBIRAE ZTEER
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Cost
per sq.m. Total Land % of interest
(RMB) Cost attributable to
BEXK (RMB'000) the Group
Project City/district Project type EmiE THERE FEBEGER
THE &8 wH/e MERBME NE#T)  ANEEFT) MESL
32 Zhong An Times Square Phase | Yuyao Commercial/hotel 1,154 352,640 59.4%
REERES Rk CEYSS
33 Zhong An Times Square Phase |l Yuyao Residential/office/hotel 1,030 332,760 61.4%
REERES M Rk 8 /0 BE
34 Cixi New City Cixi Residential/office/ 467 238,080 59.4%
BEimm %% Commercial
E/BFE/ ¥
35 Shunyuan Mansion Ningbo Residential 12,340 983,572 44.1%
JBRE 2R =
36 Chaoyue Mansion Ningbo Residential 19,187 600,700 90.0%
HHE 1 =
37 Comphor Tree Bay Lishui Residential 4,756 1,364,000 90.0%
EhE Bk =
38 |deal Era Home Lishui Residential 3,603 801,000 13.5%
BERARE Bk =
39 Jiang Lin Mansion Lishui Residential 13,276 794,000 31.5%
TLEAED Bk =
40 Chenyue Land Lishui Residential 5,259 550,000 30.6%
RIS E Bk =
41 Xiuhu Lotus Gardon Yiwu Residential 31,026 1,620,000 58.5%
Fiak £5 =
42 Chaoming Yiwu Residential 16,707 1,561,000 31.5%
s £5 =
43 Lakeside Mansion Yiwu Residential 28,967 946,000 90.0%
B R £5 =
44 Casa Banyan Wenzhou Residential/commercial 8,510 928,200 21.6%
RERED bl 5/
45 Shunyuan Mansion Wenzhou Residential 13,218 1,123,000 90.0%
JBRE M =
46 Glory One Wenzhou Residential 7,336 1,104,300 22.5%
KEE M =
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Bank (sg.m.)
TiEtE (FR)
Project GFA* Development Phases Types
Site Area (sg.m.) GELL REItER

(sq.m.) ELE| Completed for Under Hold for future  Residential & Commercial &
wkER W AREER Total GFA* sale**”  development?  development® Facilities | Hotel Il Office Ill
(F7H) (Frr)  BREER BIRGE REDY HERRREY  GEREER BEN EERBAN
65,159 305,473 132,475 132,475 - - 6,890 20,692 104,893
71,519 322,912 104,658 104,658 - - - 82,697 21,961
197,655 510,125 18,018 1,897 16,121 10,361 - 7,657

36,230 79,706 79,706 79,706 79,706

17,393 31,307 31,307 31,307 31,307

115,890 286,769 14,785 14,785 14,785

79,247 222,313 222,313 222,313 222,313

33,226 59,807 1,990 1,990 1,990
52,293 104,583 104,583 104,583 101,068 3,515

49,428 52,214 52,214 52,214 52,214
41,410 99,384 99,384 99,384 93,981 5,403
20,411 32,658 32,658 32,658 29,785 2,872
43,630 109,074 109,074 109,074 106,353 2,721
30,236 84,963 84,963 84,963 84,963 -
49,508 150,527 150,527 150,527 148,337 2,190
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Cost
per sq.m. Total Land % of interest
(RMB) Cost  attributable to
BEXK (RMB'000) the Group
Project City/district Project type EmiE THERE FEBEGER
THE &8 /& MERBME NE#T)  ANEEFT) MESL
47 Sky Tree (Commercial) Wenzhou Residential/commercial 6,567 1,430,000 22.5%
K2t (%) bl /¥
48 Sky Tree (Residential) Wenzhou Residential 6,489 675,500 22.5%
K2 (%) bl =
49 Wenzhou Future City Wenzhou Residential 6,263 1,053,000 45.0%
BINRRALE bl =
50 Guyue Mansion Shaoxing Residential 21,569 1,133,000 90.0%
hHEA R BE =
51 Tang Song He Ming Shaoxing Residential 20,524 2,165,000 44.1%
KIS BE =
52 Shaoxing Future City Shaoxing Residential 4,548 963,680 51.3%
BERFHK BE =
53 Cloud Chen Square Quzhou Residential 8,901 945,700 45.9%
EZRE M =
54 Ruyi Mansion Zhoushsan Residential 5,382 242,000 90.0%
B il =
55 Heyuan Mansion Taizhou Residential 7,036 611,000 90.0%
FOR R =i =
56 Taizhou Future City Taizhou Residential 6,570 1,860,000 90.0%
BMARHE =i =
Subtotal for Zhejiang 4,091 43,263,977
ATt
Anhui
ZH
57 Green Harbour Hefei Residential 492 350,453 84.2%
GEEE & 3
58 Vancouver City Huaibei Residential 32 50,993 100.0%
RETER L 3
Subtotal for Anhui 173 401,446

ZRH
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Bank (sg.m.)
TiEtE (FR)
Project GFA* Development Phases Types

Site Area (sg.m.) GELL REItER

(sq.m.) ELE| Completed for Under Hold for future  Residential & Commercial &
wkER W AREER Total GFA* sale**”  development?  development® Facilities | Hotel Il Office Ill
(F7H) (Frr)  BREER BIRGE REDY HERRREY  GEREER BEN EERBAN
87,108 217,770 217,770 217,770 154,794 20,105 42,871
41,640 104,100 104,100 104,100 104,100

69,369 168,141 168,141 168,141 159,811 8,330
43,412 52,528 52,528 52,528 49,534 2,994
100,462 105,485 105,485 105,485 104,485 1,000
78,484 211,907 211,907 211,907 153,919 15,786 42,202
72,774 106,250 106,250 106,250 99,296 6,954
22,484 44,968 14,105 14,105 13,884 221
39,742 86,838 86,838 86,838
122,354 283,088 283,088 283,088
4,642,835 10,574,464 6,753,815 1,419,069 3,940,119 1,394,627 4,743,543 407,564 1,602,708
1,728,376 712,218 673,870 5,370 - 668,500 669,207 - 4,663
1,638,758 1,609,250 554,170 78,067 222,670 253,434 351,809 67,061 135,301
3,367,135 2,321,468 1,228,040 83,437 222,670 921,934 1,021,016 67,061 139,964

RLEEMBRLAE —TFEER 303



Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Cost
per sq.m. Total Land % of interest
(RMB) Cost  attributable to
BEXK (RMB'000) the Group
Project City/district Project type EmiE THERE FEBEGER
THE &8 wH/e MERBME NE#T, ANEEF) MBS
Jiangsu
L
59 Xuzhou New City Xuzhou Commercial 320 180,000 30.3%
ek M [EES
60 Nanjing Future City Nanjing Residential 2,674 412,600 90.0%
ARARE MR =
61 Jiangyin Future City Wuxi Residential 6,642 318,300 90.0%
LIRARE g =
Subtotal for Jiangsu 1,191 910,900
BRIV
Shandong
W
62 Qingdao New City Qingdao Residential/commercial 3,000 334,449 100.0%
BEEMHT E8 /¥
63 Zhong An Future City Qingdao Residential 1,681 266,000 90.0%
BERRE E8 =
64 Zhong An Square Qingdao Commercial 2,215 88,000 90.0%
BZE E8 [EES
Subtotal for Shandong 2,225 688,449
Y,
Yunnan
£l
65 Yunxing Imperial Palace Kunming Residential/commercial 2,251 638,708 49.5%
A EH 5/ B
Hunan
e
66 Xiangtan Project Xiangtan Residential 1,106 850,000 36.0%
HEEE i e
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Bank (sg.m.)
TiEtE (FR)
Project GFA* Development Phases Types
Site Area (sg.m.) GELL REItER
(sq.m.) ELE| Completed for Under Hold for future  Residential & Commercial &
wkER W AREER Total GFA* sale**”  development?  development® Facilities | Hotel Il Office Ill
(F7H) (Frr)  BREER BIRGE REDY HERRREY  GEREER BEN EERBAN
154,802 562,371 562,371 562,371 562,371
67,085 154,297 154,297 154,297 154,297
29,952 47,928 47,923 47,928 47,928
251,839 764,591 764,591 - 202,220 562,371 202,220 - 562,371
51,736 111,483 91,599 13,418 78,181 783,752 17,847
58,596 158,209 158,209 158,209 158,209
26,486 39,729 39,729 39,729 13,092 10,385 16,252
136,818 309,421 289,537 13,418 197,938 78,181 245,053 10,385 34,099
37,020 283,785 283,785 283,785 276,064 7,720
292,671 768,255 777,709 196,927 580,782 768,809 8,900
RLEBBIRAE ZTEER
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Cost
per sq.m. Total Land % of interest
(RMB) Cost attributable to
BEXK (RMB'000) the Group
Project City/district Project type BEE THERE FEBEGER
BE4HE Hh/E MERBIEE AEET, AE%Fr) MERL
Overseas
o
67 Amber Rise Vancouver, British Residential 11,206 86,497 100.0%
Columbia e
B Rhm/ A TE
Total 425t 3,116 46,839,977
% including those with land use right certificate and contractual interests = BEEIE I M ERAEEURERS S
gl nk: )
#: Total GFA = O+@+®= | + Il + Il i WEREEmB=0+Q+= | + Il + Il
**'including contracted and not recognized completed section > OFEBEEANRERNEITID
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Bank (sg.m.)
TiEtE (FR)
Project GFA* Development Phases Types
Site Area (sg.m.) GELL REItER

(sq.m.) ELE| Completed for Under Hold for future  Residential & Commercial &
wkER W AREER Total GFA* sale**”  development?  development® Facilities | Hotel Il Office Ill
(F7H) (Frr)  BREER BIRGEE REDY HERRREY  GEREER BEN EERBAN
15,715 7,719 7,719 = 7,719 = 7,719 - -
8,744,034 15,029,703 10,105,196 1,515,924 5,051,377 3,537,896 7,264,424 485,010 2,355,763
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Summary of Financial Information

MR E

RESULTS e
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20225 20214 20204 2019 20184
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ANBEFr NRETFT ANBETFT ANEETFT ANEETFT
Revenue N 9,250,499 4,968,682 7,438,948 6,204,683 5,169,369
Profit before tax A AT 1,318,384 226,011 1,677,937 1,920,559 883,572
Income Tax S (1,296,966) (187,485) (566,692) (916,528) (520,509)
Profit for the year ERFIHE 21,418 38,526 1,111,245 1,004,031 363,063
Owners of the parent FAFEEA 186,734 73,132 827,874 637,144 286,881
Non-controlling interests R ER (165,316) (34,606) 283,371 366,887 76,182
21,418 38,526 1,111,245 1,004,031 363,063
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING BEE-BERIEERERS
INTERESTS
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022 20215 20205 2019 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANBEFT ANEBEFT ANEBEFT ANEEFT ANREFT
Total Assets MEE 59,096,852 57,240,309 41,819,964 30,172,439 25,065,934
Total Liabilties weE (46,763,688) (45310225  (30,406027) (19,651,753  (15515815)
Non-controlling Interests R R (2,856,461) (2,685,366) (2,285,891) (2,084,393) (1,794,909)
9,476,703 9,244,718 9,128,046 8,436,293 7,755,210
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